HISTORY OF GILFORD.

LY REY, J,

CIAPTER 1.

Tue historieal matter connected with, and the
oceurrences that have taken place in, the territory
included at different periods within the limits of the
town of Gilford largely mingle with those of other
towns associated and near, and of other civil organi-
zations remote and seemingly dissociated,

The continuous and complete course of the annals
of the town will cover some of the carly records of
Gilmantou, from which it was detached, and pretace
largely the history of the recent town of Laconia,
increased by detached portions herefrom, and alo
supplement that of Meredith, which has contributed
to the domain of both, The boundary line of Gil-
ford has been so frequently changed for enlargement
and diminution that it shares with other towns much
of their enterprise and honor and history. Its loca-
tion on or near an important river and other waters
gives it special importance, not only as the centre of
various imdustrial enterprises and professional prac-
tice, but as related to older divisions, involving ques-
tions of rightful possession and jurisdiction.

By the charter trom King Jawes, in 1606, Virginia
cxtended from the thirtv-fourth to the forty-fourth
pariallel of north latitude, and hence included the
greater part of New Hampshire territory, and com-
prehended that part in which Gilford issituated, By
a subdivision of this grant into North and South Vir-
ginia, the former was limited by the fortieth and
tort¥-eighth degrees of north latitude, and hence
included all of New Hampshire territory, and (rilford
wus in North Virginia. This division of the territory
aranted by the royal patent, which at first was assigned
to certain dignitaries of Bristol, Exeter aud Plymouth,
England, was subsequently committed to forty wen
of distinction and means, who constituted the Couneil
of Plymouth, whnse official business was the © Plant-
ing, Ruling and Governing of New England in Amer-
ica.” This council was constituted November 3,
1620, and they made grants of minor sections to other
particular parties and organizations in subsequent
years,

1 This article is ap abridgment of a more extended wark, ' A Histori-
cal Sketch of the Town of Gilford, N, 11" in prepurition, and soon to
be pubilished by the writer.

P 'WATSON,

Though the Duke of Lenox was the first-pamed of
the Council, and though there were also several others
higher in the list, yet Sir Ferdinando Gurges, Governor
of Plymouth, in Devonshire County, England, after
1604, appears to have been the most active and the
leading man of the Couneil, and was elected their first
president.  Also Captain John Mason, of London,
and, after the peace of’ 1604, Governor of Newfound-
land, as well as of Portsmouth, Hampshire County,
England, was elected to fill a vacancy in the mem-
bership, and made ~ceretary of the Council,

He made the first purchase from the Council March
9, 1621. It was a tract of land thence known as
Murianga, and impossible of boundury, It was to ex-
tend from the Naumkeug to the Merrimack River, and
from their mouths to their bead-waters, and to he
inclosed by u straight line from the source of the one
to that of the other river, which line would cut the
whole grant asunder, and at the same time both
include and exclude certain territories or portions,
August 10, 1622, Mason and Gorges jointly made a
purchase of land, supposed to be directly and contig-
uously on the north of Mariana, or Mason's first
purchase, and extending from the Merrimack to the
Sagadehock, and back to the "“Great Lakes und the
IRiver of Canada” (i, e., Winnipesaukee, Champlain
and the 8t Lawrence).

This was termed Laconia; and this was the first
conveyance of the territory of (iilford. The Compuny
of Laconia, consisting of Mason, Gorges and others,
was formed, and endeavored to effect settlements on
the tract purchased, which they did at Dover in 1623,
That part of Lacenia bordering on Lake Winnioesau-
kee was not reached and settied at this time, thongh
considered as the most desirable and valuable on
account of  its Mlmmsotl mincral deposits. Seven
years later, John Wheckhwright aud others took a
deed from tour Indian sagamores of land hounded
by the * Merrimack and Piscatagua, extending back
to the falls of Nnichawannock, in the Piscataqoa, and
to the Pawtucket falls, in the Merrimack, and thenee
20 miles N. W, into the woods; and thence N, E. o
the first-mentioned point, Nuichawannock Falls.”
This deed evidently did not comprehend Gilford ter-
ritory ; but on November 7, the same year, 1629,
Musou took a new grant of territory, less in extent,
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but mere definitely bounded,—viz.: “ From the
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|
| 43° 407 1277, This point was indicated by inserip-

mouth of the Piscatagua to 60 miles in the course of | tious on a large boulder in the middle of the outlet.

the river; and tfrom the mouth of the Merrimack to
its furthiest head-waters ; and so forward up into the
land westward until 60 miles were finished, and
thence to cross overland to the end of the 60 miles
accounted from the DPiseataqua River, including the
Islunds within 15 leagucs of the shore.”  This evi-
dently included the territory of Gilford ; though it
was not vertuin whether the line vonnecting the
poiuts designated on the rivers should be a straight
line or a curve line, maintaining at all parts a dis-
tance of sixty miles from the sea. The lands included
between the are and chord thus drawn were in dis-
pute, and were in part in Giltord, and claimed in
Mason's right. The line subsequently was determined
as a straight line, running from the point on the pres-
ent State boundary sixty miles from the month of
the Piscataqua (which was several miles north of its
source, and in the town of Eaton), crossing the lake
and Long Island, passing over Mount Major, of the
Gunstock range, and terminating in the towu of
Rindge, on the Massachusetts boundary. Hence, the
eastern part of Gilford was afterwards assigned to
Mason's heirs, and called Masonian shares, when the
remainder was bonght of said heirs,

In 1632, the lake and its shores were visited by ex-
plorers from Portsmouth, but no settlements were
made or marks lett.  Mason died in 1638, and willed
his cluims and property to varions heirs. The dis-
puted jurisdiction of Massachusetts over land in-
cluded in the after-grant to the proprietors of Gil-
manton, being fouud in part in Gilford, was appar-
ently decided in 1652, when commissioners appointed
by the General Court of the Massachusetts Bay Com-
pany were sent to establish the bounds agreeable to
their construction of their charter, They claimed
that the charter carried a strip of land on the left
bank (uorth and east side) of the river, three miles in
width, and extending to its source, at which point
a line laid off due cast aud due west should mark the
northern limit of their chartered lands.  The exten-
sion of this line eastward, as well as westward, was
the claim of the Muassachusetts Bay Company, but
was rejected by the elaimants to the territory on the
north side of the river, and was finally decided in
their favor. But, agreeably to that interpretation of
their charter, the said court appointed, on the 27th of
Muy, 1652, a commission to settle the north lne of
their domain, and Captains Simon Willard and
Edward Johnson were put in charge of this business.
They procured the services, as surveyors, of Jona-

than Ince, a student at Cambridge, and John Sher- |
man, sergeant of Watertown, and these, following the |

guide of certain Indians, employed to direct the ronte,
ascended the river to Aguadocton, the outlet of the
lake, which was declared to be the head of the river
{now the Weirs), und there they took astronomical
observations, and determined the latitude thereof to

This inscription, made by drills, consisting of the
date, the initinls of Governor Endicott, and those of
the surveying party, ete,, may be scen at the pres-
ent time, though the action of the elements for two

hundred und thirty-three years has rendered themn
csomewhat illegible.  This bound was unknown, or
unidentified, for many vears and till 1846, From
thix point three more miles were to be included, north
of the river, so three minutes more were to be allowed,
making the utmost limit to be at 43° 437 12 north
latitude, and said to be “out into the Lake”  As the
course from the mouth of the river was westerly, and
the charter said three miles north of the ricer,—i.e., on
its left bank,—and the course at the lnst was nearly
due north, it was, and is, a question where the limit
should fall. It it be determined by a perpendiculur
line three miles in length, maintained throughout the
entire course, then it would be three miles nearly due
east of the Weirs, and oftf Smith's Tntervale, or a little
east of Governor's Island. If due north is taken,
which seems to beimplied by the addition ot three min-
utes for the three miles, then the boundary line will
pass through a point either three miles due north
of this inscribed stone,—ie, near or on Mueredith
Neck,—or three miles north of the point three miles
east of the stone,—i.¢., in the broad expanse northeast
of Governor’s Island and towards Bear lsland,

These observations were made August 1, 1652, and
report wus made to General Court, October 19th,
Jonas Clarke and Samuel Andrews, shipmasters, were
gent to mark the same latitude on the Atlantic shore,
and determined it to fall on the northern part of
Upper Clapboard Island, in Casco Bay, near Portland,
An east and west line drawn through these two points
of the parallel 43° 437 1277 was to constitute the
border liue of the province of Massachusetts Bay ; but
this demarkation did not abide time and coutendings,
as it was based on a forced construction of the patent
letter. Gilford territory, which was cut by it from near
the Provinee road and Cotton’s Iill and over Liberty
Hill and dowu Gunstock Valley to the Intervale, was
not permanently dismembered, and assigned to the
jurisdietion of the Massachusetis Bay Company. At
Ayuadocton there wasoriginally about three feet full,
which has been overcome by flowage in consequence
of the dam at Lake village, formerly Folsom's Mill.
While these lunds, bordering on the upper Merri-
nonck and on the South Lake shore, from Aguadocton
southward and eastward, had evidently qualities
valuable, and calculated to induce occupation and
cultivation, and Aquadocton itself was one of the best
fishing-grounds, vet, in oppesition to all prospects,
but for suflicient causes, this part of the common do-
main remained unused and undeveloped for more
than a full century after 1652. These places were
known, to be sure, but scarcely more than asa thorough-
fare of the aboriginal wanderings, and assemblings,
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and migrations, and ax feeding-places. The settlers
of Piscataqua made early reconnoissance of these
regions, and as early as 1632 visited, in  their course,
the lake and the White Mountains, and penetrated
even to Champlain,  They evidently marked the
place a desired resting-place and there built u block-
house as early as 1722, “at the Lake,"” as it is sup-
posed, farther east thun the bounds of Gilford, prob-
ably in some part of Alton, or ut Merry Meoting
Bay, of after fame.

From the four quarters of the lund there seemed to
meet here, as in a centre, the great trails or pathways
ot the Indians, living in all directions. And Aqna-
docton was, even before, a place of no mean repute, or
an upheard-of retreat of the savage wilds.

From the south came up the Penacooks, the Nash-
uas and various remoter tribes from Naumkeag and
remoter parts of the Massachnsetts Bay territory.
From the west and northwest the Iriquois and St
Francis and others, through the valley of the Con-
necticut, Baker’s River and the Pemigewasset, From
the north, over the lake, and from the valley of the
Ossipee, the Haco and Androscoggin, come the Pekwau-
ketts, the Ossipees and others.  From the east came
up the Cochecos and various tribes of Maine. Here
was their general rendezvous, and here councils of
war were held, tribal feasts enjoved, questione settled
and disputed, and here issues, now nnknown, were
made and destinies determined, The sununits of the
Gunstock range were the outloaks over all this region,
and from them to the Ossipee, Chocorua, and the
greater, more distant vorthern peaks and lesser
southern hills, were heralded the decisions of the con-
tending and the counciling savages. The Indian
wars that marked that century had much of their
svenes laid in this Jocality, The exceeding great haz-
ard in effecting progressive oceupation and settlement
kept the fewactual settlers closely compacted in five or
seven towns that constituted the provinee of New
Hampshire, viz.: Dover, Portsmouth, Exeter, New
Castle, Hampton, Oyster Bay and Great Island.

The changefulness of the mother-conntry at {this
time also had its effects, both directly and indirectly
on the expansion of the colony. The uncertainty of
the sovereign personnel, and the spirit of the admin-
istration at home, and the changing figures of ap-
pointed magistrates and Governors here, made every-
thing unsubstantial and problematic, and destroyed
the vital germ of enterprise. The commonwealth
lusted scarcely a decade from the execution of Charles
I., and Charles I1. for a quarter of a century from 1660,
held the throne, but, in regard to these eolonies, only

1o appoint six or seven successive (overnors in the

provinces of New Hampshire and  Mussachusetts,

The short reign of James used three more Governors,
closing with the tyrannical and hated Edward Andros,

William II1., in a reign of a little more than one dec-
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country aud distracted and paralyzed the energivs of
the feeble band that had set down on the const amd
the Piscataqua, but had their eye and hope on Aqua-
docton.  Queen Anne's dozen vears' reign and the
succession of George 1. brought not much better times:
s0 that when Sainuel Shute assumed the Governorship
of the two provinces jointly, in 1716, there was
scarcely any sign of Aquadocton’s being redeemed
from its wilderness state, or the condition of the older
settlements being much improved. Indians period-
ically assembled on the shores of the luke, and men
from Massachusetts visited the Weirs for a winter's
stock of fish, but the glebe was vet unbroken, and the
forests pathless, save by the truil of the red man,

By the appointment of John Wentworth as Lieu-
tenant-Governor of New Hampshire, to st nnder and
with, and, in certain contingencies, instead of, Gov-
ernor Shate, of Massachusetts Bay provinee, on June
15, 1716, the interests of New Ilampshire, and espe-
cially of the undeveloped places abont the lake were
revived, more carclully looked afier and attended to,
The decadence of the spirit of expansion and cnter-
prise that followed the putting ot New Ilampshire un-
der Massachusetts’ proteetion and control, in 1659, and
during the troublous times of William and Mary’s reign,
seemed to have reached its lowest point about the
time of the aceession of Queen Anne, in 1702, or of
her death and the commencement of the reign of
Greurge L., in 1714 Those who had snftered loss and
endured hardships in the earlier wars, from the time
of King Philip’s, in 1674, and especially in that of
King William, in 1685890, now begin to claim some
indemnification or reward.  This is sought in grants
of unoccupied lands, The paralyzing effect of the
massacre at Dover, and the ruin of Salmon Falls, and
the absence of that master-spirit of Major Waldron,
now dead, determined that the tide of progress would
not set np the Cocheco Valley to the shores of the
lake and Aquadocten, though this would have been
the most natural conrse of expansion. Nor did the
contingenvies of the disputed lwitations and joris-
diction of the Massachnsetts Bay Company favor the
extension of scttlements up the Merrimack, the second
mast natural path of progress in ocenpation and im-
provement. [lence, the third and mostunlikely move-
ment was mude from Exeter into the wilderness by
the roate of no river valley, but along the highlands.
Hence, in 1727, these claimants, numbering nearly
two hundred, o charter is granted to them of all the
fand left, trom the corner of Chichester, northwest of
Barnstead, aud northeast of the north line of Canter-
bury (then including London and Northfield), and
extendiug to the Jake and river, and abutting on hoth
Barnstead and the unincorporated land eastward, atter-
wards known as the New Durham Gore, sinee Alton.

Tlie pecupation of this land was now considered
feasible, sinee the Province Couneil and Assembly had

ade, constituted and removed five more; and the | caused a fort or block-house to be built and garrisoned
distressful King William’s War vexed the whole | on the shore of the lake. This was ordered in 1732,
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and was to be fifty feet square, constructed with tim-
bers cight iuches square, having two wings, or flank-
ers, aud eapable of giving accommodation to a garrison
of one hundred and fifty men, and was to be provi-
sioned duly. It was to be located near the bank of
the luke, where there ix an opening into the lake, and
on the southeast side; which language, in its first
statement, would seem to indieate Aquadocton, but, in
its other words, appears to refer to Alton Bay, and
probably the eastern side,  The purpose of building
and arming this block-house was declared to be to
*“annoy and check the Indians of this region,” and so
secnre quiet to the settlers.  Hence the grantees and
actual settlers of Gilmanton had thus a defense in
their rear, as far as it concerned some of the most nn-
friendly tribes in this region; and, therefore, the fear
of molestation was measurably removed. The pro-
prictors were not all from Exeter, but some of Ports-
mouth; many of the settlers first sat down tem-
porarily in the southern part of the grant, and after-
wards re-located in the northern section, or Gilford:
The territory was divided into two hundred and fifteen
shares, and severally apportioned to one hundred and
ninety-two shareliolders, besides the Masonian heirs;
and the public and governmental reservations were
five shares.

The proprietors were not, to a great extent, actnal
seftlers, yet their names very largely correspond to
those known in the history of the plantation.  Ninety
different names appenr in the eriginal list of proprie-
tors, among which that of Gilman leads with twenty-
four, viz.: Andrew, Caleb, Daniel, Edward (Ist and
Jr), Jeremial, John (Sr., Jr., 3d and Captain), Jona-
than, Joseph, Nathaniel (Sr. and Jr.)), Nchemiah,
Nicholas (Sr., Jr, and 3d), Peter, Robert, Samuel (Ist
and 3d), Thomas and Tmeworthy.  Hence the name
Gilmanton was most nataral. The charter bears
date of May 20, 1727, and in the thirteenth yearof the
sovereign, George 1., and had three conditions, viz.:
1st, the settlement of seventy tamilies within three years
ench in a separate honse, and each having cleared
three acres fit for tillage, and having paid all azsess-
ments.  2d, a mecting-house shall be built within
four years. 3d, threeshares shall be appropriated for
public use, viz.: Oune for the ministerial support, one
for minister’s residence amld one for support of schools ;
providing, however, that no Indian war prevent the
settlement, and i such event, grunting three years
from the close of such war.

The consideration of this deed or title was the
quit-rent of one pound of flax annoally forever, if
demanded, and due the second Tuesday of March,
Alko all pine-trees, twentv-tour inches in diameter,
were reserved, under the act of Parliament, for the

construction of ships in the royal navy, which trees |

bad been marked and registered by @ surveyor, ap-
pointed first in the time of Willinm, and agreeably
to the provincial statute of 1708, by the approval of
Queen Anne,

The line of boundary, as defined by the charter,
was a straight northwest course, or, more accurately,
north, 47° west, and from the southwest corner of
Barnstead till the Merrimack waters were reached,
about twelve and three-eighths miles, which terminal
point was on the shore ot the bay, a little sonth of
the outlet of’ Great Brook and one and a half miles
southwest of Burley’s bridge, at East Tilton. The
other line ran six miles on the Bamstead line, or,
more acenrately, six miles aud one hundred and
twenty-two rods, passing one mile, ninety-five rods
bevond Barnstead nportheast corner, as now estab-
lished.  This course was east, 43° north (said to be
northeast), and thence the line was to ran northwest
(north, 47° west) two miles (two miles, sixty-five rods),
and thenee north (north, 1° west) seven miles Lo the
lake,—i.e., seven miles, torty-eight rods. Thence the
shore of the lake and the river, or serics of bays, was
to be the terminal margin, not including the islands
oft’ shore in the whele course. This tract contained
about eighty-five thousand acres of land, about one-
third of which constitutes the original town of Gil-
ford as set off,

At the expiration of the three years, in 1730, the
gettlement of the seventy families had not been ef-
fected, and the proprictors petitioned for extension of
time, Tt is not alleged that the condition of ont-
breaking Indian wars formed the basis of this neglect
and needed prolongation of time; but the country
was far from being tranquil during this period, The
charter, still unpaid for, was held by the clerk of the
Couneil; vet they made provision for its redemption,
and for laving ont the plant and making it accessible
by a chosen and ent or cleared-ont pathway or road;
but this work was delayed another year.

The principal names connected with the survey
and much of the eurly doings of the proprietors were
those of Edward Gihnan, who seems to be the ae-
cepted surveyor, and Jethro Parsons and Oliver
Smith, These, with five other men as agsistants, he-
gan the bounding of the town June 14, 1731, and
simply ran the easterly line, as defined by the words
of the charter, This took twelve davs, as the line
was about sixteen miles long, and lay over the moun-
tnins, Beginning at a beech-tree, they ran six miles
to w birch, then two miles to another beech, and
finally reached a hemlock at the pond.  With these
four trees, only one in Gilford, the domain is located.
One hundred and fifty years might not have wrought
the decay of the beeeh and the hemlock (perhaps the
birch should have gone); but tradition  identifies
them not, nor are seen the initials inseribed on them.

The next vear a plan of the town and the laying
out of lots were ordered, and these lots were to equal
or exceed the number of proprietors.  Five ranges of
honie lots were laid out in tiers, resting on the south-
west buse line, containing about forty acres each, and
extending to the base of’ the mountains and nearly to
the extent of the present town of Gilmanton. These
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pwere drawn by the proprictors for acinal settling
or for disposition to whomsaever they conld induce
to take up the land and improve it for themselves,

October 18, 1732, these lots were drawn and cach
one began to take measures to have the conditions of
the charter carried out.

In 1735 it was decided to lay out a second division
of lots, and to build block-houses at the extreme
southeast part, and also at the extreme northwest, or
Aquadoeton, whieh is suaid to be © fishing-grounds,”
and also to examine the soil there, and see if it be
good and fit for a settlement.

An opinion had already obtained that this part of
the grant was more valuable and more desirable for
a settlement than the lots already laid out.  This
propesition was not immediately carried out, hut was
renewed the three following vears with variations in
the committee to accomplish it.

In 1736 the committee performed their asdigned
work, and in eleven days from the I4th of June,
cleared a pathway from Epsom to Gilmanton and
built two block-hounses, one av the southeast corner
of the first division of lots, and the other at the
Weirs. These were the first houses built on the
grant. As they were simultaneously constrneted, the
one in the present Gilmanton and the other in Gil-
ford, the two towns may be said to bhe of equal age.
The farmer was eighteen feet square and the latter
fourteen fect; and these, with the other and larger
one at the castern part of the like, constituted atri-
angulation of the region for fortitieation and protee-
tion, and lor aggression.  The land on the lake-shore
and river border was pronounced to be of goad
quality and sunitable lor settlement ; and, therefore,
it laying out was recommended and urged by the
committer and demandel by others. The lay and
quality of the land inclined the judgment of the
committee, that these lots shonld face the river, or
west 3 and as a detached seetion, shonld be ereeted in
ranges extending from Aunadocton towsrds the Can-
terbury line, and not connecting with or reaching
the first division,

A boom was now made for the settlement of the
north part of the town, and two importunt privileges
were offered, viz. : First, the choice of the Jotsto he
laid out in the second division should not be inthe
arbitrary manner of drawing them by lot, but the
proprietors, or settlers, could choose their shares
together and at either end of the division, and =0
avoid being too seattered and exposed, Second, a
bonus of forty shillings from eacli proprictor was
offered to the first twenty or more settlers, who
would within five years commence settlenient, and
would clear and break up two acres of land. This
was an extension of time, two years, and a reduc-
tion of the quota of land to be cleared by ane acre,
as compared with the proposals made for settling in
the first divizion ; and, besides, the preminm was not
inconsiderable, as two pounds {rom each of one hun-
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dred and ninety-two proprictors meant a little fortane
in those days, to n mere setiler, or husbandman. It
would scem that these inducements should have been
suflicient.  But they did not secure acceptunee; and
the next year resort had to be made 1o the General
Court to extend the time of settlement, and for
authority to eollect taxes of the proprictors.  Already
nearly two huwdred pounds had bheen expended in
surveying, building block-houses and entting path-
wiys, and several proprictors were in defandt of pay-
ment, and their shares had to be sold to satisfy the
assessments made,

In 1738 u eommittee, invreased to the number ot
twelve, was constituted to lay out these lots, which
they did in June, by the assistance of twenty other
hired men, in ten days from the 20th of the month.
The first four days were employed in clearing a way
from White Hall, or the first block-house, to the
Merrimack River, presumably at Aquadocton,  The
lay or ronte of this pathway was sketehod, but with
some indefiniteness; and hence different opinions
as to its exact location may be entertained.  As the
first cleared pathway, ot road, in the town, its position
is ot importance.  The surveyors’ returns say that it
lay “ from White Hall to Loon Pond, one mile and o
half; thence 10 Block-1Touse Pond, a mile and a
half; thence to Third Camp Meadow, fonr miles;
thence N. W. by N, to Skeiler's Meadow, three
miles; and on the same course, five miles, o the
Pond.”  With the want of expressed direction in the
first three courses, or stages ol advanee, we are to
make special use of the definiteness of direction and
distances mentioned iu the last two stares.  Neversing
the course of northwest by north, and laving ofl five
miles, the meadow land in the valley of the Miles
River will be reachied, near the estate of the late
David Brown, Esq., or that near John Foster’sand Jona-
than Morrill’s, above the flowage.  Then, laving off
three miles in the same direction (nearly i, the pondat
the summiit or the head-waters of the Suncook will be
reached (or, from Foster’s and Morrill's meadow, the
margin of Young's Pond). Loon Pund is casily
identified, and there remains only Bloek-1Touse Pond
for identifieation. A radius of four miles from Third
Camp Meadow, considered as at the head-waters off
the Suncovk, would very nearly reach the Reservoir
Pond, or the small pond a little to the east of it, and
at the head of Mill Brook ; or, measured trom Young's,
would reach Pickerel Pond.  Either of these three
ponds may have heen referred 1o as Block-1Tonse
Poud. The only other plausible tdeatification of
points and dircetion of the route is, that Pickerel
Pond, near Parsonage 11ill, represents Block House
Pond; and the vieinity of Young's Poud, the Third
Camp Meadow ; aud the nppert nstock Yalley, south
of Gilford village, to Esquire Weeks estate, that of
skeiler's Meadow ; and that thenee the way crossed
Mesting-TTouse Hill to the Weirs; and this, though
answering well as to distances, does not agree ax 1o
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the dircetions mentioned in the returns.  As the first
division of lots had already been laid out, it wonld be
natural to follow them as far as they extended, and
o0 avail themselves of the advantage of the surveyor's
marks and partial clearing of pathways: and this
would be iu the direction of Young’s Pond, and the
puond at the summit, or head-waters, from which
point Aynadocton, or its immediate vicinity, could be
sighted, and its bearing taken; and henee at this stage
first mention is made of direction; and the course
thenee is made as direct as possible.

With this way cleared, the communication between
the first and second divisions was made casy ; and
these thirty-two men now divide themselves and their
work into four parts. Two parties lay out the lots
in five ranges—in all, numbering one hundred and
seventy-seven lots.

For encouragement to settle on these, not ouly
might the settlers have the choice of their lots
together, but they should receive forty shillings annn-
ally from each proprietor,—a gencrous offer indeed.

The third house was built by ene scetion of this
party “for their shelter,” but its site was not described,
nor does tradition locate it

Another section of the party spent six days in
“looking out a convenient place for a wuy to Canter-
bury,” This second way in the territory was distinet
from the one from Epsom, via White Ilall, and run
purallel with the ranges, along the margin of the
river at first, and then sonth through the upper part
of the town, or Upper Parish.

When it svemed so ussured that the town would be
specdily settled, and the nnion of New Hampshire
and Massachusetts under one civil administration had
kept somewhat in abeyance the conflicting claims to
lands on the margin of the river, so that without les-
itation, question or protest, the second division of lots
was laid ont and offered to settlers, being nevertheless
all comprehended in that part of the domain elaimed
by Massachusetts, and the settlement of the boundary
in 1741 had given advantage and impulse to the pro-
jerts and interests of the proprietors, there cemed un-
arcountably a stay in proceedings, as neither the town,
or parts of the town, realized progress,

Then the unsettled state of affuirs in Europe cul-
minated in the declaration of war between England
and France, and brought on the dark nightof contlict
in the American colonies, paralyzing all schemes, So
that from 17338 to 1748 all things remained stationary,
or were retrograding, Two eleared ways and three
howses were all ot Gilford and Gilmanton.  On the
cessation of hostilities, in 1749, there were attempts
made to revive the interests of the scheme, and, u= pre-
paratory to it, a committee, with twenty men, by order
of the proprietors, spent eleven long summer dayx in
venewing the metes and bounds and repairing the
Limses and adding one new house at Third Camp
Meadow (the claim to which is not determined either
in favor of Giltord or Gilmanton, as its site is not set-

tled) and rencewing the way cut ten years before, which
by disuse, had become almost untraceable and useless.

But the time of peace was too short to admit of
mmeh progress, and a sccond war deferred for another
decade all advancement ; and this, despite new and
generous offers held ont to pioncers.  To at most forty
settlers, who,within one year, shonld build houses and
bring under eultivation three acres of land yearly,
there was protfered a premium of fifty acres of land
additional from the undivided land, and this to be
doubled at the end of six years, as an additional bonus,

The only immediate effect of this proposed bounty
wits some felling of trees in 1750 by parties from Pena-
cook, on land chosen and intended for a homestead,
but which was soon quit by reason of the renewal of
hostile demenstrations, Indeed,so low did the enter-
prise run, that twenty-one shares were to be sold to
pay arrcarages of unpaid taxes, The sale of Mason’s
claim to twelve menof Portsmounth further complica-
ted and embarrassed matters pertaining to the settle-
ment of the town.

To overcome this effectual obstacle, the uncertainty
of valid title, @ way must be devised. A compromise
was made whereby these purchasers, called the heirs
of Mason, quit-claimed the remainder of the territory
for eighteen shares in equality with the original pro-
prietors; these shares to be reserved in guaranty to them
and exempted from taxation till occupied. With thisob-
stacle removed, a new bonus is offered of one hundred
poundsold tenor, in eightquarterly instalments, and two
forty-acre lots of kand, to the first twenty settlers, and,
when there shonld be ten families, to support a minis-
ter and also to build 4 saw-mill. Tt wounld seem that
such liberal conditions should have sceured a rush for
the prize. But dangers and war are more powerful
than all gain,

The contract with the Masonian heirs involved or
required the survey and laying out of iheir eighteen
shares and the making of a plan of the town, which
was done in 1752 by one Nathan Sanborn, under the
direction of a committee whose chairman was Oliver
Smith. This was the third division, or third laying
out of lots, and was made, as the contract specified,
from the extreme castern side of the grant. They
werelaidoff in two ranges running from the lake-shore
on the north, and extending to the margin of Young's
and Longee’s Ponds, and quite to the north-castern
limits ot the first divisionof forty-acrelots. These
lots were o be equal in quantity and quality to the
shares of the original proprictors, and they varied in
size from two hundred to four hundred acres,

Thus, having the two vexed questions settled,—viz.,
that of title and that of jurisdiction,—the wuy scemed
prepared to easily carry out the plans for improvement
of the grant.  Bat there remained still one, and wn
abiding, hindrance,—that of exposure to Indian ern-
cltics and attacks,  The block-houses and fort did not
prove snflicicut for defense.  The borders of the lake
were no ordinary or insignificant loeality. The drama
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of Indian eonflicts and struggles was conspicnonsly
laid on this battle-ground and rendezvous,

And another and extremely severe contlict was at
hand ; or rather the former one, supposed (o have
ended in 1748, broke out anew in 1754, and ended not
till the most stubborn of these foes (the 8t, Francis
tribe) was broken, in the year 1759, and peice was se-
cured,

Indeed, the fear and reluctance of men to throw
themselves too far fromabase, intotheunoccupied and
exposed places, was not relieved till the varions eolo-
nies began to combine and make common cause,  The
action of the congress of commissioners and their
declaration in 1754, and the consequent suecessind
conduet of affairs inthe five following vears, did much
to assure men who would undertake enterprises in the
new parts, Butthe second French War emploved and
exhausted all the reserve forces ot the country, and
no one turned his thoughts toward the development
of his interests in unsettled lands till after 1766,
Althongh, to any sagacious eve the northern part of
trilmanton had the most promising future, and, with
its mighty motive-power in the three water-talls at the
Weirs and Lower Weirs (Lake village) and Winne-
squam (Laconia), was destined to outstrip the other
scetions, yet the settlement came up, und that slowly,
trom Ipsom, through the cleared way, to the southeast
part of the grant. Here the appearance of a settle-
ment was effected in the last days of 1761. BDut, in
order to effect this, increasingly gencrons offers had
to be made.

The fourth laying out of lands was made of that
Iving contiguous to the first division of forty-acre lots,
and was disposed into six ranges, and two ranges of
wores, these equal in number on ecach side ot the
first division; and these, of one huudred acres each,
ithough varying somewhat), were offered in pairs to
go with cach home lot to the first forty settlers. A
grist-mill and a saw-mill were also promised to be
erected by the proprietors for the settlers as soon as
there were ten families.

A great inconvenience and impediment to progress
at this time was the want of proper roads.  The one
“eut” and twice alterwards “ cleared,” from Epsom to
the Weirs, twenty-six miles in extent, and also others,
were not much more than mere foot-paths or trails,
capable, however, of use to riders on horseback, which
mode of travel and transportation was then most
common (even the iron-work of the {irst saw-mill and
grist-mill being brought into town in this manneri, A
road for wheels was first partinlly made to the border-
line of the town in 1750, but was impassable for ox-
teams in 1762, The town had to make their road
through the unsottled portions of the town next to it,
in order to find access or approaches to its own do-
main,

Water communication in places bordering on the
lake and river in a measare supplied this defect, and
travel in this way was there common. The first im-

T

; provement of land was not in the northern or second

| division. The two fumilies that came in 1761, the
cight that were added in 1762, and even the total of
torty-five found there in 1767, comprising two hundred
and fifty individuals, all toak their choice of lots in
the lower part of the grant, though some of them suh-
seiuently moved into the upper section, or Upper Par-
ish, Tt wasnot till 1777 and 1778 that families made
permanent location in the northern part. Contrary to
reasonable expectation, and strange to say, one hun-
dred and fifty-five vears elapsed between the scttle-
ment of Dover and that of Gilford, though only less
than forty miles lay hetween their boundaries, and a
natural roadway extended direetly from one to the
other, ria the lake-shore, and, moreover, though pe-
culiar advantages offered inducements to expansion
in this very direction, 8o, also, upwarnds of sixteen
vears has marked the progress of only ten miles in
oceupation northiward trom White Hall,

The laying out of the first parish, in 1761, in the
southeast corner of the town, six miles by six and a
half, almost identieal, in position and extent, to the
present town of Gilmanton, and the providing for
preaching there, and the building of a saw-mill and
grist-mitl, respectively, in this and the following vear,
all by the proprictors tor the benefit of the settlers,
seemed to act unfavorably to the wider dispersion of

, the inhabitants, and to the development of the upper
and better Iands, and the using ol its natural re-
sources.  This effected concentration of privileges and
interests there, formed the germ of a distinet munici-
pality, and gave rise to a eounter and competing cen-
tralization, which resulted, after fifty vears ol mnunici-
pal unity, in the dismemberment and sepurate civil
existence of Gilford, and, in theend, of Belmont. The
special adaptation of the upper part of the territory
to agrienltural purposes, and of its great motive-
power in the immense volume of water furnished by
the lake to manufacturing, as contrasted with the in-
sighificant streams on which the first proprictors’
mills were placed, only to be shifted orto go to de-
cay, evidently pointed to future separation and
growth, Men of keen foresight plainty saw this to
be inevitable and wisely aicted upon the evidence;
and, first of all, after Sammuel Jewett, two men, Cap-
tain 8. F. Gilman and James Ames, in 1778, chose
their lots here aud pitehed.

The way to this step was prepared, in a laree peas-
ure, by the building of the Province road, eight
vears hetore,  To tacilitate the settling of new towns
to be granted, and those aiready granted, but not im-
proved (for many waited long for inhabitants), the
Creneral Court laid this road i 1770, to extend from

! Portsmouth to Canada; and itz lay was diagonally
peross Gilmanton, from the First Division and scttled
portion to the narrows in the river as it enters Win-
nesquany, just below the Falls, in Gilford, at bater
times called Meredith Bridge,

The {ieneral Court imposed on the towns the
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building of the road through their domain.  The in-
habitants of Gilmanton were opposed to the extension
of the road into the npper part of their territory,
and officially refused to construet it. It cut the lots
diggronally and wuceh to their damage, while the lay-
ing out of the town provided for a regular system of
roads and made the lots rectangular.  The expense
was considerad excessive and burdensome, while they
were struggling ta provide for other things, as schools
and churches and the necessary roads to reach their in-
dividual lands and residences, It was also unfavor-
able to concentration and prosperity in the neighbor-
hood already formed, to induce the forming of distant
and rival neighborhoods ; so that the project was not
viewed with tavor. But the General Court ordered
the road tn be built by contractors, and the cost,
three hundred and thirty-one pounds, was assessed
on the town. Thus a passable highway was opened,
in 1770, into Gilford, and, very wisely, to the part
where the power was, This assured a settlement
there and growth.

About the same time Samuel Jewett settled above
the Falls, at the terminus of the Provinee road. Tt
i claimed this was in 1777,

The firsttwo to locate afterwards were farmers, and,
with good judgment, made their choive in the viein-
ity of the Intervale, the one at the southeast and the
other at the sonthwest angle of that rich traet of al-
luvial land.

James Ames settled near the house huilt and occu-
pied by Ebenezer Smith, Fsq., and Captain 8 F. Gil-
man at the head of the spur of the valley or meadow
land, near the heads of Black Brook and the Meadoiv
Brook.

About this time Levi Lovit made a tcmporary resi-
dence near the outlet of the Lily Pond, and opposite
the house atterwards and lately oecupied by hucrease
W. Davis.

Abraham Folsom began improvements ut the
Lower Weirs, and  though his residence was in that
part swhich, till recently, belonged to Meredith, and,
later, Laconia, yvet his ¢nterprise was for the interests
of Gilford, and his mill (grist-mill) was the one ne-
cessary accommodation of the first settlers,

Daniel Btevens lacated on the Gilford side of the
river, and his house, still stunding, was for many
years the only house at that place on the Gilford
side.

=oan after these came Malachi Davis, Samuel
Blaisdell and Lowell Sanborn, the first two of whom
settled near the residence of Captain Gilman, and the
Iast of whom at the extreme end of the range, on the
like-shore,

Esquire Benjamin Weeks, who came into the lower
part of the town in 1768, led a party into the upper

seetion and loeated at the western base of Mount Ma-

jor, in 17587, where there afterwards dwelt a large
commnnity of that name, He was a leading marn
and large land-holder, and suceessful in business,
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The population of the town increased rapidly after
the first few years, There ure no returns extant that
show the number of actual residents within the limits
of that portion of Gilmanton which was set off to
constitute the town of Gilford at the time of such de-
tachment living there, But by the censusof 1810 we find
that the whole town then contained 4338 inhabitants ;
and by the census returns of 1820 it had then 3752 re-
maining in the old town, and Gilford had 1816 ; so thut
it is probable that about 1500 inhabitants were set off to
form the new town. The little band of 250 in 1767,
of 775 in 1775, or of four at the heginning of 1762,
had a remarkable growth. And the increase in the
second divizion was not less rapid than that of the
fiest, or of the whole, which numbered only 775 in
1775, two years before the first families entered the
upper part and actually made a heginning of settle-
ment there. The census of 1790 gives a population
of 2613, and that of 1800 makes it 8752, As above
stated, in 1810 it was 4338, and probably in 1812 the
aggregate was not less than 5000,

The list of tax-payers of Gilford in 1813, the first
one made after the incarporation, contained 204
natnes, including a few non-residents, The assess-
ment of that year was for #1207.08, comprising State
tax, $182.68; county tax, $67.33; and school tax,
£1492.08; and town tax, $465.73.

They spent nearly as much for schools as for all
other town expenses, and maintained ten selivols abount
six months each.

Captain James Follet was the first collector, and
had been scveral vears before for the Fourth Col-
lector's Distriet of Gilmanton, or the Second Divigion,

The first Board of Selectmen were John Smith,
Thomas Saltmarsh and Joho Gilman,  In 1506 there
were in the Fourth Collector’s District, nearly con-
terminous with the future new town, 166 assesscd
persons; and the amount assessed was 2643.60, out of
£2503.92, assessed on the whole town, showing that
the district had not then attained to the fourth part
af the taxable value of the whole. In 1808 this sec-
tion had 192 tax-payers, including a few non-residents,
and was levied upon for 616,62 in the total of
2257442, or about one-fourth part.  The list of a~-
sessed had inereased in 1510 to the number of 206, The
inventories of these years show that but few acres of
lund had been improved by each settler, they having
bevn extensively engaged in constructing their build-
ings, and were now distracted by the opening of an-
other war with England.  Born or inaugurated in the
warlike season, the public affairs were conducted
somewhat in a spirit of contention.  Notonly political,
but even ecclesiastical affairs witnessed many a battle,
tong drawn out and most bitter. A child of strife,
nursed in canflicts, she grew valiant in war, With
room for free exercise of her arms over the adjacent
waters on the north and the west, she was prepared to
niect any assailant trom either quarter; and, trusting,
in her munition of rocks, she attended to demestic
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improvements without fear or distraction ; and the re-
sult has heen not otherwise than laudable, as the fol-
lowing exhibit will plainly establizh:

The Personnel of the Early Settlers.— A< un ar-
ticle of the preseribed extent for such a work as this
does not admit of a book, or even full chapter, of gen-
ealogies, it will be sufficient to append a few waords
on the persons and characters of those early citizens
who constituted the bodv politie in its first vears of
separate and corporate existence. And for this pur-
pose will we use the list of tax-pavers in the first year
of assessment. Thirty-five years had doubtless wit-
nessed some falling out ag well as the gathering inof a
body of inhabitants, so that our notices may be wanting
in some names of parties who had come and gone
already, and some who had not yet been placed on the
list of tax-payers, though really resident.

Daniel Avery appears to be among the number as
early as 1790, and he commenced tride here at that
time, at the bridge, the terminus of the Province road.
He afterwards enlarged his business and huilt a fac-
tory and ran it many vears, and he was one of the
heaviest tax-payers at the first year of the town's sep-
arate and independent management, and even before
that date. His family remained there for many vears,
but are not represented in the place now by that
name. James and David Ames are among the earliest
on the ground. James settled at the toot of the hill
in the road, now discontinued, near Esquire Ebenezer
Smith’s, and David located where Richard Dame lived,
now owned and occupied hy William W. Watson,
They appear to have made a good beginning, but
long since the families have been reduced and scarcely
represented among us.  The family is not, however,
extinet, but have mostly removed elsewhere.

Jeremiah Bartlet came early to Gilford and tock up

land, about 1790, at the west base of Gunstock Moun-

tain, and was a successful farmer and an npright, re-
spected man.  1le lived to an honorable and ripe old
age on the lot he first occupied, and in his later years
was afflicted with deafness and a tronblesome wen on
the neck, which increased in size as his years ad-
vanced. His exemplary piety was characteristic.
He had two sons and several daughters. One married
John Jewett. IHis sons were dealers in stock and
for a time drovers, The line of descent is not traced
by numerous posterity, but the homestead is still oceu-
pied by lineal descendantg, some of another name,
Samuel Bartlett was a citizen also at the same time.
Rev. Robert Bartlett moved into town in later times,
with a large family, occupying the Osgood place, on
Liberty Hill, and supplying the Universalist pulpit
for a time, and dying only a few years ago at his
daughter’s, in Lake village, at an advanced age. He
was & man of good ability and of aetivity in his early
life, and had some good positions before coming to
Gilford.

The nanme of Bean, so common in Gilmanton, was also
well represented here in the persous of Elijuh, James,

Solomon and John, and later hy Henry, Joel, Chase
and True. The first of these settled in the southern
part of the town and the others in the northern.
Their familics are still represented, though not by
great numbers of the same nume, hut by changed
names, i

The family of Bennett was wmong the first of the
assessed, und the names of John, John, dr.. John (4
aud Winthrop appear on the first year, They settied
in Chattleborough and near Liberty Nill, Some of
the name in atter-years, us Harrison, was of honorable
mention in public afliirs and educational depart-
ments,  The family is atill represented by a tew.

The Blaisdell family was a prominent one from
the very first years. =amuel Blaisdell settled north
of and near to Captain Gilman, at the Lily Pond, He
worked at blacksmith work, and =everal of his sons
afterwards carried on the same business. His sons wire
William, John, Danicl, Enoch, Aaron, Philip and
Samuel, all men of intellectual and executive alili-
ties. He exereised his talents as a lay preacher
holding meetings at his own house before a regnlar
service was established or meeting-house built. Per-
haps there was some lack of agreement of his doc-
trinal sentiments and those current or entertained Ly
many in the vicinity, William, the oldest son, wis
later representative of and preacher to the Order of
Christians, or, as they are sometimes ealled, Christian
Baptists, He had good talents and cducation and
was promoted in civil offices. Others of the family
exercised limitedly their gitts in lay preaching. Mis
Samuel Blaisdell was efficient as nurse and doctress
to her sex before the regular physieian was settled or
could be easily called. The family were largely nat-
ural and apt mechanics, Samuel, of another branct
of the family, was the traming carpenter of those and
later days. The family is now numercusly reprez
sented.  Eliphlet and Jacob were also carly settlers
Elipblet (2), deacon a long time of the Baptist Chureh
at Lake village, and some of that Dbrancl, were, by
affiliation, Baptists and efficient members.  (Mher
branches of the family were Free-Will Baptists anid
prominent, and still others were of other aud more
liberal belief and practice.

Dr, Zadock Bowman was practicing physician ot
the beginning of the century, and loeated at Meredith
Bridge. David Bowwman was the successor in th
estate, whieh was and has been one of prominence.
Mrs. Daniel Tilton now represents the family, Jolin
Boyd is sole representative of that name in the tix-
Tist of 1806, and was possessed of an cstate near Be -
jamin Jewett's.  Enoch Boyd represented the name
in later vears, and oeenpied the homestead. bl
and Ephraim Drown, with Ephraim, Jr., are t
representatives of that name, the former living ut the
lakeside, at what was afterwards the Almshouse
farm, and the others in Miles Valley, They were
men of means, except Kphraim, Jr.; and Neheminh
and Daniel were the children in pussession succes-
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sively. Captain Daniel and Nehemiah were of hon-
orable standing in town uffairs,

The nume Buzzell (or Buswell) is early mentioned,
and the names of Isaae, Ebenezer, Ichabod, Iehabad,
Jr., Stephen, George and James are enrolled. The
family settled in the east part of the town, on both
#itdes of the mountain, The family of manufacturing
men at Laconia bearing that name came later to
town, and first operated the fulling and carding-mill
on Giuostoek River, and also did business in the
woalen line at Lake village, and since have pros-
ccuted an extensive and successful enterprise at La-
cania, first in the old Parker warp-mill aud later in
Morrison’s carding and fulling-mill and the Belknap
Mill and later enlargements. They have shown
The names of Boynton, Bur-
bank, Bradbury, Badger, Burleigh, Blake, Beede,
Burns and Bickford are found in the list; but some
are non-resident, and of others but little is known.

Tradition locates Bickford at Richard Dame's or
Joseph P. Smith's.  Captain Charles Beede came
Later and did blaeksmithing at Gilford village and
later at Laconia, and enlisted in the Union army at
ant advanced age,

The name of Robert Carr is associated with the
Quaker faith, and he is known as Elder Carr. He early
settled on an excellent glade of land at the month of
the Miles Brook, and was one of the frugal and fore-
handed farmers, living in a stately and neatly-kept
house—a semi-inn—of honorable repute.  The team-
ing of produets to Portsmouth and freighting back of
groceries was o considerable branch of business in
those days, and way-places for halting and accom-
modation were in demand.
{John and Richard) located one at the homestead
ant the others at Alton.
tpHwn,

The Clough family, represented by David, Aaron,
Muoses and Caleb, were here early, one at the east
hase of the mountains aud the other at the Hoyt's
neighborhood; and these tamilies have gone. John
. Ulough lived at Laconia and kept store on the
Meredith side. The family remains in the place, but
the business is closed.

The Clark pame is more common, and applies to
more than one lneage,  Samuel Clark settled a little
north of Folsom's Mills, and the family is of honor-
able mention, and from it came the Hon. Joseph
Clark, of Mauchester, Esq. Samuel Clark, of lLake
village and others.  William Clark settled farther
north, on the Plains. Jacob and Mayhew were of
Meredith Bridge, the former a shoemaker and musi-
cian.  Others of the Same name dwelt at Jewett's
Corper and Laconia,

Fzekiel Collins settled here about 1807, in the
neighborhood of Chattleborough Pond, and the family,
in later generations, preserved its compact condition
in its own neighborhood, and in large numbers,
=oven sons settled near, and daughters settled here

business tact and skill.

The sons of Robert Carr |

g i3 2 Sl
The family still remains in |

" meetings.

and elsewhere. The mill in their plant has long been
operated by some one of the name for sawing anid
threshing, They were an industrions and quiet peo-
ple and mainly suceessiul,

John Cotton seftled near the hill bearing this name,
in the south part of the town And a little off the Prov-
ince road, and the family still has its representatives
there, Simon Cotton was of the same line,

The Chase family is represented as early as 1806,
and by the individual names of Mark, Green, James,
Jr., and Widow Navey, Their Jocation is uncertain,
Later, Albert and Hazeltine Chase came {rom Loudon
and were conneeted with the business and firm of
Jewett, Chase & Thing, store-keepers at Gilford vil-
luge; Albert, also, as clerk in the store of Charles
Stark there, or Stark & Goodhue.  Samuel Connor is
among the inhabitants as early as 1810, and Joseph
Connor Jived near Captain Gilman’s and Lieutenant
Rand’s.  The house has gone and the family name is
not preserved at present.  They were connected with
the MeCoys, The name of Cram is associated with
inhabitants at Meredith Bridge. Jonathan and Widow
Cram are the only names that appear in the lists,

Taxes were assessed on property of Dr, Call and
James Crocket, residing in Meredith, A little later
the Chesley family settled in the east part of the
town, near Alton; but the family is no longer known
among the people of that section. The Coles came
later from Conway to Lake village and engaged in
the furnace and foundry business. There were sey-
eral of the second generation, and they ai one time
eomprised a large portion of the active business men
of Lake village. Benjamin Cole, Esq., has been
prominent in public affairs for many years. The iron
and hardware trade and works were largely in their
hands, and it was suceessfully conducted and associ-
ated with general trade. The Croshys have been of
honorable mention, Josiah and Dixi have praeticed
medicine here with skill and ability. The tformer was
also connected with the Avery Factory awhile. They
were first from Sandwich and later lived at Gilman-
ton Corner. The father, Asa Crosby, had an exten-
sive practice in all the region. Sanborn Croshy was
long an inhabitant near Meredith Bridge,—another
family, Richard Dame settled near the Intervale and
was a Iaborious and successful farmer; wore his uneut
hair in a queve after the manner of the Quukers, and
raised a large family, which have almost lost the
pame and representation in the place; yet, by mar-
riage, the line is preserved under other names.  Ben-
jamin Dame pursued the blacksmith business and
lived in different places in town. The family is
largely gone, but few remain, The Davis tamily was
prominent in early vears. Malachi Davis settled, in
1790, near the Lily Pond and held a good estate. He
was 4 father in matters of religion and polities. His
house was for many years the place of holding the
Demoeratie caucus, ss well as the soeial religious
Hix life was prolonged by means of a
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difficult surgical operation. His tumily was not lurge
in the line of sons, but several daughters ol good
ubility became well counected in married life, aud
still some are alive i advanced age, Severnl timilies
of the name, and velated, settled in his immediate
neighborhood and also on the east side of the woun-
tains. A family of the name resided at Meredith
Bridge, and one at Lake village, kuown as Neighbor
John. Nathaniel, called also Island Davis, ocenpied
Governor’s Island, He was a stalwart aml command-
ing personage, and exercised his gifts as a leader in
matters of free chiurch order in preaching and public
discussion, Ie raised a family of four suns and
about the came number of daughters, who hecame
well connected. The sons and himselt were leaders
in political and other public affairs.  One, John, was
a prominent teacher and afterwards agent of the fac-
tory company at Lake village. They have gone from
the island, but are represented elsewhere. The family
largely embriced Miller's doetrine, though at first
following one Osgood, of anti-church govertiment
sentiments.  William Miller, in person, held a camyp-
mecting on the island in 1840,

Abraham Dearborn lved awhile near the head of
the gully and elsewbere. Jeremiah Dow, Josiah
Dow, Samuel Dicey, William Drew and Joseph Drew
are among the voters of 1813, They were connected
with Meredith Bridge, except Drew, who was in the
central part of the town. These are now largely gone
from the place as fumilies. The name of Eager was
formerly known, but is now not current.  Lieutenant
Winthrop Eager is mentioned in 1813,  Asa Eager
and John Eager were citizens at Meredith Bridge
(Asa Eager was sheriff and otherwise a poblic man;
he kept hotel in early years) and known as connected
with the county affairs and the court,  Fager's tuv-
ern was situated nearly opposite the court-house,
The name is not at present met here.

The Eaton family settled in the eastern part of the
town. The same name is associated with the settle-
ment at the Weirs, ag occupying on the Meredith
side. We have, in 1806 and 1313, Joseph, Joshua,
Benjamin and Elias. Later, Elisha, Jonathan and
Sherburn are on the records. Daniel, Esq., was re-
cently a successful teacher. John and Martin have
been in trade here and in Salem, Mass,

The Elkins family was formerly quite large.  Dan-
iel, Richard, Jonathan, James, John and Ezekiel are
among those early here, and for the most part lived
near the Buncook Mountains (west of them), and oue
family on the Lake road.

John Evans, Fsq., was a leading man, liviog on the
east part of the Lake-Shore road. Samuel andGeorge
were members of the family, and the tormer a teacher.
The name is not now found in the town.

The Edgerly name at Meredith Bridge, as Nathan-
iel, the register of deeds, is of later date.

The Edwards family was here early,and Nathaniel,
in the second generation, was a long while a propri-

etor and conductor ol the shoo business at Meredith
Bridge.

The Yoster family first located in the centre of the
Intervale, occupied the 1. Y. Smith place, and also,
later, on Miles River, near the Morrill Ilt-i;;{h[_l:_;r]lmj-.l,.
Thomas was first here betore 1806, aml Thowmas, Jr.
Jolin and Daniel continned the family to recent vesrs
but now the name is but little known. )

Samuel Foss was oarly living uear Mount Minor,

Bzekiel Flanders oceupied lund on the eust side ol
Monnt Prospect, and belongs to the Jaree fumily of
that nawe in Alton.  The line is still continued Jere,

James Follet came to Gilford about 1792, and
wrotight at blacksmith work. Ile was brother-in-law
to Rev. Richard Martin, snd settled near him on
Meeting-House (L1l e was efficient in pulilic as-
fairs, being repeatedly the collector of taxes, consta-
ble and captain in the militi. He ecarried on the
tauning business, and engaged to sonie extentin trade,
which his sons ulso took up and conducted at diflerent
places.  He raised o Jarge family of sons and
daughters ; the sonsare all enterprising, cfficient men
and the daughters have all married well,  They have
been scattered and reduced in numhers in later years,
and the original house, so intimately assoviated with
the early town-meetings and the Sabbuth mectings,
and the first store, Pearlex’s, has been burnt.  Sau-
uel Follet is ouce found on the tax-list, and that in
1510,

The Folsom name appears very early aud in fre-
quency, Joopathan Folsom signed the Test Paper
(political), in 1776, as an inhabitant of Gilmanton :
probably locuted not within the limits of the present
Giilford, as it is conceded that there were no families
then gettled on its territovy,  He is, however, a tux-
payer in 1813,  Abrabawm Folsom is said to bave set-
tled in town in 1751, and to have built his mill at that
date, forthe town gave the five acres tora wmill privileg
and built the bridge at his mills, or the Weirs (Lower
Weirs), the year hefore,—i. e, 1780,—and the bridee
was located above the mills in 1782, He subsequently
built his house on the Meredith side and wus a citizen
of that town, and the estate and property was incinded
thercin till that scction was sct ofl to Gillord re-
cently. Two lJots in the eighth range were sold 1o
build the bridge, and the five acres given to him, The
other families of this name were those off Nathanicl,
Benjamin, John, Dudley and others, who have held
high places in public affairs and several have Leen
distinguished.

The Gilmans are both conspicuous and uunmerous,
They came early and later. Foremost is Captain Jolin
F., who scttled near the Lily Pond in the same year
that Abraham Folsom came, in 1781, He was a prin-
cipal citizen and land-holder, and by bis captainey
wag always a marked character,  1lis family was by
adoption, including Jumes McCoy and Gilman Thing.
Ezekiel Gilman came the same year and settled near
Benjamin Jewett's pluce.  Lieutenant John Gilman

’
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settled on the south of Captain Johu F.; and Dudley
still further to the southwest, coming in 17595 and
Andrew possessed a large estate at the foot of the
menntains, west side, and near by Samuel and Joshua,
Levi and Samuel settled near Gunstock or Meeting-
1Tonse Hill.  Robinson Gilman loeated at Meredith
Bridge, and Antipas on Liberty Hill. These all bave
held lineal connections with the great Gilman fra-
ternity, and they are also, by one branch or other,

connected by intermarriages with most of the fami- |

lies of the town at Jarge. Most of them had large
families.

Abel (elder) and
Alton line and the mountains.

1796,

Manoah Glidden settled near
The latter came in

They were leading men in that section, and |

their descendants are still in possession of the estates, |

Abel (2d) is also a minister,
of native talent,

Levi, John and Jethro Goss settled on the north
part of Gunstock Hill, and from that place the large
families of sons and danghters seitled in different
parts of the town and elsewhere. The homesteads
have passed out of the name, but not all of them from
the lineal heirs,

Elijah Gove seitled on the west side of Gunstock
Hill, and his son Daniel was a snccessor to the estate,
and u mechanic and constructor of varions farming
implements.  The estate is in the same name.

Lhavid Gould settled Lund to the southeast of (iil-
ford village and had one son and one daughter. They
all lived to a good old age and the family became
extinet. They were engaged in cooperage and were
in comfortable eircumstances,

Jonathan Grant was carly an inhabitant, and
several families of the name, as Paul's, Daniel’s and
Levi's, have been citizens, They have been located
in the south and in the north extremes of the eastern
part of the town, and their families are but little
represented now.,

The names Godfrey, Cireene, (Gilbert and Gilford
were known at Meredith Bridge,

Jueol Hacket and John Hacket settled in Chattle-
borough and their families have lhecome extinet, or
nearly so, and the remnant has removed.

David Hale settled on the Oaks road and was a
prominent citizen and of good property, but died
ahout the time the town was incorporated. The name
has disappeared. The Hibbard and Plummer fami-
lies suceeeded to the estate, and they, in turn, have
become extinet in that neighborhood,

Nathan Hateh settled in the lower Gunstock Valley
and earried on the cooper’s business, and had a tamily,
who are still in Gilford, though not occupying the
homestead or pursuing the trade,

The Moyt family wus one of prominence and large
numbers and rank. Simeon, Daniel and Enoch Hoyt

The father was a man |

settled in Chattleborough and held large estates and |

excellent lands, They had Jarge tamilies, who settled
in different parts of the town and many emigrated 1o

l
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other places. Simeon Hoyt built, with Ebenezer
Smith, Fsq., the Gunstock Mills in 1789, six years
after his settling in Gilford. Ebenezer Hoyt went to
Hampstead, and Samuel, James and James, Jr., were
citizens in 1806,

James Hoyt (3d) is also in the list of 1813 and
1808, Oune of this name lived near Lieutenant J,
Gilman’s, and one settled near the Upper Weirs and
had two sons, who were well educated and held posi-
tions of importance in edncational affairs, und a
daughter, who was married to Captain Winborn San-
horn, so long in command of steamers on the lake
and lately deceased. Colonel Penslee Hovt settled at
the base of Mount Major; Nathaniel on Liberty
Hill; Simeon, Jr., Enoch, Jr., and Thomas near
Chattleborough Pond. These families were in good
social standing and were active citizens.

The name of Huunt is also of prominence. Ahel
Hunt eame in 1783 and settled near the Intervale,
He raised a large family and carried on the carpen-
ter’s and cabinet-maker’s bunsiness. He had the only
turning-lathe in the place, and made chairs and other
turniture, He was employed to do the inside work
and constrncet the pews in the first choreh.

Enoch Hunt settled, in 17¢4, near Captain I, F,
Gilman’s and was & prominent vitizen, and his sons—
William, Samuel, Joseph, Ebenezer 8., John S, and
Enoch—were persons of standing and figured largely
in pnblic affairs, Benjamin Hunt also settled in this
vicinity ; his sucecessors carried on mechanical enter-
prises and have settled elsewhere,

The names of Horn, Hadley, Hill and Hutchinson
also are found mmong the early inhabitants; the two
last named lived at the foot of Gunstock Monntain,
and the name has ceased to exist there,

Aaron Jackson settled near Jacob Jewett's and
was related to Richard Martyn by marriage, His
son Stanford built near him and committed suicide
in his building. The name has disappeared.

Major Jabez James came into town in 1754 and
settled near Cotton’s IIill, on the north incline, on
some excellent land,  He was one of the largest tax-
payers in the first years. His estate still remains in
the name and the fumily holds its rank. He was a
Revolutionary soldier and had sons, John and Jona-
than, who settled near. Jonathan and John James
scitled near each other in the same neighborhood
and their families are still represented in the place,
though some have removed to other places. The
families were not large, bnt of good standing and
worthy in example,

The Jewett families, already allnded to, are of
honurable mention and have been important as eon-
nected with the business affuirs and pursuits of the
people.  Samuel Jewett s said to have settled in
1777 (though another statement makes him to have
heen first mentioned in the records in 1789) and lived
a half-mile from the Bridge, or Falls, and above
them. e sold land for a mill privilege in 1780,
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Benjamin and Jacob settled, suceessively, to the north
of him, and their estates extended in g line two miles
to the northeast. Their families have continned
distinet and prominent till the present time. lo
1306, Benjamin, Jr., is found in the list, Ile sue-
ceeded, about 1516, Jonas Slecper in trade and other
business at Gilford village and did the chiet business
there for many years, As postmaster, justice, town
treasurer and in other positions of trust and responsi-
bility he proved a valuable citizen and eflicient
ofticial.  His brothers were John and Moses,  Other
fumilies of the name were John, Swmith, Woodman,
Samuel, Jr., and Rev. Daniel; all active men.

Joseph Jones was a eitizen in I813, but does not
appear in earlier lists,

Abel, Samnel and Duapiel Kimbal and George
Keniston were assessed, but the time and place of
their settlement is not eertain.  Later, Mr. Kimbal
lived north of Samuel F. Gilman.

Elder John Knowles settled on the south part of
Liberty Hill and became the minister of a church
organized in that part of the town. He also preached
at Gilford village and other places.  Ile was a farmer
at the sume time and a man of high standing. His
sons, Jolm D, and Elbridge, became minisicrs also,
The former preached at various places and embraced
Second Adventism, The latter was settled at the
Province Road Church, a Free-Will Baptist.  Wil-
liam, another son, lived at different places, and was
a while the miller at the Hoyt (then Morrill’s) Mill.
Another son became a Shaker at Canterbury. The
family and pame is but limitedly known uat the
present time,

Colonel Samuel Ladd eame to Meredith Bridge and
bought of Stephen Gale his mill and mill privilege.
This mill was built abont 1775 on the Meredith side
and was carried away by a freshet in 1779, In 1780,
Colonel Ladd rebnilt the mill on the Gilford side, and
also built a dwelling-house, which was the first one
at that place, and has ever since been known as the
Mill-House. The dam built here proved insuflicient
to withstand the pressure of so great a voluwme of
water. It was carried away three times (in three
successive years) after Colonel Ladd buile it and onee
before. The mill was burnt in 1788 and rebuilt and
enlarged, with machinery for sawing added to that
for grinding. With heroic vourage, he cstablished
the milling business at this place. Dudley Ladd con-
tinved the enterprise, and Jonathan appears taxed
in 1813,

John Lamprey scttled near the Alton line and
bunilt a saw-mill on a small stream near his honse,
His was the only family of that name in Giltord at
that time, but at a later date a family of the name
Jocated at Meredith Bridge. He was a man of great
strength and endurance.  His sons were John, Rich-
ard, Samuel and Revben, who settled in diflercnt
places. The family is but limitedly represented at
the present time here.

i

Winthrop, Moses and Vowell Laagley appear in
the lists, and their location was in the northwest part
of the town, and the name is not now common,

The Lenvitt family is reckoned as among the carly
comers into town,  Stephen is said to have come in
1785, and Jonathun in 1794, The particular tamilies
that have located in town, besides Jonathaw’s and
Stephen’s, were those of Reuben, Jonathan, Jr.,
Lieutenant Sumuel and Miles, all on the Lake-
Shore road ; and Benjamin, Stephen, Jr., and Jacob,
all on the Intervale; Miles Jr., in the Miles River
Valley ; Nehemiah, Samuel, Jr., and Jonathan (the
Little) and bLevi, elsewhere in town.  The family
grant was a large one, and the descendauts are
widely dixpersedd and  variously connected.  Fred-
erick Lewis is in the list, but his loeation is
uncertain,  Joseph and Benjumin Libby settled on
the Ouaks road, aud later, Elias occupied the place.
The family was of good repute, and is still there.
Levi Lovit was one of the earliest settlers, first lo-
cating near Black Brook, theu near Governor's Is-
land, after a short residence in Meredith; his trade
was that of basket-making, and the sons followed
the same business,  Ephraim Mallard settled early
at Meredith Bridge, and carried on the cabinet and
furniture business; and he was tor many years moder-
ator at town-mectings, and was a man of distinetion,
and trustworthy.,  Was represcutative, and held sev-
eral other offices in the gift of the people. The only
other family of the name was that of Henry, a
brother, who lived at the centre and castern part of
the town, iu ditferent houses. James MeCoy was
brought to town by Cuptain 8. 1% Gilman, by whom
he was bronght up, and near whom he lived, e had
the care of the burying-ground in that part of the
town, and was thonght to have magic power, or art, to
cure the toothache. His family and name have not
been known in town for some years,

Ilder Richard Martin eame to Gilford in the year
1796, PFonr years previous, in 1792, two moeting
houses were begun in what was then called, s a whole,

" the Upper Parish, viz.: the Provinee Road aud the

Gunstoek mecting-houses.  The one was intended as
a Necond Parish Congregational Chureh; and, us the
Baptist interests and canse was pushed in the Lower
Parish, to a separation the Upper Parish Church
{being built by common taxation, or town aidd) was to
be for the free nse of Baptists also, and even of any
other dissenting parties or bodies. The Baptists were
conceded the nse of the chureh a portion of the time,
and to the ocenpancy of the chureh for that part of
the time Elder Martin was invited by the DBaptist
party, as he had been ordained the year previous, al
Lee, as w Baptist preacher. He settled on the ot
next to the chureh. It is not stated that this lot was
the one regularly reserved as a parsonage lot, It purtly
abutted on the lot set apart, in 1780, for the minis-
terial support, viz.: No. 10, in the thirteenth range,
and the oue on which the village is mostly situated,
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A forty-ucre lot, on the south end of the second divi-
sion o such lots, was, in 1771, assigned, apparently, for
sach of the two Upper Parish ministerial supports, aud
another once hundred uere lot in Tioga, No, 13 of the
seventh range, so that the two North Purish enter-
prises seemed to have their provisions made for sup-
port. Perbaps the Baptists did vot claim exclusive
right to this; hence Mr. Martin did not settle on it.
He built is house conveniently near to the church
as it were, forty rods.

When measures were taken to install him by the

Baptists he dissented Irom the Calvinistic feature of

their articles of faith, being an Immersionist, but not
a Cualvinist,  He therefore became a preacher of that
party, which also rejected the Calvinistic sentiments
and which was organized into an Ami-Calvinistic
Baptist Church, agreeing substantially with the
preachings of Benjamin Randal and John Buzzell
and which had already been termed the Free-Will
Baptists,

He exereised his ministry with and for this class of

people, in this and adjoining places, tor a little more
than twenty-five vears, until his death, in 1824, e
was a man endeared and faithful. He cultivated his
furm, and, with his sons, curried on some bnsiness in
the line of tanning, as did his brother-in-law, James
Follet, who was settled by his side.  His family in-
cluded two sons—Richard, Jr., and Joho L.—and a
dunghter, who married George Saunders.  These
were persons of marked power,  Richard was efficient
as a ready lay preacher, and John L. as a propagator
of doctrines differing from those held by the father,
and more coincident with the Universalist faith,
He was prominent in publie civil affuirs while he re-
mained a citizen of Gilford, from which he emigrated
after the death of his father, and was of honorable
standing elsewhere.  Richard, Jr., lived at Lake
village, or near therve, for many years, and left a
daughter.

Aaron Muartin, of another lineage, was a manu-
facturer of paper at Meredith Bridge, in the days of
its beginning. 1lis puper-mill, located on the Giliord
side, was burnt, and ceased operations many yedrs
ago, and the manufactory has not been rebuilt or the
work resunied by other adventorers,

The Martin name has not been on the lists in later
yeurs,

Licutenant Samuel B, Mason and Ephraim Mason
are in the lists. Mason located near the lake, east
from Governor's Island. The family, once ol sume
gtanding, has not remained to the present.

Cualeb Marsten came to town in 1793, and settled
east of the Intervale, on the Monntain road. e was
a man of leading ability, a leader in micetings, and
improved his gifts as lay preacher, aud was Jdeacon of
the first church.  He had but one son, Captaiu Caleb
(., who was a promiuent citizen, and several daugh-
ters, who became well connected; und, though the
nawe has disappeared, the lincal descendants are
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many, and preserve the qualitics of the puarent
stock.,  Somce of the best elements of socicty are
traceable to this source,

Juwmes Merrill settled on the Intervale, and from
this tamily was Major J. (). Merrill descended.  The
family had but few members.

Another brother settled sonth of Folsom’s Mills,
and was a farmer.

John Meloon was an early settler and wmiller at the
Morrill grist-mill,

A son, Waldo, emigrated 1o Bear Island, and the
name ig no longer known here.

John Mooney eame from New Duorhuam, and settled
near Alton, on the Mountain road. e was @ man
ol standing and property, “1le had a large family ;
his sons were Benjumin, Burnhawm, Joscph, Stephen
(who was a preacher among Adventists) and Charles.
The estate is still held in the name, and many of the
deseendants live in the vieinity,

The Morrill families are prominent among the in-
habitants, These are not from the same stock, and
are loeated in ditferent parts.

Barnard  Morrill came early irom Brentwood ;
worked with Jeremiah Thing and learned the tan-
ning business, Mr. Thing's residence and business was
on Liberty Hill.  Afterwards Mr. Morrill located at
Hoyt & Smith’s mill, on the ministry lot, and carried
on the tanning and shoe business, Subsequently he
purehased the mill and the grist-mill and the
ministry lot, and carried on the large part of the
business of the place. He was esquire and eaptain
and a leading man in his times. He had but one son,
Greneral J. J. Morrill, who continued his business,
enlarged it and, in company with other men at
different times (in the tanning department only),
prosecuted it for many years by steam-power, The
lumbering interests have all the time engaged their
special attention.  The property held by them has
been large, and located in different parts of the town
and elsewhere.  Farming, and on an improved plan,
has been successfully and continuously conducted,
and profitably.

Jonathan Morrill settled in the upper part of the
Miles River Vulley, at the natural pond included in
the Foster’s Pond flowage., The descendants, a large
family of sons, settled in the immediate vieinity,
valled the Morrill Neighborhood,  They have gained
wealth by industry and ceconomy, and still hold their
nuntbers and standing.

James Morrill settled near the mountaing ; Zehedee,

near the Jewetts; Samuel and John 1, at the foot of

Mount Major, and afterwards elsewhere.

Amos Morrill carried on the wool-carding business
at Hoyts Mills at one time, which business was
transferred to the fulling-mill below, on the same
stream, and carried on by other parties,

Benjamin and Henry and Uriab Morrison were
eitizens at early times, the latter being minister of
the Baptist Church when it worshiped in the Gun-
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stock meeting-house, or in the school-honse and
other places in the vicinity, as that was their enstom
for many years hefore the church was built at Lake
village, He came from Somersworth to supply the
Baptists in the Upper Parish, then organized iuto the
Second Church, and placed under his eare in 1811,
He lived near the Locklin, in the house afterwards
occupied by Dr. Josiah Sawyer. e died in 1817,
after a pastorate of about six vears, and hiz wife died
soon after this, in 1819, and the fawily did not remain
in town afterwards,

The other Morrison families were not long con-
tinued in town, save that of James and Abram.
Benjamin is said to be of Deerfield,

The Morrison family located on Liberty Hill, of
whom Mrs. Barnard Morrill, Esq., was descended
(viz., Jonathan Morrison, who was a Revolutionary
soldier), emigrated elsewhere, and was succeeded by
John Stevens, (He lived awhile, after leaving
Gilford, in Tuftonborough, N. H.)

James Morrison succeeded to his futher's estate at
Meredith Bridge, and was a teacher at times, and
afterwards carried on the wool-carding business at
Meredith Bridge, in the old Parker warp-mill, and
added fulling and dressing of cloth to his business,
and was succeeded iu the business by the Buzzells,—
father and sons. He left no family, and was a nan
of good ability and decided character,

Abram Morrison, his brother has long been a bnsi-
ness man at the same place. He kept the Eager
Hotel from 1846 to 1857, the Willard from 1837 to
1868, and since then a livery-stable, and snceeeds to
the homestead and brother’s residence.

Captain John Moody was assessed It not definitely
located. The Moody family and name was known to
the Lower Parish, and not, save as land-holder, here,

Jacob Maorse settled on the border of Alton, near
two song,—Abner and David,—whose families still
remain. They were industrious farmers,

Dr. George W. Munsey, in boyhood, lived with
Samuel Blaisdell. In yonth he studied at Dummer’s
Academy, in Newbnry, Mass, and was a teacher;
when a young man, marricd Hannab Buarton, of
Epsom, and atierwards practiced medicine in Moul-
tonborough, Centre Harbor and Gilford, living in
several places in this town, as at David Hale’s, on the
Ouaks road, near the Alton line, on the Pond road,
and ai two places in the Centre village, He was «
practitioner of ne ordinary ability and skill; hug,
having a large family to support and an unremuner-
ative practice, peculiar to those days, was often in
straitened circnmstances. e had good powers of
oratory, and after the Washingtonian movement, led
by John Hawking, he lectured on temperance as a
reformed man. He lived past his four-score, and his
wife to her one hundredth vear. Ot his sons, Barton
is a physician of the eclectic practice and the home-
opathic principle, His skill as a practitioner and
handiness as an artisan are beyond doubt,  He early
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worked at the jeweler's business, and in that showed
rare inventive ability, His travel has been exteusive,
both in this and in other conntries, and his attain-
ments are commensurate, .

Thicother sons were George W, Benjumin, William,
Antox Prescot and David Hall,  Of these, George W,
first, and alterward Amos Prescot and David Hall
worked at the trade of shoe-making ; and Williun
and Benjamin, who emigrated to Cape Ann, were in
trade and business there.  Of the six daughters, four
remain living, and are active in their spheres. One
of these is the wife of Rev. Josiah Gilinan, of Livim,
Mass,

Josial and Robert Monlton are carly tax-pavers,
but tradition fixes not their habitat; and Johny L &/
of Meredith Bridge, wasof prominence as postmaster,
trader and later as w mannfacturer.  He began bnsi-
ness at Lake village, where he was burnt ont.  1lis
soctul and politieal and oflicial stunding has been
lLigh.

Captain Jopathan Nelson was tux-payer, but his
Liabitat uncertain.

Captain John 8. Osgood settled near Samuel Jow-
ett's, and Samuel located on Liberty Hill; Prescot at
Meredith Bridge, The name aud fumily was of some
stunding.  In later years Enoch Osgood (wheel-
wright) lived at Gilford village, and Dr. Oscoad
{dentist) practiced his profession at Laconia,

Of Micajuh Osborne, only his assessment is men-
tioned.

John and Joseph Odlin have becn citizens and
tradesmuen in recent times,

A Page family, that of a =oldier in the War of the
Revolution, wassettled near Daniel Toyt’s. The house
and family soon disappeared, but Henry Page, of San-
down, wasa tax-payer for many years, aud then ecases
that name altogether.

Captain Ruofug Parish iz tax-payer for Cyuthia
Puarish,

William Peasley also is a tax-payer, though prob-
ably non-resident.,

Stephen Pearly was settled at Meredith Bridge,
where he was in trade, and stocked a store at Jumes
Faollet's, and by clerkscarried on a business some years.
He was a tax-payer in the carly years of the town o
man of distinetion and enteeprise at the village where
hie lived, The tumily incladed Dr, John L. Pearly, of
some note as a practitioner amd as a eitizen ol Mere-
dith and Laconia.

The Piper family wuas settled first in the south-
eastern part of the town, and the names of Nathaniel
and Thomas arc the only anes in the early tax-lists.
Alfred Jost an arm and lived many vears at Mere-
dith Bridge.

Henry Plummer came early to Gilmanton.  Henry,
Jr., settled at the base of Mount Miner, or the Piper
Mountain ; he was @ mason by trade. William or
Billy Plummer is in the list, and Jesse Phimmer also

lived near the mountain, The heirs of Hannah
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Plutimer are also in the list of the ussessed.  Thonas
and Moses are Tound dwelling on the Oaks road on
the homestead, and Thomas laterat the Pluins and in
Lake villuge.  He wus a wheelwright and worked at
that trade many yvears, and died at an advanced age
and left no tamily.  Moses leit twe sons, Thomas and
James, who were active business wen, but lived at
different places,  James was hotel landlord and
tradesman,

Joseph and Israel Potter settled early in the vicinity
of Gilford village. They were brothers, held good
lot= and their families remain to this day. They
came directly from the Lower Parish, where Samuel
Potter settted in 1783, Their families were not large
and they both worked at shoe-making. In the second
generation these lamilies were large, through Joseph,
Jr., of one, und Thomas of the other.  The late Adju-
tant John M. and Thomas D)., of Boston, being of
considerable note s traders and manufacturers, rep-
resent these families respectively,

Jonathan Prescot came to Gilmanton in 1793, and
died in 1309, Jonathan, of the third generation, son of
Timothy, was tax-payer in 1813. Horatio (+, was also
a citizen at the same time, and did business at Mere-
dith Bridge, and was the first postmaster there, in
1824, The oflice was named simply Gilford, though
sometimes kept on the Meredith side.

Richard Palmer is assessed in 1808, but his habitat
is uncertain.

Jacob Quimby was a resident at oune time near the
Intervale.

Lientenant Philbrook Rand secttled ncar Abel
Hunt's in 1790, and north of Gunstock Hill, and im-
proved some excellent land.  The family still occupy
the old homestead, and Simon, his son, has been a
prominent citizen. Joseph Rand lived awhile at the
village, and removed from the town in its fisst years,
‘The Rand tamily was not large. George Rand was
once a resident, hut emigrated carly, and Samuel also,

Benjumin Richardson appears to be an inbabitant
in 1513, Habital uncertain,

Joseph Robberts, from New Durham, settled in
the Mooney ncighborhood, and was, by trade, a
tailor.  He carried on also farming, and had a large
family, of whom Charles and Joseph are suecessiul
bhusiness men in Deston,—dealers in iron and ma-
chinery.  They wronght at Dblacksmithing belore
leaving Gilford.  The tamily has gone from the
homestead, and settled in various places,

The Rollins name, so common in Alton, had one
representative in Gilford in John Rollins, who is
taxed tor property near the Alton line. FElder John

Rolling, from  Moultonborough, preached a \\'I}ilt!,l

suceeeding Richard Martin,

The Rowe family is quite extensive, and was early
settled in the place. Fzekiel and Jacob eame in
179, Jeremiah appears soon after, and Richard and
Hamuel; also Jeremiah (2d and 3d), and  Joseph.
They settled in the south part of the town, ncar
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Liberty and Cotton’s Hills. Kelley Rowe was after-
wards a Buptist preacher, though never ordained.
Benjumin Rowe came from Brentwood in 1516, and
worked at the wool-carding business, at the Upper
Mill, near Hoyt's saw-mill, and also at the Lower Mill,
whither the machinery was removed. e also car-
vied on farming, brick-making and the making o
farming implements, as wheels, plows, rakes, ete.
He lived to be nearly one hundred years old; was a
teacher of vocal music and a drammer in early life.
His oldest son, Hon. John M., wus long engaged in
the quarry business, at Frankfort, Me., and resides
still there. Another son, Benjamin I, was professor
of elocution, teaching that department at Bowdoin
College and elsewhere, and died young. The members
| of this family were all excellent singers and musicians.

Moses Rowell settled on the Ouks road, between
the Weirs and Upper Weirs, and had two sons, Jucob
and Philip. These three families are nearly extinet;
the pame iz not left.

Jacob Rundlet (sometimes spelled Ranlet) settled
‘near Governor’s lsland, and was a man of influence,
and held the office of deacon. The family name
is lost, though a lineal descendant represents the
family. Theophilus Ranlet is the only other one of
the name on the tax-list,

Isaac Ruonnells settled on the Intervale at the
Thomas Foster place. The name and family have
not hud a representative in later years,

Thomas Saltmarsh, sclectman the first vear of the
town's corporate state, had settled at the Pond, called
sometimes the Saltmarsh Pond, and sometimes Chat-
tleborongh Pond, after the name of one Thomas
Chattle, who had lived awhile and squatted on the
oppoesite (south ) shore of it; and he (Saltmarsh) had
a good farm and good social standing, The family
continued, represented hy three sons, Thomas, Wil-
Ham and Seth, but has now disappeared,

The SBandborn, or Sanborn family, is extensive and
of several distinet divisions.  The numerons inhabit-
ants of Sanbornton are allied.  Deacon Jonathan
settled at the toot of Liberty Hill, and had a good
He was a man of piety and influence, and
his sons were Jonathan, Jacob and Joseph. The
latter was a trader at Giliord village, and carried on
extensively the cooperage business, making barrels
for the Portsmouth market. Israel settled south of
Liberty Hill, and his son was Deacon Levi, of Mere-
dith Bridge, and daughter Mary, the school-mistress
of those early vears, Benjamin Sanborn, of another
lineage, settled in the Jewett neighborhood; and his
sons were Benjamin Jr., Esq., aml Abinl.  Lowell
Sanborn, of still avother lineage, whose sons were
Lowell, Richard and Elisha, settled near the lake,
off’ Governor's Island : and Samuel Gilinan Sanborn,
father of Captain Winborn and John G, (also a son
of Lowell, Sr), was located in the same neighbor-
hood, and was a man of nncommon ability and hon-
orable influence.
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Richard settled near Captain = F. and Lieuten-
ant John Gilman, He @ carpenter, as was
Lowell and hix sous, and also his own three sons,—
Lowell, Jr,, Richard, Jr,, and Osgood, Dy hese six
or seven men much of the building ol those days was
done. Samuel and David are veckoned in the same
connection.  Benjamin, of Laconia, the carpenter,
was of the family of Lowell ; and Benjamin, the shoe-
dealer, first at Lake village and later of Laconi,
was of another family. Mesheck Sanborn came later
to Gilford village from Brentwood, to conduct the
wool-carding and fulling business.  He bought and
rin the Chapman (or Mingo) Mill; was afterwards post-
master and storé-keeper, alone and in company ; was

wis

town clerk and in various places of responsibility, Ie |

had no sons, hut five danghters, who are well con-
nected, one of them being the wite of General J. J.
Morrill, and another married Dr. A (r. Weeks,
Lowell Sanborn, popularly termed Deacon Lowell,
4 millwright and mechanic at large, was from Gil-
manton, and returned thither and was miller at Mor-
rill's grist-mill awhile., Joseph Sanborn, the tailor,
lived and worked at his trade pear Guanstock Hill.
John Sargent settled very near and to the zonthwest
of Captain Gilman’s. He had no son; so his estate
was inherited by his son-in-law, John X, Hunt.  Wil-
liam Sargent, draver and later a hiotel-keeper at Lake
village, first settled on that part of Meredith, and
later of Laconia, which has been lately aunexed to
Gilford, He was a man of business, and had suffered
the loss of an arm and an eye. George Sanders set-
tled near the lake, by the Sanhorns, and was a lead-
ing citizen. He married the daughter of Richard
Martin, had a superior farm, and a son of his, (reorge
W., still lives in town, though not on the homestead,
but near by, on the Intervale, at Captain I P. Smith's
place. 8. W. Sanders, dealer
conia, is of another fumily.

Josiah Sawyer early settled on the height of land
west of the Miles River Valley, and cultivated a
large plant there and adjacent.  His sons were Is-
rael, Dr. Josiah, John and Joseph, and of these,
Israel had the homestead, John settled in West Alton,
Joseph in Gilmanton, and Dr, Josiah practiced med-
icine in Gilford. He was a practitioner of some
medical skill, though not read in the regular course,
Religiously, he held deistical sentiments,  The Saw-
yer name is still kept, thaugh there were but few
males in the line. Seth Sawyer afterwards preached
a while in the Gilford village chnreh.

Thomas, William, Mathiss and John Sewall arve the
individuals bearing this surname. Thomas first fived in
the south part of the town, near Liberty Hill; subse-
quently he maved to the plains near Black Brook und
married the widow of Sammel Bartlett ; he sas a drover
at one time. Mathias lived near him there and also at
other places, and worked at the tanning business, as
did alsn Thomas., He lived at Gilford village at dif-
ferent times and worked at Thing's and Momill's

in hardware at La-
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tanneries,  William and John are supposed to hiave
remained at the south part of the town,  The family
name hus disappeared, though a lineal descendant ve-
mains.

Levi Shaw settled first near srael Potter's, on
the Sanboru place, then at or near Saltmarsh Pond,
and afterwards to the south of the pond.  He was 2
man of great physical strength and endurance.  The
family name has become extinet, but the line is
kept by other names,  William Sibley early settled
near Gunstock Mountain,  1is father was the first
merchant in Gilmanton.,  1Hs halt-brother, George
Littlefield Sibley, located at Meredith Bridge ; waus
in trade many years and agent of the railroad com-
pavy, and afterwards retired and died at great age.
William Nibley had no male children, amd Mre. Jolin
Elkins sncceeded to the paternal estate,  The family
name 1s now exunet,

The name of Sleeper is represented by Fsgnire Ne-
hemiah, Henry, Joseph and Jonas,  Nchemiah, Esq.,
settledd on the lake-shore, near Esguire Evans', and
was possessed of 1 good estate, to which George,
now of Laconia, succeeded,  Joseph and MHenry were
settled near Wm, Sibley’s, at the west buase of Gun-
stock Mountain, and Henry did business at Gilford
village and emigrated thence. Joseph was the ac-
credited surveyor of his times, and had defined ior
conveyance most of the lands of the tawn.  He snb-
sequently moved to the farm in the Jewett neighbor-
hood. Henry, Jr,, lives at Lake village, and has held
important offices in the town government. Jonas
mleeper was trader at Gilford village and died of
spotted fever in the epidemie of the winter of 1514-
1315,  His sons were Dr. Franeis, of Laconia ; Jounas,
Tawyer, of Huverhill, N. H.; and Sarah, lateiy Mrs.
=mith, of Bankok, Siamm. It was intellectual
family. The mother was the daughter of Farmer
Bean, of Gilmanton. The daughter was preceplress
at New Hampton, and one of the tirst missionaries of
the Baptist Society to India, and she has lived there
for a period of some fifty vears, Franeis was maimed
in childhood by the fracture of his skull from a
fragment of a blast; and, though he sustained the
loss of some portion of the brain, yet skillful sur-
gery restored health, and there scemed no detriment
of intellectnal ability resultant.  The mother mar-
ried Benjamin Jewett, Jr,, Esqg., and died snon aiter,

The Smith family is of special importance in Gil-
ford history. Judge Ebenezer Smith, of Meredith,
was @ man superior in the affairs of the State
about the time of the Revolutionary War. Tlis
gonnection with the carly surveys of this territory
epabled him to know the location of the best lunds.
He chose considerable tracts on and near the Inter-
vale, amd between bogs in Meredith,  Ilis
Ebenczer, Esy. aud John, Esq., improved the land
thus selected here—squire Ebenezer at the head,
and Esquire John at the foot of the Intervale. One
Oliver Smith, also connected with the survey, had a
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place and a rode building on the east margin of the
Intervale,

The sons of Esgquire Fbenezer were John, Isaac,
Daniel, Joseph P. and Ebenezer, Jr.  Jolin oceupied
the homestend after the sudden and accidental death
of the father, and had no sons, Ebenezer, Jr., located
a little distance north of the homestead, and had one
son, Jeremiah,  Joseph P.osettled at different places,
elsewhere and at the village, and finally on the flank
of the Intervale, near Caleb Marston's estate—a place
bought of Joseph Fificld, and improved by True Bean,
and he had no sons. Daniel was of an inventive
nature, and engaged in manufacturing at Meredith
village, and aiterwards, on a reverse in business,
lived at his futher-in-law’s, Richard Dame’s, and
engaged in farming, and still later lived at Gilford
village, where he died, and left no son.  Isuac settled
on the Lake-Shore road, beyond the limits of Giliord,
and he had noson. The family held social distine-
tion from first to last.

The other son of Judge Smith, John, Fsq., lived
awhile here, and latterly at the homestead in Mere-
dith, and his son, Captain John, or Deacon John,
ealled John P., occupied the spacious house in Gilford,
The property of father and son, as well as that of the
grandfuther, was great, and was increased by inherit-
ance from another son of Judge Smith, Daniel, of
Meredith. The religious character of Esquire John
andd Deacon John P. was well marked and of a
high order, and generous gifts to the needy were of
no infrequent ocenrrence.  Here was an asylum for
the distressed. John P. had two sous and one
daughter,— Daniel K., a proficient scholar, a survevor
of precision and repute, who died in middle age, after
holding & major's commission and being married, but
having no issue; John P, Jr, who still lives in
Gilford ; and the wife of Richard Gove, of Laconia,
many years ago deceased, and without issue. A son
of Washington Smith, of Meredith (the remaining
son of Judge Smith), by the name of Joshua, lived
in that part of Laconia lately anncxed to Gilford.
John Rice Smith, of Meredith, has been a tax-payer
in Gilford on account of land ocenpied by sons-in-
law, Stanford Jackson and Dudley Gilman and Moses
Daockham, The Smith name was not, as elsewhere,
proverbially common here,

The Htevens family was early in Gilford, Panl
Stevens, who worked at shoe-making, first lived in
the south part of the town, and then pear Israel
Potter’s, in the house built by Samuel Potter. He
had a large family, of which was Colonel Ebenczer
Stevens, who worked at the blacksith trade at Gil-
ford village, and since living at Meredith village, —u
man of high social standing and rare ability. Also
William, who also worked at blacksmithing at Gil-
ford village, and afterwards emigrated to the West,
having ene daughter, the wife of Benjamin Wad-
leigh, Ksq. Also Puul, Jr., who was a masen by
trade; and Swmith, aud John and Moses, and several
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danghters, who were residents, and conducted busi-
ness in the line of millinery at several plaees.

John Stevens settled on Liberty Hill and had a
large estate there, bought of Jonathan Morrill, e
had souns, Sherburn, Hubbard and Sickum, The
estate was later occupied by his danghters, but has

| since passed into other hands. The sons, except Sher-

burn, moved to other places, and the other members
of the family also removed. Sherburn lived south of
Liberty Iill and, at last, near Laconia,  He had two
sons, Frank and Jobn, who were dentists, and the
former was also physician,

Daniel Stevens was an early settler, and located at
the south part of the town. Benjamin Stevens lived
near Lieutenant John Gilman, and afterwards moved
to the town of Hill. Ensign Stevens (so called), once
lived on Gunstock Hill, where Jeremiah Gilman
afterwards lived, and later lived at Lake village and
elsewhere,

Nathaniel Stevens, a tailor, came to Meredith
Bridge about 1840, and pursued his vocation there
many years, and with good success.

Nathen Swain and Joseph Swain were citizens; the
latter located near the Locklin, and had sons, Moses
and Silvester, who live elsewhere. He was a man
of religious activity. His wife died from burns,
when his house was consumed. The estate has gone
out af the name, but to direct heirs,

Chase Swain lived at different places, and a son,
Charles, was a blacksmith at Giltord village and other
places,

Henry Swasey lived in the west part of the town,
and his son Henry served his time at Itenry Whit-
tier’s, and has since been in trade at Lake village,

Littlefield Taylor was in the tax-list of I813, and
his residence not indicated.

Badger Taylor was a machinist at Meredith Bridge
for many years. He had ome son, who became a
minister, and a daughter who was well connected.

General Tay (so called), lived at Meredith Bridge,
and was builder there.

The Thing family is an old one, and includes Jere-
miah, Jesse, Joseph, Jeremiah, Jr., and Morrill, and
some of later generations, though not numerous.

Jeremiah settled on Liberty Hill before the begin-
ning of this century, and carried on the tanning busi-
ness, and had Bernard Morrill as apprentice, and
others. He came from Brentwood and had two sons,
Jeremiah, Jr., and Morrill, who also were tanners,
The former lived at the homestead till, in later years,
he went into trade with Jewett & Chase, at the vil-
lage, and, still later, at New Hampton.

He was in his younger years a school-teacher and a
severe disciplinarian,  Morrill Thing earried on the
tanning business at Gilford village for several years,
and afterwards al the homestead; and, after the
death of his parents, moved to the Mathias Weeks
place, and remained there till death. He was
repeatedly in oflice as sclectman and representative

.
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and in other positions.  He was well versed in town
aflairs, and, in the Legislature, 4 man of ability and
trust,  is fwnily were mostly short-lived, anid but
few of them remain. His wite was trom the line of
Esquire Benjamin Weeks, and an executive woman,
Associated is Jesse Thing, of whom less is known
now. Joseph Thing lived near the mountain, by
William Sibley’s.  His son Joseph lived at Lake vil-
lage, and a grandson is an artist in Ohio,.  He aitor-
wards moved to Lake village, and was o man of
ability. He was a carpenter by trade; built the
Goodhue house, and kept a small store. ITe was
elevated to positions of trust, and was a usetul eiti-
zen.  tiilman Thiog sueceeded to the Captain (ilman
estate, and had no son,

The Thompson family was one of the ecarly ones,
and quite large. David Thompson settled near the
Miles River in its middle course, His sons were
Jonathan, Jr., and Levi B., the latter being the
voungest of the family, and inheriting the homestead,
After the death of the parents he removed to Top-
sham, Me., and was in trade in Brunswick, Me., for

some years, where his son, Dr. A, J. Thompson, grad- |

uated.  He afterwards was in trade at Gilford village
with his older son, John, and, still later, moved 1o
Sanboruton,
Meredith Bridge; went into the army, and, after
practicing in Salem, Mass,, awhile, died there. He
was a man of superior talents and ot high sovial stand-
ing. Samuel Thompson settled on the Lake-Shore
road, near the Intervale, and had ihree sons, who
Jived elsewhere in the State.  Jounathan Thompson
lived on the road near Governor's lsland. Jacob
Thompson lived at varions places.  Thomas and
Charles are also named. Most of the members of
these three Thompson tamilies were of great statnre,
and one was ealled, to distinguish him from another
of the same name, ¥ Long Johm.”  The tamilies have
been much reduced in later years, and there is
scarcely any of the lineage bearing the name left in
town,

The Thurston family was early on the ground as
settlers,  Benjamin Thurston came soon aiter Sam-
uel, whao is recorded as settling in 1791, Samuel
Jocated in the south part of the town, and Benjamin
near the Intervale, Miles L. and Benjumin L. sue-
ceeded him in the order of desceut and on the home-
stead. They held a large landed estate, and were in
good circumstances and robust. The widow of Ben-
jamin (Ist) lived to be in her one hundredth year,
and left one son and several daughters. Daniel,
Benjamin, Jr., and Samuel, Jr., were of the other
original family, and settled in various places, some on
the Lake-Shore road and in Alton, Daniel Torsey
settled near the mountain, in the south part of the
town, but was reduced, and for long years lived at the
almshouse, and died aged. Henry and Alva Tucker
are in the list, The latter was o mechunic at Mere-
dith Bridge. He was a man of ability and good

Dr. A. J. Thompsou was in practice at |

Vb

stunding.  IMenry Wadleigh came to town with Ea-
quire Benjamin Weeks in 1787, Ie was son-in-luw
to Eagquire Weeks, and settled near him, and worked
at blacksmithing, Jle had sons, William and Ben-
Jumin, who also worked at the blacksmith trade, and
the tatter also at stone-entting, and has had iniporiaut
otticial positions, and is a skilled workman., The
family is still represented iu the thivd and fonrth
generations,

David Watson, of Meredith, cleared land in Gil-
tord, near the Gunstock River and the present village,
and began building in 1798, 1Hs sons, Jonathan
and Job, lived on the place. Jonathan also subse-
quently lived near the Locklin, in the Swain honse,
and at length moved back to Meredith, 1lis son,
Diavid, of Boston, was born in Giltord, and has been
long in business in Boston,  Job oceupicd the estate
in 1811, and had a large family.  Two sons, John and
Charles, graduated at Bowdoin College and at Union
seminary, and have Labored in various plices, David
beeame a earpenter, learned his trade in Lowell, and
worked there some years, and, later, at Laconia,
where he lives now. The daughters are settled in
different  places, and have Dbeen well connected,
Others bearing the name have at times resided in the
town.

John Webster, in 1206, and Dudley Webster, in
18138, are taxed; supposed to dwell near Malachi
Davis, and at a time near Jackson’s meadow,

The Wevks families are lurge and of special inm-
portance in the history ofthe town, both in its carlier
stages and in its more rvecent course.  Benjamin
Weeks, Esi., as has been said, came 1o this part of
the town in 1737, He had lost a barn and stock of
hay in the Lower Parish a little before by fire.  His
tather had died about the =ame time in Greenwood,
N. 1L, and left not muech property. e moved to
Burton for two or three years, and returned withont
sueeess, in 1792, He bonght land largely, and sold
wany pieces, and had four hundred or five hundred
acres.  Iis older brother, John, came with him and
lived near by, towards Jonathan Sanborn's, and died
in 1816, aged about eighty-four years, Deacon Nouh
Weeks, another brother, eame about the same time,
and settled to the southwest of him, on Liberty Tl
or its vieinity. Esquire Weeks had six sons and one
davghter, all born in the lust quarter of the last cen-
He aided them in education and to conuuence
trade.  Daniel, the oldest, began trade in 1801 at the
home place; Elisha, the third son, begau trade there
in 1802; Matthias, the second son, studied law, and
ron the tan-yard awhile; and Williwm attended the
academy at Gilmanton, fitted for college and gradu-
ated, and, being teeble in health, went South, and
aught & few years, und died in 1810, probbly the
first one trom this town, or its territory, who gradu-
ated at college, which was in 1806, Benjamin and
Levi R. also enguged in trade in their early life.
Sally married Henry Wadleigh, and was inelined to
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literary Dife, but died early., From these were a
large community of active, enterprising citizens,
Elisha =ettled in =traflord ; Levi R. moved to other
places; and from Benjamin’s and Daniel's families,
each large, came a number of tradesmen, and a good
share of the business in this puart of the town has
been done by them. The family of Dencon Noah—
viz,: Noah, Ira and Mathias—have also been of
honorable earcer, and have been marked for picty
and honesty.

« The Whittier family are also of honorable mention
and important, Deacon Andrew Whittier eame and
settled early near Danicl Hoyt's. He was a man of
influence, and raised # fumily who were among the
enterprising men of former days. Timothy succeeded
to the homestead, Jonathan settled nearly on the
north, amd was a wheelwright and framer. He after-
wards built and operated a mill, inclnding grist-mill,
thresher and  carriage-shop,  Andrew wrought at
shocmaking nearer the village, and at later times
lived, and died at his father-in-law'’s, Abel ITunt's,
Moses und Henry settled an the Oaks road, near the
Upper Weirs,  Moses was a mechanice, but Henry
was o farmer, and had no faniily.

John Weymonth is taxed in 1813; and Charles
Willey, who lived near Governor’s Island ; and Jacob,
at Lake village; and Jobh Wilson and DBenning Wil-
kinson, concerning whom little is known ; also Jere-
miah Young, of uncertain location and history. Dr.
I. K. Youny preached only a <hort time in the chureh
at Meredith Bridge, while it stood on the Gilford
side, Samuel York lived on the Intervale and had
sons and daughters,

These constitute the inhabitants till time brought
in new ones.

The Topography of the Town.—The form of the
plat iz, in & measure, determined by the water frontage
and the terminal mounntain run, [t would have becn
nearly rthombaoidal, but for the truncation of the south-
east corner, which was rendered advisable by reason
of such scction, by the line of the watershed upon
a continuous chain of eminences. The only line
that seems not determined by some natueal feature is
on the southwest, and iz there in coincidence with the
ranges of hundred-aere lots and lies between the elev-
enth and twelfth ranges—(a detachiment of & portion
of the eleventh range, near Winnesquam was made
only a few yeurs ago and annexed to Gilford, and still
Inter that samne, with theadjacent portion of the twelfth
cange and several of the southernmost lots of the see-
ond division of forty-nere lots and with the common
lots, was detached from Gilford and annexed to La-
conia),  About two-thirds of the territory of the town
lics om the northern slope, and is drained dircetly
into the lake. The other one-third slopes to the west,
and is drained by short water-courses into the river
at Lake village, Laconia village and Winnesquam.
There are only four inland natueal ponds and thee of
small dimensions, and are the sources of as many
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streams, whieh flow in three valleysin the town. The
first is at the southeast border of the town, nearly
on the division line, and while it has little or no
basin of drainage, discharges any overtlow in an
almost indistinguishable outlet ifnto the Suncook
River.  Proverbially, it is said to have no outlet or
inlet, but catehes and holds the rain fall on the surtace
and narrow terminal rim, aud overflowing when thig
is in excess of its capacity, 1t abounds with horned
pouts. The second is a little pool on the Miles River,
near its source, [t was lurgely increased in extent,
at one time, by flowage in conscquence of the dam at
Foster’s mill, which is no longer kept up. Thethird
i= a small cireular pond on the west side of the town,
which abounds in lilies (hence ealled the Lily Pond),
amd also produces a species of leeches.  With
a very =hght fall, it discharges its water throngh
Black Braok (so called) into the bog at the Plains (so-
called) above Lake village. The fourth is near the
centre of the town, and is known as the Saltmarsh
Pond, being near the residence of Thomas Saltmarsh,
a prominent citizen of Gilmanton, and afterwards
ane of the first Board of Sclectmen of Gilford. It is
larger than the other three, and also abounds with lilies
and the horned pout, and discharges its waters
through Jewett’s Brook into the river above the falls
at Laconia,

Besides the Winnipiseogee, or Merrimack, on the
western side of the town, and by reason of the an-
nexation recently of a portion of land detached from
Laconia, also lowing now through a part of thetown,
there are seven other streams in or adjoining the
town, and these, though mostly inconsiderable in
size, furnish considerable hydraulie power. The
most castern rises and flows a short distance in (iil-
ford, and then, Howing along the Alton line, passes
finally into that town, and enters the lake at West
Alton. It was not made much use of for mative-
power, except in its lower courses in Alton.  Its two
branches drain the extreme eastern part of the town,
The second i=of greater volunie, and rises near the Sun-
cook Pond, and flows north through a deep and vapidly-
deseending valley-bottom to the lake, and is called
Miles River, or Leavitt's Brook, taking it name (rom
two men by the name of Leavitt, Miles and Samnel,
who had mills on it. It drains the eastern side of
Mount Major and Gunstock and the western side of
Mount Prospect.  Foster's and Colby’s mills were also
on this stream ; only Colby’s is now operated,

The third and still larger is the Gunstoek, which ex-
tends through the entire length of the town from
south to north. Tt drains the western side of the
former monntains, and also Mount Minor, the north-
ern side of Liberty 1131}, and the eastern slope of
Mecting-House Hill, or Gunstock Hill.

The valley of the Gunstoek is broad in parts and
contains some of the best land in the town, Midway in
its course Gilford village is situated, where, in a narrow
gurge, the mills are situated, and the poweris great,
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and the fall abrupt for a half-mile,  =ix mills
have been located on this stream, and its lower waters
course shuggishily through a plain of about one mile
square, of alluvinl formation and excecdingly fer-
tile. A small stream, called the Meadow Brook, or
Black Brook. courses through an arm of this plain,
which is known as the Intervale, and enters the lake
near the mouth of the Gunstock, This stream has
no fall, and is more of a creek than a river.  Thesc
rivers at certain scasons abound with the sucker,
which comes up trom the lake to <pawn, in the man-
ner of herring.

The stream flowing from the Lily Pond, by the
raising of the dam across the rapids in the Winni-
piseogee at Lake village, and the consequent flowuge,
has been rendered an inlet of Long Bay up halt its
course, and there is no hydranlic power on this
stream,

The sixth stream has abont three miles course and
several small tributaries. Its main braneh, in its upper
course, has good power. Colling’ mill is onit. It
drains u section of thetown extending uearly to the
centre, in the divection of the (iully and the north-
west slope of Liberty Hill. lts lower course is with-
out much fall, and passes through some excellent
farmeg, and reaches the river Letween bogs above the
falls at Laconia villaze, in the original Samuel Jew-
ett estate. It is ealled the Jewett Brook there, but
Collins’ Stream in that part where their mill is lo-
cated, and where it issues from Saltmarsh Pond, or,
as it is sometimes called, Chattleborough Pond.  On
the Gully branch lies an old meadow, called, formerly,
the Jackson, or the Smith’s meadow, owned first by
. R. Smith, of Meredith, and later by his daughter,
Mrs. Jackson, and alse by T1. Bughee and others,

The seventh stream rises in the southwest part of
the town, and in the edge of Gilmanton (now Bel-
mont), and ene branch of it near Cotton’s Hill, and
also receives the waters of the north slope of Ladd’s
Hill, in Belmont. Pa~sing the Provinee road, it
courses through the plain in the southwest part of
the village of Laconia, and falls inte the Winne-
sqnam at it sontheast angle. It was called the Durkey
Brook, and on its banks, near it mouth, there was a
spring, once reputed to be mineral and medicinal,
Some use of its power is wade near the Coneord stage
road.

The great river, Winnipiseoger, has, or had, three
places of power: At the Weirs, or Prescott’s Mills, by
wing-dams, three feet of head was utilized ; but How-
age has ruined this privilege and it has long been in
disuse. At Lake village a single head of twenty
feet gives great power. and it has, from the first, heen
well used. The Lower Falls, at Laconia, has ulso
single head of some greater height. The current,
however, is not quite all utilized, the river proper
being here nearly a mile in length from bog to bog,
in the natural state, or level,

The altitude of the <urface of the town is also re-

markable. There are four clevated portions that v -
ceive the title of mountains, and four that bear par-
ticular names as hills, besides some lesser hills that
bear no names unless those known only to the imme-
diate loeality.  The most clevated portion, in the
agtern part of the town, is ealled Monnt Muajor, or,
o the chart (nautical | Guaostock Mountain,  Its
=unimit is about two thousand six hundred teet above
the levelof the lake, and that level is five humdred
feet above the sea-level; henee, it s three thonsand
feethigh. Vrom its summit the surfive of the ovean,
offf Portsmouth, can e seen, by the unaided eyve,
under the morning sun. It has been a survevor's
post, in the triaugulation ol the Atlantic region, tor
the purpose of making a chart of the coast. The
United States government had property in monu-
ment signals, on it, and for a series of vears occupicd
its apex as a signal and surveying-station, furnishing
it with instraments and manning it with operators.
[t commands a view of the greater part of the Stite
and a part o Maine. It« highest part iz not
wooded, and from it are seen some twenty-five bodies
of water,

Mount Guustock, locally so called (and sometimes
Sincook, aod still again, sometimes Peaked Moun-
tain), 15 the nextin altitude, but of some three hun-
dred feet less elevation. It stands to the northwest
of Maunt Major, It is in the western slope ol 1his,
in a ridge ranning down the mountain, that the mine
af iron ove is situated, it being a trap of some two et
in width, and extending downwurd and inward, and
has once been worked. It is protoxide and peroxide
of iren, in the proportion to make magnetic are. It
i5, in some of its parts, eighty-five per cent, pure
iron, and a well-tormed horse-shoe uail bas heen made
from it, directly, on the auvil, without zoing through
the process of smelting, A road was Huilt to it by
the mining company some sixty years ago, hnt i< nog
uow used. By a eirenitons route, the summit of tho
wenatain can be almost attained by vehicle, sud the
remainder of the journey made on horseback or on
foot.  This summit was once much used for purpozes
of celebration.  In one Uresidential campaimn an ox
was dressed here and served, roasted whole, to a lurge
assemblage of people,—a mass-meeting. A spur or
wing of highland extends from this northward sl
abuts the lake in a bold headland. and is the ridgee
separating the valleys of the Miles and the Gunstock
Rivers,

Meount Minor, sometimes called the Piper Monn-
tain, is the nest in elevation, and stands to che south-
west of Mount Major as u spur in the direction of
the line of hills that extends through the town of
(ilmanton. This mountain s some cight huudred
fect less in height than Mount Major, and forms a des
scending slope without much valley between them, ns
is not the case between Mount Major and Gunstock,
A spur runs from Mount Major to the northeast, in-
to Alton, in the line of Suncook Pond, and its ridge




is the dividing line of Gilmanton, and is sometimes
called Morse’s Mountain,  These highlauds cover
about one-third ol the town, and have been heavily
wooded at times.  Parts of this tract were subse-
quently eleared, and parts, at different periods, were
burnt over hy forest-fires.  The whaole tract, as far as
it is ¢leared, is exeellent grazing-land for sheep.

The lesser elevations, called by distinetive names as
hills, are, first, Liberty HMill, a eultivated platean,
about nine hundred feet above the lake-level, and
commanding a complete view of the western part of
the lake and the northwest part of the town and the
more distant highlands and towns. It contains some
excellent farms, but is not so extensively cualtivated
on its southern partas it was formerly. A road cuts
another road at right-angles at the highest point,
where a liberty-pole onee stood.

Cotton’s Iill is on the border of Gilmanton (now

delmont), and is an isolated peak. [s northern slopo
is a gentle incline and contains exeellent farms,
Its southern and western deelivities are more abrupt
and the soil is less arable. It is erowned with a
stately growth and is a conspicuous object from all di-
reetions, and beantiful for its symmetry.

Gunstock Hill, across the Gunstoek Valley, and
opposite Gunstock Mountain, is a long ridge, some-
what in the line of a detached seetion, called Boyd’s
Hill, and of the Locllin, and extends north and
sonth ou the west side of the valley of that name,
and is the eastern limit of the second division of
fortv-aere lotsin the original survey. It was selected
tor the site of the first chureh, built in 1742, and is
sometimes called Meeting-House Hill. Here it was
that the first settlers intended to make the town and fix
the centre and the pivot of all affairs ; but, with water-
power on either side and none there, it was the mani-
fest destiny to yield to the valleys, This, at first,
was the most improved part of the town, and, as faras
excelleney of glebe was concerned, it was not a bad
choiee.

Other highlands reecived partieular and loeal ap-
pellations, trom ownership or adjacent dwellers, save
one, in the Miles Vulley, ¢alled Cobble Hill, which
i a conical pile between the two arms of the river,
very symmetrieal in shape and rising to about five hun-
dred feet from the surrounding lands, like an artifieial
mound, and is of about one mile in eireuit at its base,
Tt is grazing-land, and beautifnl to behold trom valley
or surrounding mountain brows, By slight change in
the height of the flowage of the river, its waters
would flow on the opposite side of the hill, and into
the other branch.

The grades of soil and wood-growths are worthy of
mention. A section adjacent to the river, or the west
side, is mainly a strong, rocky soil, and produces a
hardwood growth, with a slight exception of the
plain near Black Brook. The uorthern part of this
Lelt is called the Oaks road, and Onks Distriet. It
produced a peeuliarly good variety of white oak,
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much sought after by wheelwrights for use in their
eraft.  The more remote belt trom the river was of a
lighter soil, and produced a pine growth. This was
of superior guality.

It was a stately forest, and extended from the lake-
shore up the Gunstock Valley to the base of Liberty
Hill. In it the royal brand might have been seen,—
perhape, destiny—fixing some of the mammoth forms
for the royal navy-vards. From these, in the plain
of the upper Gunstock, the firstsettlers practiced the
art of turpentine gathering us a source of income.

These on that particular plot were carly manufae-
tured into the superior lumber of those days, which is
now the wonder of those who witnessthe demolition of
the original houses and buildings. The huge radieal
remains of these, seemingly imperishable in the soil,
were eleared by n mechanical device called stump-
wheels, which were constructed of some fifteen or
twenty feet in height, with a revolving axle of great
dinmeter and strength, from which a cable chain, of
areat size and strength, passed under and around a
principal root, over which the wheels were set; and
then the third wheel, fixed on the axle, with a chain
wrapping it in a groove in the rim, to whieh chain the
team was attached, and by a deploving advance wound
up the eable and lifted the stump. Thus the ground
was cleared and broken in, and pow is some of the
finest lots in this part. The third belt produees a
hardwood growth, and is a roecky but loamy soil,
with a clay subseil and exeellent for agricultural uses.
It rises into the elevated parts, where there is 2 mix-
ture of stately spruee and some inferior variety of
oak. The average soil is best for grasses and native
crops, There ate partial or limited deposits ot elay
and of sands, The present town and county boundary
is in mid-lake, but originally the grant was limited by
the shore-line of the lake, river and bays, including
no islands.  Governor’s Island, long known also as
Davis' [sland, and conpected to the mainland by a
bridge built by the owner of the island, was annexed
to the town at a later period. [t coutains about five
hundred aeres of land of a very superior quality. It
was formerly covered with a very heauvy growth of
timber, pine ab the castern extremity and hardwood on
the westeru portion.  This is not the original grant
or share of Gilmanton, rescrved for the Governor, as
that shiare wus Inid out to Governor Shute, in the cen-
tre of the original town, and at the north extreme of
the upper one huudred acre lots, and just to the west
of Young's Pond, a rectangular plot of five hundred
acrex.  Dut this island received its name from Gov-
ernor Wentworth's taking a faney to it.  Another
island on which were buildings built and u farm im-
proved, and known as Welch Island, is also included
within Gilford limits.  Other #maller and unimport-
ant islands-—as Locke’s, Thuber and Mark—are asso-
ciated with the south shore and contain excellent
grazing land, and are in parts well stocked with tim-
ber-growth, and are valuable,

@



GILFORD, 703

The system of ways or roads was provided for in the
original laying out of the town by reserved range-
ways and sideways at intervals in the sctting out of
the runres and lots.  Yet these, ina nieasure, were
found to be so located as to be both ineonvenient for
use and impracticable for construction ; and yet many
ot the voads correspond quite neurly to the old range-
ways, and the original lots prescrve, for themost patrt,
the original formand entirety, so that from many
eminenees the view shows the quadrangular sub-
divisions of the whole territory,

The road designed to accommodate the first wd
second tiers of forty-nere lots was built within, or
alongside these ranges, from the Weirs to the Provinee
road at the Lower Falls, or the present Luaconia, In
its lower part it coursed along the river-side and
through the land left undivided at the time of the lay-
ing out of the five ranzes in the original survey, and
which, lying between the river border und the second
runge, was luter laid out and designated as the eighth
range, the eommon and the village lots, and corre-
sponded to like supplemental Jaying out in the upper
part nearer the Weirs. which was classed as the sixth

and seventh ranges, aud a common or gore.  On these

lands were afterwards built the greater part of the two
villages called Lake village and Meredith Bridge
{now Laconia) and also a small eollection of houses at
the Weirs,

A road for the accommadation of the third tier of
lots ran parallel to this first rond in a most direct
course, till half the course was passed over, and then,
by reason of the broken surfave of the Lund and the
abroptness of itz inclines, it deflected to the west and
met the first road at Jewctt’s estate; only patehes of
it were built and are traceable in the south part of the
town,

The third parallel road began a little distance from
the lake-shore, at the head of the Intervale, and
passed over Gunstoek, or Meeting-House Hill; and,
instead of erossing the Locklin Hill, deflected 10 the
east and joined with the fourth road, which also hegan
near the lake, on the east side of the Intervale, and
ascended Spring Hill, and by some deflections contin-
ued past the village and over Liberty Hill to Gilman-
ton, keeping on the first and second tier of one hun-
dred acre lots through the whole length of the town,

The fifth parallel road, on the third tier of hundred-
acre lots, was built along the west base and under the
brow of the mountains, from the Gilmanton line
nearly through the town, though its last stages were
not more than a drift-way, It was broken und disap-
peared for the last mile or two before reaching the
lake, where it would have crossed high hills,

The sixth way was only opened as a bridle-road or
cartway up the Miles Valley to near the Skeiler
Meadow, aud then, as a public, traveled road, to the
hase of the mountains; and in two branches (one of
which becomes a substitute for a seventh road, which
would pass over Mount Prospect and to the terminal

vidge on the south boundary line of the town, uand
through the Masonian lots). At the base of the
mauntain it turns to the east and goes to the Alton
line, in fwo branches, as part of an east and west road,

The roads designed to cross these, and run east and
west, were lewer in namber and not so regular or
casily traced, asthe lots in diticrent ranges overlapped
and were not parallel to the extrene mavgins or bor-
der lines of the town.  The first, however, known 2s
the Pond road, was quite direet and continuous along
the lake-shore from the Weirs to the Alton line,
and was determined more by the natural features of
the land than by the division of lots and settlements
made.

The sccond road, in this direction, set off at the
Plaius, worth of Black Brook, and continued to the
head of the Intervale, ascended the Ames and the
Sawyer Hills, and descended into the Miles Valley,
and was deflected round the south end of Mount Pros-
pect, and reached the Alton line as identicud with the
defleetions of the sixth north and south rowld, and is
known as the Mountain road or route.

The third sets off 2 little north of Lake village
and by slight deflections extends to Hoyt's Mills, or
Gilford village, and should have passed over the
mountain by the Old Stair-Way, a ravine with regular
rock formation,

The fourth sets off at Jewett’s Corner, and in two
branches reaches the wountain bases -—one via Chat-
tleborough and the other by Liberty Hill. A third
branch. of a lafer layving ont, reaches Gilford village
by the Gully route (so called). These, with Jater al-
terations constitute the road system of the town, The
sharpness of the hills, in the roads, has given occa-
sion for the re-location of muny roads, around the
Lills, in different parts of the town.

While this svstem of roads and cross-roads was all
provided for in the plan and survey of the town, they
were laid out at different tiwes, as necessity required,
amd in separate sections when demanded.  The oldest
road is, of course, the Gilford portion of the Provinee
road, laid out as a State or colony road by the General
Court in 1770, and committed o Gilmanton for eon-
struction through its own territory ; but, on ils refusal
to build ir, it was built by contractors engaged by the
valony goverument, and the eost, three hundred and
thirty-cne pounds, assessed on the town, It hud to
e repaired and the bridge rebuilt in 1700, at town ex-
pense,  The roads of the town have usually heen
built by direet individual assessment, and worked out
by all the tax-payers of the town, but repaired and
kept in order by a system of distriet supervision and
taxation, the town being divided iuto some thirty
highway distriets,

Portions of highways were at first made by individ-
nals for their own convenience, and on their own
lands, witheut any formal laying out ; while to oth-
ers there are records of legal laying out by proper
authoritics. Among those returnedare the following—
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an incomplete list, but showing the progress of settle-
ment: In 1782, one by Abel Hunt's. In 1785, one
from Peaslee Rodgers' to Noah Weeks', one to Fol-
som’'s Mills and to Simeon Hoyt’s and one from Sam-
uel Smith's to Meredith Bridge. In 1787, from Thomas
Foster’s (Intervale) to the pond, ete,—ie., on the
Pond road. At the same date, (rom Ebenezer ¥mith’s
to the Gunstock Mills,—i.e., probahly via Spring Hill
and Kelley Corner, though possibly a mill-road
through the pine woods lot. The present road, by the
tannery and carding and fulling-mill, was of a much
later laving and building.

The older approach by traveled road was by Pot-
ter's Hill to the mills, In 1785, one from the Prov-
ince road to Simeon Hoyt's, probably the middle road
from Liberty Hill south. In 1789, one from Philbrook
Rand’s to David Clough’s, that is, over Giunstock or
Meeting-House Hill, to Thomas Hoyt's (now Mr. Rog-
ger's.)  Alsoone from David Awes’ {R. Dame’s) (o
Thomas Frehoek's (late D, Y, Smith's), and one from
Josiah Rawyer’s to Ephraim Brown’s,  In 1790, one
from Levi Gilman's to the Gunstock road.  In 1792,
one from Sunuel F. Gilman’s, via Ezekiel Gilman’s
{ Ziebedee Morrills) to Jacob Jewett’s | Deacon Isaac's ),
doubtless to meet n road already made from the Prov-
ince road past Sammel Jewett’s, the next house. In
1794, one by Daniel Hoyt's and one from Samuel
Gilman’s (3d) to Samuel Gilman’s,  In 1797, one
from Jeremy Rowe’s to Sfamuel Thurston’s, in the
sonth part of the town., In 1799, one from Wil-
liam Hunt’s to Josiah Tilton. In 1800, one from
Jeremy Rowe’s to Meredith Bridge, and one {rom
Thomas Foster's to James Ames’, across the In-
tervale, in L1801, Also in the same year, one from
John Smith's to the Upper Weirs. In 1803, one from
David Hale's to the Great Weirs (Luke village). In
the same vear, one on Governor's Island to Nathan-
iel Davig’, To 1805, from J. Smith's to the Great
Weirs, probably by Malachi Davis’.  In 1807, .tfrom
Duvid Gonld’s to Joseph Potter’s, and in 1808, one
from D). Hale’s to the Weirs (Oaks road), and from A,
Jackson’s to Sumuel Thurston’s (vie the Colling
neighborhood), and one more in 1812, from Bartholo-
mew Giale’s to Meredith Dridge. A few others, omit-
ted here, make up most of the roads of the town.

The bridges of the town, except a few of the larger
and more costly, have been built by the distriets, The
only bridge on the Miles River, of much expense and
difficulty, was the one at Miles Leavitt’s, which went
down-stream in a freshet, with the mill also, which
was rebuilt higher up-stream.  The one at the town
furin has also been damaged at times by the overflow
of the stream, There are eleven bridges spanning the

Gunstock, seyveral of which have been carried away |

in high water,  Three are on the Intervale, and that
whole surface is overflowed in times of [reshet.  Two
are at Copp’s Mill and of recent eonstruction ; one at
the fulling-mill; one at the tannery; two at the saw-
will and Village road; one at Whittier’s Mill, often

damaged; and one at Esquire Weeks’ residence. The
bridges on  the Winnipiseogee, including railroad
bridges, are now ten in number, and expensive struc-
tures.

Providenee road bridge is the oldest, and has been
three times rebuilt, and is now a substantial structure.
The first was a rude affair and short-lived. The bridge
at Folsom’s Mills was built in 1782, and has been two
or three times repaired, or substantially rebuilt. The
raising of the water-level hy the new dam necessitated
the comstruction of a bridge of greater height and
firmer build. There has been added, in later vears,
another bridge near where the old footway on the dam
was. The railroad crosses the stream above these and
again twiece at the Lower Falls, or Laconia, The Weirs
bridge was built in 1803, and has been twice rebuilt
and raised higher, to allow passage to steamers under
it, in the river channel, The channel was cut deeper
some vears ago, and recently the United States gov-
ernment has appropriated money for the improve-
ment of the passage into and out of the lake.

The second bridge was built at Laconia, on Mill
Street, and has twice been rebuilt, It is just below
the dam, and indispensable, thongh itz approach from
Lake Sereet or the Gilford side was difficult. The
third hridege there, on Chureh Street. was built about
1850, and was unfinished for some years.  Meredith
laid her road to the river ventre and built the bridge
to that point. Gilford endeavored to deleat the build-
ing of the road and bridge, and refused to proceed
in its construction. Bt at length the project succee-
ded, and the street and bridge is now much used, The
Messar bridge, at the upper point of the narrows, or
at the foot of Little Bay, was also strenuously opposed,
as likewise the filling above it, which was deemed im-
practicable at first, and stoutly opposed. The bridge
in the lower part ol the village is of recent construe-
tion, but was found a desideratum by reason of the
expansion of the village in that direction and the in-
erease of business in that part. The bridge leading to
Governor’s Island was built in 1820, and mainly by
the owners of the island.  Its support being expen-
=ive, they asked the town's support of it, and the town
at length assumed ir. Tt is about thirty rods from
shore to shore,  Two natural formations praject on
the opposite sides and make a natural fitness for the
place of a hridge. It wag built by sinking a structure
of logs in syuare sections and filled with stone, the
greatest depth being about twenty-five feet, and there
is left an open pass-way, not in the deepest part of the
channel, of some fitteen fect width, through which
row-boats, if small, may pass. The filling of stone
on cach side of the bridge renders it enduring against
the action of the waves,

The Industries of the Town—The main pursuits
of the inhabitants of (iilford have been agricultural;
and vet various other pursuits have also been followed,
and the mingled interests of these projects have held
the attention of those who were ready for any under-
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taking that evidently might be profitable or honor-
able to the projector.

While agriculture has been engaged in by most of
the peaple, it has been conducted with varving wis-
dom, and been variously successful in ditferent depart-
ments thereof, and in different times.  The sail, vary-
ing much in its produetive power, and its special
adaptation to particular growths, is, on the whaole, good
and remunerative, There are scetions in the high-
lands of the east part that are particnlarly adapted
to grazing, and there wool-raising has been one prin-
eipal object, and its ends attained without great diffi-
enlty. On the higher parts of the mountains the
native grasses are unmixed with the baser or inferior
grasses of the wet lowlands, and are more coneentra-
ted, nourishing and sweet-flavored.  Ilence, sheep
seek these places, both for the coolpess of the air or
refreshing breezes and for the abundance and rich-
ness of the feed. There they fatten, and vield their
fibre, which brings in a ool income to the investor
and cultivator. Formerly, eacl and every farmer had
his limited stock of sheep: and it was thonght to be
an absolute pecessity to the proper exercise of good
husbandry to have a little store of woal for domestic
manufactaring, and a little stock of mutton in o well-
replenished larder. The surplus above home demand
in these two items of fAock-growth =ought the market
for revenue, or exchange for other necessaries, ar, per-
chanee, for the mere glory of laudable and snceessful
production. Ta response to this usunal, known and
tempting venal store, the far-sceing wool-monger
was sure to be on hand at the fit season, and with the
proper ore in sack or wallet, intent on a commereial
raid, There is one ““lost art,” or fest sight, in these
days of steam and vapor: that is, the old-time
drover, in his long blue frock.—a professional uni-
form, half-driving and half-walking, and riding anon;
and collecting from farm-vaed to farm-yard, till his
bleating throng and lowing hoest fill the way, resem-
bling a ernsading army; and when the muster is
complete, taking up the long, tedious pilegrimage, in
one line of wmarch, from the Aquadocton hill-sides
and sheep-cots to the noisy sale-vards and slunghter-
houses of that far-famed and bloody Brighton.

The meritorious generalship of such a campaign
was for no ordinary man. The special commission
for this royal order fell to the lot of such meat-men
as Nathan, Jeremiah {ealled Jed.) and Asa Bachelder,
Thomas Newell, William Sargent, Nathan Bartlett
and a few others, and in the later days, John O,
Sanborn, Harrison Gilman, Joseph Sanhorn, Jr., John
Weeks, Carroll Follet, Ladd & Co, and n few athers,
who now are content to skirmish a little at short-
range and on the oflensive. While the ald stock
variety was eencrally raised, an improved variety of
fine-wooled stock was kept in the mountan region by
principally the Weeks Brothers & Sons. This merino
wool was very superior for five cloth-muking, and
brought a very high price in the market —sometimes

as high as a dolbar per pound, and searly donble that
of the common-stock wool, But as the sheep wore of
a diminutive size badily, each one yiclded a less quin-
tity both of fleece und meat, and they were loss
remunerative for the purposes of tood or elothing
and so merino wool-culture dectined.

In later years, still another species was generally
kept, of greater size, and producing u stple of
coarser and longer fibre. But the extent of sheep
and wool-raising has grown less of late, by reason of
lower prices of wool, though the less value in the
fleece has been offset by higher prices for the lambs
and the mutton.

In the line of stock-raising, the production of Leef
is and has been an important branch of business,

The ridges of land devated to pasturage were well
adapted to neat-cattle-feeding, and produced heef of
an excellent quality, and gave abundant thrift 1o the
stock so devoted.  In the earlier vears, in times of
less demands for meats, with less population, aud
greater pradoetion of feeding, a Luge surplus of beef
was sent to market by drift. Stock was kept less
sumpinously at the barns, and in winter seasons, and
almost miversally, beef was grass-fod and young,
and less expensively produced for the market.

The average farmer depended on his neat-stock
sold for the greater amount of cash needed to mect
obligntions and  proenre  other means of living.
Nearly all the vearly inevease of live-stock by genera-
tion was kept, and little slanghter of the younyg
was tolerated.  Veal wax o rarity on the table of the
farmer or the inn,

The dairy interests were important, and were
mostly for distant markets,  Cheese-making was as
extensive as hutter-making. The better farmer was
accustomed to take his ox-load of butter amd cheese
in the tull season, and draw it to Portsmouth, and
exchange them for West India goods,—that i for
sugar, salt, and perchance a cask of “the ardent,”
and fisl, The lesser farmer had to obtain the-e
throngh the medinm of the common store, and make
the home-made sproce heer and  domestic cider
answer for the more costly and stronger drinks of the
gentlemen.  In those days, at about every tenth
house was the eider-mill: and hencee, the demand for
the ecooper's serviee was immense,  This eraft, as tar
as the making, or rather, the repairing, of cider-casks
was concerned, waz carried on in a decidedly unigue
manner.

About the time of the apple-picking and cider-
miking, in November, a set of craftsnien toak up the
march, and went the ronnds of the neighborhood, to
renew the hoops on the cusks needed, and merry
indeed was the musie of the cooper’s whack, ringing
over the hills. Cider was scareely a commaodity for
market: either it was considered too sacred to be bar-
tered, or it was not sufficient in quantity for more
than the limit of home consnmption. lmproved
froit, or its culture, was quite largely undertaken
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some vears ago; and both new orebards were set
from grafted nurseries, and old orchards were grafted.
Very limited attempts were made to propagate or
caltivate other fruits. The cherry, the plum and
pear were considered as the luxury of the favored
few., =ugar-making, from the maple, has been en-
gaged in only to a swall extent, and that in a dimin-
ixhing proportion,

Poultry-raixing bas always been engaged in to a
considerable extent, and in greater variety formerly.
The vigil-keeping goose and the turkey have Jad
their day, but are fast disappearing, The former is
almost unknown, and the latter scurce. The hen is
cnrrent, but egg-produetion was never extensive.

Other animals were sometimes kept, not entirely
for profit, or for executing undertukings, but more
particularly for convenience and faney. The horse
was thought to be as necessary to a complete 1urnish-
ing of the barn-yard as the dog or cat was to the com-
plete house. But yet some business was done in
raising horses for the market or to sell.  And now
and then more than the ons ““ domestic horse ™ graced
the barn-yard of the more opulent; and, perchance,
was spared to supply the needed horze-power in those
days of stage-coaches, or even to supply and serve the
desire and passion of the rich and thoese indulging in
pride-show. An exception, perhaps, may be taken in
pork-producing, for though the keeping ot swine was
for domestic ends, to inrnish the home larder, yet
nmiany o dressed porker found its way to Portsmouth
market, and later into other cities, whither trade was
subsequently directed, and sent back in lien of it the
daintier luxuries of commerce or clean cash, In
earlier times wheat-raising was quite extensive and
fuirly profituble.  But from about 1830 this crop be-
came oftentimes nneertain or a failure, by reason of
the weevil-fly, whose ravages were great after the de-
erease of the native clover-growth, in which they had
before that worked and spent their fory. Hence,
eradually the wheat-cnltore declined, and the erop
beeame insuflicient to meet demands, and is now al-
niost absolutely a thing of the past, and not likely to
be revived. 1t was a rare thing in former times {or a
farmer to buy a barrel of flour. Tt was considered
evidence of miserable husbandry, and 4 sure omen of
il wnecess, or o tailing fortune, or a precursor to a
finuncial rnin.  Likewise the corn crop was abundant
anel extensively pot on the market.  Buc very little
of it was nsed for stock-feeding, either in their ordi-
pary keeping or for their fattening, The snrplus above
home consmmption and local supply of the domestic
market was not inconsiderable. The oat erop and the
potato crop were also in exeess of home consumption,
and becwe articles of merchandize in the market.

The cultivation of flux was formerly extensive, and |

now is unknown. As a general rule, each farmer had
hi= plot annually sown, und its yield carefully sc-
cured, properly treated or cured and well stored.

And in due time it was manufactured, —the seed into | the gool shaker
r
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linsecd oil, whieh was once successfully and exten-
sively done at Meredith Bridge, and the fibre to the
stage of the dressed hank, or thread, or the fabric,
The diminutive linen foot-wheel, and the larger tow-
wheel, alzo usable for wool-spinning, were the abso-
lutely necessary and commendnble articles of outfit
to the then diligent housewife.  The factory was not
then on the water-courses, but the substitute was on
all the hill-sides,  Home-made fabrics of wool and
fux, and to some extent of even cotton, were the
almost universal snpply for apparel and  house-
furnishing, and somewhat for the market. The blithe,
sweet-singing maid of those days, standing at the
helm of her new-improved,! Shaker-made patent
spinning-wheel, was in her dignity, and when the
aceredited stent of four skeins daily of seven knots,
each containing twenty double threads, on an honest
reel, was got off, and in good season in the afternooun,
ghe was in her felicity, having earned the title of
“ olever girl ' or “ spinster.”

The diligence of all the members of the family
made it no onerons service to provide adequate rai-
ment and other textile furnishing for the household.
The house was a busy place, and resonunt with the
hum of the spindle, the rattle of the whacking-loom
and the hundred processes of domestic labor.

One industry in the agricultoral department de-
serves mention, and that was the silk-culture. About
15840 the mulberry-tree was cultivated on the light
soil in the Gnostock Valley above Gilford Village,
having been planted and introduced by Mr. Benjamin
Rowe, The silk-worm grub was obtained and fed by
the mulberry leaf, and a suecessful product of the
silk cocoons was realized. These were sold nnreeled,
and the manufacturing of the silk of commerce from
these was done elsewhere.  An enthusiasm in this
new industry was for a time qgnite extensively shared
by the peaple possessing light soils, which were pro-
nounced to be especially adapted to the mmlberry
cnltnre ; but the enterprise, thongh not fraitless, was
not extended, and for a want of interested, enterpris-
ing operators, the scheme was not long prosecuted,
and the silk-producing interests ceased, A few re-
maining trees only indicate the former attempt, From
the “light infantry " of domestic mapufactory we
proceed to notice some of the “heavy artillery” of
man-operated machinery. And first of these is the
saw-mill,  Lumber-making has been practiced since
the settlement of the town, but only at first to meet
existing necessities in the first huilding of dwellings.
In later years much lumber has been manufactured
for the general market, The saw-mills at first were

! The improvement of the Shaker wheel consisted in the patent head
(a endledy, which secured greater velocity to the revolving spindle, by
weans of some gearing botween the bund-wheel aud spindle-block, and
ales by an ap paratus for adjusting the tenslon of the lnrger aml lesser
wheelsbands,  Thix invention saved many a weary whirl during o day's
work, fur which benign appliance there was often heard 8 **God bless

e
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wainly for producing boards and plank. The first
dwellings were covered with shingles and clapboards
wade by hand, being rived and shaved by the farmer
in his leisure days.  Afterwards sawn shingles were
usedd, but were vastly inferior.  The suw-mills of the
town have been the following : Lumprey's, near Alton
ling, which wus abandoned forty vears ago. It was
operated by a small and inadequate strewn, and only
survived to meet a loeal need at that time,
mill was built after Lamprey’s weat to disuse, and
was to supply its place in the intercsts and demands
of that part of the town, It also was inapproprintely
located, and proved unsuccesstul, amd ran bur a lew
vears. A large tract of heavily-wooded land in that
section of the town was subsequently cleared, and its
timber was manufactured into lumber by steam-
power, and the lumber marketed.  Colby's mill, on
the same streawm, the Miles River, was built alter the
disuse of Foster's, but was more the successor of the
Leavit mill, which had been twice built and carried
away, the first being a grist-mill, and the second for
sawing, and the third now in use, for both sawing
lumber and also shingles, and lately for threshing,
besides.  On the same stream, below, was the ancient

Brown & Leavit mill, for sawing, not now inoperation. |

Onc of the earliest mills for sawiny lumber was that
built on the Gunstock stream by Simeon oyt and
Esquire Ebenezer Smith, in 1789, As this was erected
at the waterfall included in one of the publie shares or
the ministerial lot, it was subject to some conditions
and limitatious, and the permission of the use of the
waterfall and adjacent lands was granted to these two
gentlemen in 1788, to extend fifteen years, and conced-
ing therightto clear and accupy for their mill-yard two
acres, and on both sides of the river, They are also
bouud not to unnecessarily cut timber on the adjacent
lotsand to remove the mill at the expiration of the lease,
or to sell it 1o the town; and, meantime, to give free
right to saw on the part of the people any material
desired for a meeting-house in that part of the town.
This mill was then the only one in that heavily-
wooded section. It was the source of all the board
and plank-stock of that part, and shared, with other
parts, the general patronage of the whole region,
There was not much sawing of timber, that being
almost always hewn. The mill was not removed nor
sold to the town; but the encroachments on the
public Jot being so frequent and easy, the whole lot
was sold and the proceeds of the sale invested for the
benefit of the ministry. The wmill, with the lot, was
bought by Bernard Morrill, and it has been owned
and run by him and his sun until the preseut time.
The flowing of the meadows above the village,
while owned by parties not operating the mill, was
limited to the 20th of May yearly, when the mill
must stop ; but by a single ownership, both of the
mill and meadow, the flowing, and, consequently, the
business of the mill, was afterward unrestricted as to
times and seasons.

right saws,
Foster's

e s
[
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This mill has been operated by emploved nen at
most times and has not often been idle for want of
work on hand when there was a water supply, and it
has been the source of a good income to the vwners
and operators. Tt has been several times damaged
by freshets and zubstantially rebuilt, and, in Jater
time, has been farnished with circular instesd of np-
The greater part of an imuicense forest
of timber in the Guustock Valley and western wonu-
tuin slopes has been converted into lumber at this
mill, and thence taken to market or used in building
in this vicinity.

It has been an appreciated accommodation to the
public and a source of revenne to the owaers aid the
class of men to whom its business turnished employ-
ment, and who lived upon the results of their engage-
meut in its operation.

Ahout 1835 a movement was made to build a will
on the lower part of the stream, near the ouly re-
maining lurge tract of pine timber land. This was
built by Joseph Potter on his land, anid under the
foremauship of Mr. Bachelder (called Boston Joln),
Mr. Potter and sou entered upon the business of
the manutacturing of lumber, ineluding shingles and
clapboards and lath, The mill was operated many
years, mainly by John M. Potter, and wus after-
wards sold to Hazen Copp, who huilt dwelling-houses
uear by, and is still operated by his son, Augustus
Copp. Facilities for grinding corn were added re-
ceutly, aud it has cut the entire growth of heavy
pine timber in its vieinity into marketable Jumber.
It was only after vears of endeavor and repeatd
trials that the dam was made permanent and sub-
stantial.

The location of the mill was, atfirst, on no public
road, and it necessitated the laying and wmaintaining
of the Valley road past it, and from the Intervale to
the Fulling-mill route or road, involving two hridges
over the stream. Shingle-sawing wus carly added 1o
wool-carding and fulling, at the Mingo Fulling-Mill,
and is still carried on by Deacon Heman Hunter,
The same business hias been earried on there by the
successive owners, Meshech Sanborn, Christopher
Giilinan, Benjamin Gilman and others.

There were two mills at the Weirs—one on either
side of the river, The I'rescot Mill there gave nume
to the place for & time, as it was currently deuomi-
nated “ Prescot’s Mills™ as well as Weirs,  The head
was so slight at this point thut the power was small,
notwithstanding the great volume ol supply of water
and its being constant ; hence the privilege was con-
sidered as unimprovable and of little value, su that
it naturully fell into disuse, and, later, the heighten-
ing of the dum at Lake village destroyed the privi-
lege altogether, and sv both wills ecased long ago.

The lumber manutacture wus extensive at the fulls
at the foot of the bay. Tlere Abrabam Folsom built
in 1780, and the mill has been in nearly continuous
operation for more than one hundred years.  Ile also
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built und operated a grist-mill, and another saw-mill
wis afterwards built ou the cast side uf the river,
then called, by way of distinetion, the * Gilford
side,” and was ealled at a time Bachelder's Mill, and
again Lyford’s Mill, and by the name of other
owners or operators.  In it the experiment was made
of running a gang of saws, without good success,

These mills have largely been snpplied with ustock
of logs from the lake and bay, by being ratted from
places on the borders of the same.  These millz could
do business the year round ; whereas the mills on the
smaller and variable streams would be capable of
operation only in the seasons of the year when the
water supply was abundant,  This, however, was not
altogether unfavorable to the owners, who had other
business to prosecute, and the demand for suwing wus
Jimited to seasons intervening between the pressing
claims of agricultural interests. So great was the
volume of lumber manufacturing at Lake village, and
proportionally so in excess of all other pursuits and
products, that the place became known best hy the
current designation of “Slab City,” and bore that
title for « long time,  Well might it have been ealled
Log Town, as the river approaches were crowded at
nearly all seasons with rafts of logs, Hoated thither
trom the lake.

At the season of low-water there was not the
desived height of head or quantity of tfow into
the wing-dams and upon the rival wheels there on
the diflerent sides of the river; hence a de-
viee was resorted to to eifect this matter, viz,: the
construction of a sort of submerged breakwater—a
curb of plank-work filled with stone, to anchor or
ballast it, extending far up the middle of the channel
into the current places of the river,—which should di-
vide the flow and direcr it in due proportion into the
respective mill-ponds, and not suffer it to flow in
ereater measure to either one side, as it was inclined
to do by reason of any obstruction or change of
channel.

Competing interests were the foundation of rivalries
and jealousics and devices on the part of the actors
in the Folsom and the Bachelder enterprises, which,
however, gave lite and thrift to the business under-
takings.

The lumber-mill at the Lower Falls—Meredith
Bridge—was subjeet to just the same local eompeti-
tion ; vet it found rivals and antagonists both in the
competition of the upper mills and also in the com-
petition of other and diverse interests and enter-
prises near to it.

T 1780, Colonel Smuuel Ladd built his mill as the
stecessor of that of Stephen Gale, who, in the tour
or five previons vears, had been endeavoring to use
the water-power at that place and had built a mill
on the Meredith side, and had lost his hold on the
reservoir by the yielding of his dam-structure to the
toree of the stream, Fire and flood alike opposed
Colone) Ladd's determination, and his works were

tour times destroyed, but only to be rebuilt and en-
larged by his indomitable will and equally-matched
courage. He added compass to his undertakings and
enjoved a fair share of patronage in the lumber-
muking engagements of the time and place, and he
even surpussed Folson in the grinding and flouring
patronage of the wide field. This saw-mill con-
tinued, till a comparatively recent date, to do its
proper work, But it was unfortunately located in
regard to its yard-room and its approaches, and hence
went into disuse many vears ago; and the sawing
husiness at this place has been done since, lirst, by
water-power, on the eanal on Laconia side, by Cook
& Co. at their sash and door manufuctory, and
still later, by the sume company, by steam-power on
the Gilford side, where no inconsideralile amount of
lumber-making has been done.

Besides the above enunmerated sawing estahlish-
wents, the Collins mill has heen in operation for
some years, where the sawing of both lumber and
shingle has been proseeuted; and the Whittier mill
did gig-sawing and bhad small circular saws jfor the
entting-up business in earriage-making.

With these saws Gilford has not only met its own
building demands, but has done no small amount of
work in turnishing other parts with stock. lts great
wooded area and stately torests made this department
of industry to be both inevitable and suceessiul, and
also inspiring and inviting enterprise,  These primi-
tive growths have disappeared before the vigorous
lumbermen and made useful under the severe
attacking saws; but the broadaxeman’s hlade played
no unimportant part in bringing this beaunty and
service out of the rough wilderness and unused
hower.

A branch of industry akin to lumber-making was
formerly prosecuted extensively, viz., stave-makiung
and the associated cooperage.  The oak growth of the
mountain-sides furnished abundant and excellent na-
terials for making casks of various sizes and uses,
These staves were rived on the hill-sides and wrought
in the many cooper-shops and transported to the
markets far and near.  Shooks, for casks of one hun-
dred gallons capacity and upward, were extensively
made and sent to the West Indies for the molasses
manuficturers.  Barrels for fish-packers, beef and
pork-packers and for liquors were made and trans-
ported to Portsmouth,  This work of manufacturing
was done principally at the centre of the town,
though to some extent in other parts,  Jonas Sleeper,
Joseph Sanborn, Henry Sleeper, George Wm, Weeks
and others engaged extensively in this as a branch of
trade and enterprise.  Workmen were employed by
them both for stave-riving and cask-making. The
coopers in business were Nathan Hateh, Ebenezer 8.
ITunt, Joseph Sanborn & Sons, Samuel & Joshua
(vilman, Moses Jewett, David Gould, Ezckiel & Na-
than Collins, J. L. Davis, Simeon & Nathaniel Davis
and many others.  Indeed, the cooper-shop was a
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common anvex to the other buildings of many o
place, and Cosper was not an unfrequent prefis to
snrname, as, lor example, Cooper-Gilman and Cooper-
Jewett,  The latter emigrated to Cape Cod, where
the fish-barrel was in requisition,

The transportation of the manufactured casks was
an undertaking of considerable magnitude, The huge
load on the mammoth vehicle, druwn fifty miles in
two days by stalwart ox-teams, was no trivial matter
to carry out; and the sight of these huge moving
piles was no tame affair to vouthful curiosity and
astonishment, as was also the mnxie of the coopers'
inxtrnments, deftly handled, to their admiration of
the arti ie rs.

The mills for grinding have heen crected and
operated as follows: Folsom’s mill, at the Lake vil-
lage site. This was first and ehiefly used for corn-
grinding. In due tinie a rye crop was raised and was
ground in the same set of stones, producing an un-
bolted meal. Finally, wheat was a product and re-
quired bolting, and hence a bolter was added, and it
hecame a flouring-mill of general patronage.

Ladd’s mill was suecessinlly run, from 1750, in con-
nection with the saw-mill, which wasin the upper story
of the building, and the grinding on the lower floor,
T'his mill rivaled the Folsom mill, being more aceessible
by the main part of the population. There was some
competition between the two as to the guantity and
quality of flour made from a bushel of farmer's wheat ;
and =0 high did the enthusiasm ot good millership
run at times that it was declared of some that four
was produced and rveturned from their favorite mill
exceeding the weight of the grist taken to the mill.
But this must have been to speeial customers.  Yet it
must have effectually annulled the tradition that
millers were not sernpulously exact in taking only
lawful toll, or, at least, it should have proved that
Giilford millers were exceptionally honest,

Ladd's mill was sncceeded by one bnilt by the
factory company, and located farther down-stream
and below the factory, or Ticking-Mill (so called). Its
capacity was inereased by adding two runs of stones
and using two bolters. Many farmers used “fine
Indian,” or bolted corn-meal, as a substitute for
wheat-flour, to make a superior bread.

Millers Bachelder and Dimond suceessively and
successtully presided for a full term of service and
vears at the wheels of the Meredith Bridge Grinding
and Flouring-Mill. The universal custom was for
cach farmer to carry frequent and small grists to the
mill, and have them milled for o toll of one-sixteenth,
or two quarts on a bhushel. Ready-ground meal, or
even flour, was at first rarely ever for sale or 10 be
purchased. The toll-grain was on sale, but ofiener
transported than sold in the place and to residents.
The balance of most crops was in tavor of exportation
or the market, and usnally went to the eities, Ports-
mouth or Boston. In later years the great bulk of
milling is that of the stock imported and on sale.

The mill at Giltord village, at (he Hovt’s and
Smith's privilege, was built not many vears after the
two other ones at the river. It accommoduted the
centre aud castern and, to sume extent, the southern
parts of the town, 1t did bath grinding aud bolting,
and eontinued m use till about 1840, or il the huild-
ing of the tannery at the same dam, and was repeat-
edly repaired. It is still stunding, and has becn
owned sonme seventy years by the sume parties and
the <ame that owned the saw-mill, viz.: Esq. Bernard
and General J.J, Morrill and son.  The millers at
this mill have been J. Pickering, 8. Trefran, W,
Meloon, William Knowles, Lowell Sanborn [ Descon
Lowell, so ealled) and others temporarily, At this
mill, and at others also, for a limited appointed time
in the spring, the yearly stock of gypsum, or plaster
of Paris, a cheap fertilizer, was ground, aud other
grinding was deferred for that period and afterwards
resimed.  Also, in the last of May nsually, o day or
two was appropriated to salt-grinding, tor dairy uses,
which-wonderfully accommodated farmers’ wives and
saved them innumerable poundings of the mortar and
pestle, whose musie, however, was the delightiul
matinée of hill and dale, annonncing to many a
hungry toiler the sure progress of kitchen-work, and,
like gong or bell or trumpet, was the first prelude of
an unannounced but ready breakfast,

The disuse of the mill at Morrill's left the ficld open
for enterprise.  Moreover, the Leavitt mill, on Miles
River, had been carried away, and the castern part of
the town was left dependent on some other mill. It
was opportune to build,

At this time Jouathan Whitcher built a mill on
the Upper Gunstoek for grinding and bolting, to
which he added also a threshing-machine, a turning-
lathe and other machinery for making wheels, car-
riages and furniture,  This mill continned only a tew
years, und, after repeated damages to itz long, weak
and e¢xpensive dam, and to the mill itself] by treshet,
by reason of a want of patronage and its unprofitable-
ness, it ceased to be maintained and was consequently
abandoned.

Jeremiah Hunt was in business av this mill for
himself, in the wheel and furniture interests, and in
company in other departments, and wias miller at a
time, Then the whole of' grinding and Honring was
centred at Lake village and Laconia, exeept a little
corn-grinding at Copp's mill at a time Jater.  With
less cereal products produced, and more imported wnd
used, this s an adaptation both wise and in the line
oo natural dritt.  Yet it involves more labor and
furnishing, amd makes the resnlt less luerative.  The
old-time going to mill, with grist on the shoulder or
on horsebuck, has given place to more extendud trips
in vehicles, light and hesvy.  The preparation of the
grain for the milling state has heen varionsly done,
At one time the fluil and coursing breezes were all
the medistion used, Then the mechanieal fhnning-
mill was resorted to to comquer a calm. Then the
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separating-mill, or thresher, was nsed and operited
by horse-power and by water-power.

Two styles of the portable horse-power machines
were invented and nsed.  Oune was vonstructed with
a sweep and gearing and rope-tension, operated by
horses in draught.  The other with a treadle incline
and belting, and operated by horse-weight on the
treadle. One of the former was owned und operated
by a Mr, Bachelder, going from farm to tarm.  Sam-
uel Blaisdell & Sons owned and operated one of the
latter pattern; and still others were brought into
parts from adjacent towns. DBut the inconvenience
of s frequent relocation and transportation, and the
entertainment of the workmen and horses, was such
that the stationary mill, to be operated by water-
power, promised better suceess and speedy introdue-
tion; and proved sa, Hence, the almost simulta-
neous construetion of two such mills about the year
1835 or 1840,—the first at the Whitticr mill and the
other at the carding, fulling and shingle-mill, owned
by Christopher Gilman, then by Meshech Sanborn,
Benjamin Gilman and Hermon Hunter. The same
provision for the threshing season was made at the
Colling mill and at Meredith Bridge and Lake
village, and, later, at Colby’s.

The first years these mills were in use the patronage
was extensive. Farmers drew their two, five, or ten
tons of grain from oue to ecight miles to have it
threshed and returned, each one going at an ap-
puinted time.  These mills have but little patronage
now, and some of them have ceased to he used at
all.  So little grain is raised that it is not a great task
to separate it by hand-flail, or not very unprofitable
to feed the oat crop unthreshed. And rye is rarely
threshed in this machine, because of the damage to
the straw.

Mills for wool-carding and cloth-dressing, were put
in, one at Laconia, operated by James Morrison
and afterwards by John Buzzell, who, though they
lived in Gilford, did their work on the Meredith side.

This was discontinued some years ago, ou the decline |

of home-made cloth and yarn, und to give place to
their enterprise of cloth-nmaking.

The carding was first done by machinery at the
villige on the Hoyt's and Smith's mill privitege. Sub-
sequently a mill was built 4 mile below, at the junc-
tion of an castern branch of the river, and machinery
for fulling and dressing and pressing cloth was put in
and operated by =killed workmen, and the carding
machinery was transferred from Hoyt's mill to this.
Fulled cloth for men's wear and the pressed eloth, a
kind of flannel, for women’s wear, was the general
dependence,  This mill and work wus continued till
the fashionableness of satinet came about, and then
both the Buzzell’s mill at Laconia and the private

loom of the farner’s house prodneed that pattern of

fabrie, The warp {cotton) for the domestie article was
made for many years by Mr. Parker and his children,
at the end of the bridge opposite Ladd’s grist-mill,
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Stephen Chapman was a fuller at Gunstock Fulling-
Mill, and others conducted the business for a term,
and the business ceased nearly a half-century ago.
Later the wool-carding ceased, and neither is now in
use.
The Ticking Company wus located on the Gilford
side, at Meredith Bridge. It was very early in opera-
tion, muaking bed-ticking ; while the brick mill made
shectings,
The Ticking, Company of which W. Melecher,
Thowmas Bobb, Mr, Green and three others were
members, was a well-managed and successful firm.,
It realized less changefulness than the other com-
panies, Some changes ocenrred, however, in after-
vears, both in the personnel of the company and in
it« business. The new company built more exteun-
sively, and echanged the machinery from cotton-
working to that of wool-working, and from that of
eloth-making to that of knitting-works, and are pro-
ducing hosiery goods in all the mills belonging to
the company. The daily products of these mills are
immense, and go to commission agents in Boston,
and thus are put apon the general trade, and are of a
high standard.
The first cotton-mill at Lake village was one of the
earliest built, and in near succession to the Avery
mill at Meredith DBridge. Later the woolen mill
(so called) was built, but not immediately put into
| operation or furnished with machinery. These were
| both built on the then Meredith side of the river.
| The change of the ownership of the property at this
place was nnfavorable to the development of the
interests in manvfactures here.  The Pingree owner-
ship and management promised better times, but
soon left no better condition, and the Locks and Canal
Company, while, by a higher dam, it created greater
head, left the use of the motive power undeveloped,
and rather restricted and retarded expansion at this
place. In guite reeent years a mill has been built
and put into operation on the east side of the river,
and ig produving hosiery goods. Hosiery was also
made at one time in the carding-mill at Gunstock
Valley, by Augustus Copp and others; but it did not
continue many years.

The foundry industry was early and latterly an
important one. The smelting furnaee was never
completed. Tt was begun at Folsom’s or Bachelder’s
| Mills, and was designed on a grand scale. A hnge
conical chamber was halt~built of stone, and remained
| in statu gque, unfinished, for a time, and was then

finally removed.

Mismanagement and a fatal casualty at the moun-

Ctain, the distunce of transporting the ore and the
expensiveness of getting it out, the cost of preparing
and running the furnace, su as to compete with other
irop-mining compuanics in the northern part of the
State, together with the limitation of eapital, proved
too great obstacles to the snceess of the iron-mining
project; and hence it was soon utterly abandoned.

e
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But a blast furnice was put into operation for using
pig in castings, This industry proved feasible, anl,
heing well managed, was profitable.  As the use of
stoves came fo be so extensive, their production was
an important industry; also hardware, io the line of
culinary utensilzs and farming imploments, were in
increasing demand.

The discontinuance, gradually, of the old wooden
and iron-clad plow, and the introduction of the cast-
iron one, made ready market for a great quautity of
foundry products, and gave employwent to a large
number of moukders and foundry-workers and much
capital,  This industry, conducted chictly by the
Cole family, has been an extensive and leading one
at Lake village, and a substantiul benefit to both the
village and the town in general. The trade in, as
well as the production of, this cluss of merchandise
has been mainly at Lake village and iv the hands of
these men. Hence the place was ealled, for a long
period, the Furnace village,

The iron-work done in the repair shops of the rail-
road located here has also increased the business of
casting and added much to the bulk of foundry pro-
duction, and the shops have given employment to a
large force of workmen and given impulse and growth
to the place.

This village, in population and business, hus in-
creased rapidly of late years, and is now the rival of
Laconia, and by water approaches is even better con-
nected, These two largest centres of business and
population were begun at nearly the same time, bot
the lower one had decidedly the advantage for many
vears, particularly in having the court, the academy,
the greater trade, the greater extent of manutactures,
better connections in the old modes of travel hy the
stage lines, the bank, the taverns, the law-offices, the
resident physicians, the churches and the central po-
sition in relation to the other towns already then set-
tled. All these things contributed much to the pros-
perity and importance of the Lower village, and were
almost entirely wanting in the Upper village,

From the working of cast-iron to that of wrought-
iron the transition is natural and easy. The initial
department of this work was that of the common
blacksmith. The places and parties of this industry
have been alluded to in the naotices of the personnel
of the first settlers and need now no minute tracing.
The services of the blacksmith were a primary neces-
sity and demand, as not only for horse-shoeing and
nx‘-shoeing and the ironing of vehicles wnd making of
farming tools, but even the nails used by the carpen-
ter were made of wrought-iron and produced at the
common smith's forge in the early days of the scttle-
ment,

Some of the first artisans in this line were Autipas
Gilman, in the south part of the town, and his two
SOI‘IS,—“’iIﬁhI'OI? and J(mia]‘.l,-—\llt! latter of whom i
worked also afterwards at the village and subsequently |
became preacher to the Universalist Society there and
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finally settled in Lynn, Mass,, tollowing his profssion
there; and HVenry Wadleigh, in Chattleborough ;
and Samucel Blaisdell, at his place in the northwest
part of the town ; succecded by some tour of lis sons,
particutarly Philip 00, who worked ut the swne prlace
antb John, who wrought at the village and elsewhere
and tinally on Guustock Hill; and Daniel, at the Lake-
side rond (the Captain Locke place) and afierwards
at the Plaing, his present residence; also James Fol-
lett, on Gunstock il and at the village also Wil-
liwm and Ebenezer Stevens, successively ; and Joxiah
Gilman, already mentioned; and Willinm H. Wad-
leigh, who wrought in several shops and tor muny
vears; and in later times Charles Beede, iic-njmni;:
Dame, Gilman Leavite, Dudley Leavite, with Olarles
Beede, Jacob Bluisdell, Charles Swain, a Mr. ¢Cross
and others temporarily.  There have been six haps
at the village, and the work done there hag been ol
considerable variety s well us mugoitude.  John
Blaisdell made Boes and edge-tools.  1is shop stowd
near the present site of the church aud town hall,
Brede (alone and with D. Leavitt) made axes and
pitchitorks and chains, and he built, on the new road,
the present Wudleigh shop.  Gilman Leavitt and
Wadleigh, and, to some extent, others, ironed wagons,
carriages and sleighs, and were tire-setters, and all
did s]lt’ir_ﬂil][_".

Smith-work was done at Lake village by Rabie and
Hiram Gilman, and later, for earrisges, by Rublec,
who puts up the wood-work also. The same business,
on a large scale, was done at Meredith Bridge by
Thomas Bubb, on the Gilford side.  The most of the

“smith-work there was done on the Meredith side by

Daniel Tucker and others,

The machinist buginess was carried on in conuection
with the factory and afterwards in separate build-
ings. Badger Taylor and Alva tucker were varly
workmen at this trade.  Later, a large building has
been devoted to the business, located on the site of
the old Ladd’s mill.

The tanning and shoe-making and  peg-making in-
dustries have been important.  The old-style 1an-
vard and the hark-mill wis quite common in different
parts of the town, Benjamin Weeks, Esq., built one
in 1792, and he did =ome business in the line and io
connection with his son Muatthias,  Jeremiah Thing,
nearly as cuarly, pursiued the business on Liberty
Hill,  Captain James Follett and wso Richard Mar-
tin had yards on Gunstock Hill.  The latter was run
by John L. Martin atterwards and bought by Joseph
& 8 8. Gilman,  These all have ecased to be oper-

ated,
Bernard Morrill enrcied on an extensive business at

the village, which wus enlarged and continued by
I. L Morrill and by LI, & J. . Morrill and by L L
Morrill and Samuel Wrizht,  About forty vears ago
the old yvard was abandoned and a new mill was buily,

[ with steam works and water-power, for prinding hark.

This has been in operation till within a short time
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tfor tanning, but the enrrying ceased some years ago.
Another yard was many years in use at the village,
run by Matthias Sewall and also Morrill Thing, but
ceased to be used thirty years since, Matthias Sewall
had 2 yard and business at the Plains hefore and
after doing business at the village, James Crocket
did -« lurge tanning business ot Meredith Bridge, near
the Eager tavern and court-house. This was aban-
doned nearly fifty vears ago. The main business in
this line was done on the Meredith side by Worcester
Boynton, on the site of the Duzezell mill and at
Morrison’s livery stuble. A small amount of bnsiness
was dane in this line at other points in tewn.

The eratt of the shoemaker was a special one trom
the first. William Clark was the itinerant shoemaker,
going from bhonse to house to do the yeurly shoe and
boot-making for the fmmilies in turn.

Joseph Potter, ®r., was a permanently-located
shoemauker at his homestead.

Samuel Gilman (1st), a deformed or crippled man,
practiced cohblery on (runstock Hill,  His son Jere-
miah and grandson Daniel continued the business at
the village (ot B, Morrill's) and on Gunstock Hill,
and the lust-mentioned at three different locations in
the village, and, finally, at the homestead, near the
original place, on the hill, Paul Stevens pursued the
trade first in the south part of the town and after-
wards near the village. Israel Potter and, lately, his
grandson, T, O, Potter, worked at the business at the
old homestead and near by,

Leavit Sleeper very carly was shoemaker at Gil-
ford village. George W. Munsey carly learned
the bnsiness at Meredith Bridge, with one Mugget,
and for many vears pursued the business at the vil-
Jage.  David Ilale Munsey and Amos Prescot Mun-
sey also carried on the business, in connection with
George W, and the former also separately, and the
work has not entirely ceased at the shop of David
Hale Munsev. He has worked, or located his shop,
at some four different points in the village. Thos.
Perkins Aver carried on the business at three differ-
ent places in the village, and finally at the Plains,
Daniel Gilman and T. . Ayer worked also at har-
ness-making.,  George Crosby, al Gunstock Hill,
worked also at harness-making and shoemakiog. An-
drew Whittier pursued the trade in the cast part of
the village for many years; and Joseph Potter, son
of Joseph Jr., was his apprentice. John Avery was
apprentice of Daniel Gilman, and Jonuthan Leavitt
of Thos, P, Ayer. Warren Thompson worked at the
bnsiness at the village, and at Laconia afterwards,
Nathaniel Edwards and Jacob Clurk were shoe-
makers it Meredith Bridge, and Daniel Dinsmore
earricd on the harness-making business, first on the
Gilford side and afterwards on the Laconia side. 8-
won Rowe also for a time worked at the business at
Gillord  village, on sole-work, There has been no
shoe manufactory on a large scale in Gilford, but the
workmen it the business have heen nminerous, Some

62 HISTORY OF MERRIMACK COUNTY, NEW HAMPSHIRE.

of these have also been dealers in leather, especially
treorge W, and D, I Munsey, Thos, P, Ayer and Dan-
iel Gilman, The sole-leathier trade was considerable,
In later years ready-made shoes, for sale in shoe-
stores, supply the greater purt of the demand, so that,
with a greater population and larger volume of bus-
incss in the shoe line, the enstom-workers are less.
It was the almost universal custom for eacl man to
buy a stock of leather and have it made into shoes
and boots for the family on measure, The first set-
tlers rurely had boots, but used the shoe aud buskin,
and some thought it a sinful extravagance to wear
boots, especially of calf-skin,

The manufacture of shoe-pegs was begun on the
north side of the river, on the canal, by Mr. 3. K.
Buldwin, and was brought to a pause by the great
fire, which, originating in the peg-factory, destroyeid
the greater part of the buosiness section of the place.
This industry was resumed on the Gilford side in the
plice of the grist-mill, ut Ladd's mill. It was car-
ried on for a term of years, turning out about fifty
bushels of pegs daily, muny of which were exported
to Europe after supplying the home market. Af-
ter the destruction of these works the enterprise
was started anew, with incressed capacity, in build-
ings erected a short distance up-stream, and operated
by power at the dam, communicated by continned
shatting, The drying process is attended by consid-
erable danger of conflagration. The timber used,
principally white-birch and white-maple, was at last
bronght by railread from the npper part of the State
and Yermont, The business was atfended with sue-
cess by Mr, Baldwin & Sons,

The manufacture of hats and caps was undertaken
by different parties at sundry times and divers places.
A hat mannfactory was started very early at Avery’s,
and Mr. Hibbard, on the Oaks road, was a hatter,
and J. G. Weeks, at the village, condncted the bus-
iness. G, W, & John G, Weeks, at the village,
made also a stoek of caps, of cloth and partly of fur.
The industry of millinery was very limited in the
days of home-made apparel.  Miss Nancy and Fanny
Stevens conducted a limited business in that line at
the village, and some volume of business of the same
was done at Meredith Pridge and Lake village. Like-
wise, dress-making was but Jimitedly conducted as
an industry of itself, the average woman consider-
ing herself’ a master of the art, if the construction
of their apparel in the simple style of former days
could be said toinvelve anything of artifice at all.
Yet to the higher class there were some ministering
adepts to meet the imagined exigency ; and these
were represented slightly among other craftsmen,
and their services were generously rewarded,

The tailor and tailoress were much more in de-
mand, thongh the major part of men’s apparel was
made up by the clever maid of the house, or her
training and instructive mother and sister. The
craft was, however, represented from the beginning,



GILFORD. 763

The primitive tailor was also an itinerant, and, with

bodkin and goose and press-hoard, migrated through
the neighborhood to uniform the lad pud sive; the
“hailed of all men” was the tailor, A elever dame
by the name of Hannah Parsons, from Gilmantou,
used to make her yearly tour a-tailoring, to the in-
finite delight of the ragged urchin and tattered swain.

Joseph Sanborn, Sr., was also of this cratt, and lived '

near Mecting-Tou<e Hill. Misses Ann and  Savahb
Munsey carried on this business some years at tiil-
ford village ; and later, Simon Goss and one MoFar
land; and in the east part of the town Joseph Rob-
erts practiced the voeation.  Mrs. Bartlet, on the
Plains, and Messrs, Bughbee and Odlin, at the Furnace
village, conducted the business, At Meredith Bridge
the main business was done at first on the Meredith
side by Francis Russell, and afterwards by Charles

TRaussell and others,  Inlater times, Nathanicl Stevens

carried on the business in different shops,

The artisans on wood-work have not been few in (ril-
tord, nor inapt. Chicef of these has been the earpenter,
including ship carpenter und tramer. The avernge set-
tler was a elever worker on wood, and he consequently
rudely constructed many things himself, as out-ouild-
ings and many things needed in husbandry, and
Jett for the curpenter the more difficult mechanisms,
or the superintendence ol non-journeymen workers.
In the class of skilled journeymen workers were
the following,~—viz.: The Sanborus (Lowell, Richard,
Lowell, Jr., Richard, Jr, Osgood, Benjamin, Lowell
(Deacon) so-called) and others.  They all, or nearly
all, were practicing farming, or some other collateral
voeation also at intervals. Then the Blaisdells
(Samuel, the framer, Eliphlet and Hugh) and
others. Then Joseph Thing, Sr. and Jr.; also John
and Abel and Abel, Jr., Hunt. The Hunts were
finishers in pancl-work, banisters and ornamenta-
tions, In later vears there were David Walson,
Gardner Cook, Thomas M. Smith, F. Follet, P. Lovit,
Jeremiah Hunt, A. Woodward and many others.
Jonathan Watson and Thomas Ayers were broud-
axemen, apd had worked at ship-carpentry. Sam-
nel Leavit and a Mr. Bachelder were handy as mill-
wrights. Thomas Plummer, Joshua Gilman, Epoch
Osgood, Jonathan Whittier, Dauiel Gove, Benjamin
Rowe, Simeon Hoyt, Jr., John Abel, Jr., and Jere-
miah Hunt and a few others were wheelwrights, as
well as handy at carpentry.

Door, sash and blinds were formerly made by the
common carpenter, but now at factories. The trade
of carpentry hasbeen an important one, as thework to
be done has always been of considerable magnitude,
the most of the buildings having been made of wood,
and not a few of large dimensions and improved pat-
terus.

Cabinet and furniture-making, az an imlustry, has
been carried on at different places, as at Meredith
Bridge by Ephraim Mallard, and on the Meredith side
by the Somes Brothers; at Gilford village in the

Whitter mill, by Jereminh Hunt; at Abel Hunt's by
himselt and son, and by a few others at other phices.

Collins and easkets were formerly made by common
carpentoers,

Artisans on stone work have heen of some note
and carried on o Hmited business, both here and in
some other places,  Fsquire Benjamin Wadleigh and
Prescot Gioss are still in active Hife as stone-eatters,
Formoerly there was quite a general inclination on the
part of the voung men of this town toenter npon the
stonc-cutting business.  Johu & Froeman =0 Gil-
man were engaged in the business extensively here
and espeeially in Massachusetts,  John M. Rowe in
Frankfort, Me., where he quarried for Boston mar-
ket great quantities of building-stone.  William Levi,
Dudley and Benjamin Folsom were also engaged in
the business, and Joseph, son of Joseph Potier, Jr,
simeon Hloyt, Jr., also pursned the building of stone-
work, and various other parties engaged in the
coarser grades of stone-work and building. as stone-
misons.  There were here only a few formations of
stone which were good for quarrying.  The mountain
deposits were of coarse and not compaet substauce,
and  the boulder masses were pot usaally fissile ; vet
some good monumental works have been made of
them,

Waorkers of marble have been Jno. Merrill and
Merrill, Hull & Co.  This establishment has been
a snecessful one, and has been Jately located on
the Meredith side, at Laconia, and employs several
workmen.,

Theordinary work of brick-masons has been limited,
as but few brick bnildings have been huilt in town.
William and Henry Plummer, and Paul and Smith
Stevens and some others did the masonry of former
vears, and in later times the work is dependent on
artisans in the eraft from other places,

The industry of brick-making was prosecuted in
town a few years, particularly by Benjamin Rowe, on
the Pine 1Hill stream, and this yvard supplicd the
domestic murket. But the notable Dol brick-vurd, at
the Weirs, on the Meredith side, was snch in eapacity,
and by reason of the peculiar character of its clay,
and in the quantity and quality of its produets, thal
competition was impossible; henee, the few vlay de-
posits in the town were not extensively usedin brick-
making.

Thc_industr}' of pottery was earried on for many
vears, condncted by one Mr. Goodhue, at Gilford
'\'iil:sgu. The elay was obtained from the Weirs, and
was made into kiln-buent brown earthen-ware,  For
milk-pans and crocks of varions sizes and forms it
was un excellent article, and was in general use il
in later years, the use of tin in the manufacture of
wares for dairy nses, and stone for making jars and
other vessels, superseded them, and caused this in-
dustry to be discontinued, and much to the =atisfaction
of the nsing public, as the earthenware was very
fragile, as well as ponderous, and its glazing poisonous.
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The manufacture of artifieial limbs has been an
indunstry pursued. The Palmer limb was invented at
Meredith Bridge, and manufactured by him there
(the iron-work by Churles Clement), at the corner of
Main and Chureh Streets; but, snbsequently, Wood-
man Jewett pursued the enterprise in Giltord, and
then Samuel Jeweit and others engaged in it, and
finally the works were mostly removed to other
places, as New York and Philadelphisa.

Paper hoxes have been manutietured by E. Dea-
man and another firm at Laconin,  The demand for
them has been great, and the industry employs many
hands and considerable eapital. The old-fashioned
hand-box, of a wooden veneer, has been superseded
Ly the modern paste-board box of various forms and
sizes, in which light manufactured goods are packed
and sent to the market or the commission agent.

The trade of basket-making was pursued by Levi
Lovit and Ichabod Buzzell at the east and west parts
of the town respectively; also the sons of these, re-
gpectively, at the same places ; and that of the former
at Laconia in later vears, Ezekiel Collins also pnr-
sued the business near Laconia, and Abel Hunt &
Son nt his place. These lastalso reseated the ashen
chairs, and mavufactured other articles.  The industry
of palm-leaf braiding was extensively pursued at one
time. Thework was done in the families, and con-
ducted by the traders; those at Gilford village, Laco-
nia and Lake village, partienlarly G, W. Weeks,
Mesheek Sanborn, Horace Bughee and a few others.

The enterprise and business of general trade has
been important, and was early entered into, and is
continued in inereased amount aml compass. Ben-
jamin Weeks, Esq. began trade at his residence in
the last eentury. His sons, Daniel and Elisha, were
condueting the business there in the two first years
of this eentury, the former suceeeding the latter,
The latter also did business later in Boston, which
husiness was erippled in the time of the War of 1812,
and he returned to Gilford and did more or less trad-
ing here in an informal way afterwards, His sons,
Johin G, oand George W, were long in trade at the
village, and the latter, later, at Lake village. A store
was stoeked at Goustock meeting-house by Stephen
Peurly, of Meredith Bridge, and was run a few vears
by a ;'lvrk, and the same was closed and the building
removed to the village. After this, Joseph Sanborn
was in trade there for several years, and was sue-
ceeded by Jonas Sleeper, and he, inturn, by Ben-
jamin Jewett, Jr., Fsq. About this time Levi R.
Weeks hegan trade there, but soon removed fromn
town, as did also Elishu.

(harles Stark entered into trade at the Goodhue
pottery, and in a few vears was sueceeded by Bene
jumin Weeks, Jr,, and kater by George W, and then
by Weeks & Follet,  These stores were well patron-
ized and sueeesstully conidneted,

Abont the year 1840, the bnsiness being large,
rivaley began, and a new firm was formed by Ben-
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jumin Jewett, formerly in the business, and Albert
Chase, who had been eclerk at the Stark store and
also at Jewett's, and Jeremiah Thing, The firm of
Jewett, Chase & Thing continued but a few vears, he-
came embarrassed, and was dissolved, The firm of
Weeks & Pollet was  afterwards dissolved, and
G, W, & Benjamin F. Weeks went into trade in the
Jewett, Chase & Thing store.  Richard Glidden was
afterwards associated with G. W, and B, F. went
out of trade. In later yvears George W. went into
trade with his sons at Lake village. Levi B. Thompson
returned from Drunswick, Me., and set nup trade in a
new store, and George W. & John Munsey traded
at the Jewett store, and afterwards in the Thompson
store,  Mesheek Sanborn, a long-term  postmaster,
traded in a third store, and was succeeded by John
Sleeper,  Trade began to decrease under the facilities
of transit to Meredith bridge, after the building of
the Gully road, and the three stores were suceeeded
by two, and at length by one, aud, in reduced volume
of business, Martin Eaton continued the business
for awhile, and at present the Jones store supplies the
demands,

At Lake village the store on the west side was the
only store at first ; afterwards, Cole’s store at the fur-

" nace, and the Bughee store, at the bridge, were added ;

afterwards, G, W. Weeks and various other dealers
opened places of trade, and the business is now of
large capacity, and holds an enlarged place in the
supply of the outlying districts, and in the patronage
on the part of those who more and more make their
marketing here,

The bakery business lias been carried on at Lake
village by Charles Elkins. The trade at Meredith
bridge in early years was predominantly given to the
Meredith side, and to this day the bulk of trade is
there.

The French store, however, has done a fair share
of business since its opening, which was at an early
date, and has not frequently changed ownership.
Henry French eonducted it for many vears, and was
prinecipal member of later partnerships, Avery's
store was the first opened, in 1700, at the end ofthe
bridge. Various otlier business concerns were located
in two small buildings on each side of the roadway,
at the abutment of the bridge. The one on the np-
river side of the roadway was built by 1. B. Walker,
Est., and extended bevond the natural shore-line
into the river, and its supposed obstruction to the
witer-flow created a sensation on the part of those
interested in the water-power above, and demands
were made for its withdrawal, on penalty of its being
overturned into the river.

Richard Giove eonducted, for nearly a half-ecntury,
the jewelry business in this and other buildings.  The
post-oflice, established in 1824, was once kept in the
building ou the down-river side of the way by Mr.
A. €. Wright, who eondneted the paper, the Winni-
pireogee Guzette, and did business as shoe-dealer, and

i st
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afterwards in Lowell, Mass., whenee he came, and
whither he returned.  The large block on the corner
has been occupied by varions parties for oflices, resi-
denees and trading-plaees, and on ils site, sinee its
destruction, have been located various structures,
among which is a market, a shoe-shop and drug-store,
Swain’s store has been recently added, and one oppo-
site the hosiery was in occupaney by . Tilton for
S0le Years.

Hotel-keeping, a branch of trade, has been of some
importance and has heen conducted by a few enter-
prising men as landlords,

The Lawrenve tavern, on Gilford side, was rival of
the Robinson’s tavern, on the other side. It was kept
by Ebenezer Lawrence, and alterwards by John Til-
ton, and then became the Willurd Hotel, aml was
considered “ beautitful fur situation,” and a favorite
resort to the best elass of the traveling public and for
boarders. It wasafterwards kept by Young, Morrison
& Lveret. The Eager tavern was ncarer the court-
house, but “ the court ” usually made his abode at the
Willard, and the litigant more generally at the Fager

-and Robinson’s. The Eager has often changed land-

lords and name. Tt has been kept by Asa Eacer, Frank
Chapman, Charles Beede, Hiram Verrill, Mr, Tuck, A,
Morrigson, John Blaisdell and others, at ditivrent
times, and known as the Belknap House and by other
names, and been enlarged and rebuilt,  The building
of another house at Winnesquam, * The Bay View,”
and now still another, “ Vue De L'Van,” has been
in regponse to summer travel and required boarding,
which has greatly increased; and other houses for
boarding, such as the Muaplewood, ete,, have been
opened.

At Lake village, Bargent’s tavern was opened some
thirty years ago, and hefore that there was no pnblic-
house and not much travel to require one, The travel
by stage was mainly through Meredith. As to travel,
its mode, direetion and extent, great changes have
oceurred. The stage-lines were from Conway and
the upper parts of the State to Concord and Boston.
Daily trips were made each way, Onpe day took pas-
sengers {rom the upper towns to Concord, and the
next day to Lowell and Boston. These stages were
nsually filled,  Daniel Greencdrove a mail line from
Meredith Bridge, through Gilmanton, to Pittsfield,
and a bi-weekly stage ran to Alton Bay. This last
route underwent =ome alterations,—at one tinie pass-
ing throngh Giltord village, and, at another, via In-
tervale to Lake village, and wag finally discontinued
and a special route made to the village; and West
Alton was connected with Alton Bay,

Robert Carr kept a semi-hotel, or entertained
teamsters and travelers, as a balting-place between
Emerson’s, at West Alton, and Meredith Bridge.
Captain James Follet furnished meals and enter-
tained at town-meetings and on other public oceasions
at the Meeting-House Hill.  These, with many other
places recently, furnishing board in the summer sea-

son, constituted the hotel provisions in the town nnd
vicinity,

About 1845 travel by rail began,  The Boston,
Concord and Montreal Railroad was first opened
Meredith Bridge, and afterwirds to Phymouth, nnd
finully to Wells River,

The repair-shops were located at Lake village, and
a wharf and landing at the Weirs.

Before this, in 1832, the first steamboat, the © Rel-
knap,” was built at Luke village, and ot up into the
lake by heing buoyed up, to pass the shallows at the
Weirs,  =he was a heavy, clumsy boat, and ran only
a few years till she ran aground near Lopg Istand,
and was finally broken up and disposed of.  Captain
Winborn Sanborn wus the eomumander of her, and he
was, in after-years, also of the “ Lady of the Lake.”
Nince that time the * Lady of the Lake,” the * White
Mountain,” the “ Long lsland,” the * Winnipesan-
kee,” the “ Minneola,” the © James Bell and many
other sialler steamers hayve been put upon routes on
the lake, and communicate with the Weirs and Lake
vitlage.  Mucl transportation has been made also by
the harse-power toll-boats, and in gondolas (so-called
popularly), and by rafts and smaller boats.

The ecorporations located in the town, or doing
businesstherein, have beenthe Iron-Mining and Foun-
dry Company, the Ticking-Mill Company, the steam-
boat eompunies, the Aeademy Corporation, the Horse
Railroad Company (forued in 1883, and ranning strect
earg from Laconia and Lake village), the Savines-
Bank, National Bank and some smaller concerns
that do business on joint eapital and have common
interests.

In educational work and facilities, the town hus a
commentdable record in the past, and standing at
present,

When the town was incorporated there had been
formed ten distriets in which schools had been main-
tained, and the money raised that yvear for the sup-
port of these schoolzs was four hundred and ninety-
two dollars, These distriets have since been inereased
till they mumbered fourteen.  The added districes
were the Lake village (the village having grown up
sinee that time), the Zebedee Morrill District, the
Daniel Brown Distriet and the Captain Marsten Dis-
triet, These schools were maintained by the school-
money, divided according to the valuation of the
district, s bounded. Hence, they varied in duration,
and often were of short daration.  Usaally, a sum-
mer and a winter terin was held, of cight or twelve
weeks each.  Select sehaools were pecasionally held at
Gilford village andat Lake village in more recent yoars,
and, in 1520, an academy was estublished at Meredith
Bridge, which wius sustained some forty years, and
then econsolidated with the Hizh =chool or graded
schools of that village.  This was a rival schonl of
the Gilmanton Academy, which was estublished there
in 1744,

The academy had not, alas ! the prestige of thut of
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Gilmanton, a gencrous grant of land from the State
and the appropriation of its school-lot from the town,
sut it had the moral sapport of the better class
of the community, and a liberal patronage, It
was well instracted and managed under Precep-
tor Joshua M. Pitman, from Meredith, and Dyer
H. Sanborn, from Gilmanton, and John C. Clark, Mr.
Imerson and others, whose preceptorships were the
good fortune of the corporation and the praise of the
patrons and students, There had been a short interim
in the principalship when Benjamin Stanton, from
Lebanon, Me,, and a graduate of Bowdoin College, as-
sumed the duties of principal, and Clara Stanton those
of assistant and preceptress, which wus in 1549, and
continued till 1853,

The school was sustained a few years afterwards
and was taught by several teachers, among whom were
Woodbury 1., Meleher, A3, Mr, Richer, Professor
Huammond, Professor DBurleigh and, atter consolida-
tion, by .J. G, Jewett and others, and was at length
consolidated with the graded public schools, and its
record becomes merged in that of the town schools,
At different times select schools were held for a single
term at Gilford village, Such were taught by Albert
(. Weeks and Nathan Weeks, William . Farrar, C,
C. Watson, D. 5. Frost, Dr. Dearborn and others,
The old-time teachers were severedisciplinarians, and
the scholurs of that day stalwart and rude.  The fe-
male teachers of the summer gchool were somewhat
noted for their matronly kindness and care and ad-
vanced age, Twoa by the name of Mary Sanborn fol-
lowed the vocation till in far advanced years,

Among the male teachers who exclnsively tanght
the winter schools were William M. Farrar, Albert
(. Weceks, Ira G, Folsom, Rev, Mr, Damon, Daniel
K. Smith, Rev. D, C. Frost and others, who were men
of ability and extended education, and some were
collegians,  Of another class, athletic and disciplina-
rians, were Jeremiah Thing, James Morrizon, John
Davis, J. J. Morrill, Daniel Eaton, George Hoyt,
Samnel Evans, Jonathan Wecks, Harrison Bennet,
William B. Weeks, Benjamin Sanborn, David Y.
Smith, Aaron Blaisdell, Daniel Blaisdell, Joln M.
Rowe, Nathan Weeks, William Morrill, Harrison San-
born, Rutus Morrill, 5.8, Aver, William Hunt, George
Sanders, George Sleeper, Nehemiah Sleeper, Simon
Rowe, Shepherd Rowe, Rev, J. L. Sinelair, M, B.Smith
and many others, Nehemiah Sleeper was school com-
mittee for the town at its commencement, and Is-
quire Benjumin Wecks was a leading man in educa-
tional interests even before the incorporation of the
town, A tew sons of Gilford have graduated at col-
lege,~—William, son of Esquire Benjumin Weeks,
Alhert G Weeks, Ira Folsom, J. . Watson, Woad-
bury L. Melcher, C.C. Watson, John B. Merrill, A,
J. Thompson, Jonas Steeper, Daniel Dinsmore, Joseph
B. Clark and a few others,

The
which did muneh tor the instruction and general intel-
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ligence of the community ; these were well read, but
have not heen maintained. .\ public library is pro-
vided by Laconia for that part of Gilford now de-
tached.

There have been two newspapers published in
town,—one more recently at Lake village and one
formerly at Meredith Bridge,—but papers pnblished in
Boston and New York have larger circulation,

The Gazette (Winnipesankee), at Meredith Bridge,
was edited and poablished sometimes in Gilford and
sometimes in Meredith, and under changed names.
Amaong its editors and managers have been Charles
Lane, J. C. Moulton, A. C. Wright, Mr, Baldwin
(of unhappy and premature death), and several others.
Mr. Drake was some years toreman printer.  The fa-
eonia Demoeral may be considered the snceessor of the
(fazette, and has been well conducted, but belongs to
Laconia properly, The Lake Village Times is under
the management of the Hon. Mr. Haynes, member
of Uongress, and is a suceesstul issne and patronized
by readers of the town of the Republiean party and
sympathies.  Gilford huas not been distingnished for
authors and authorship, nnless we except the work
done in the line of text-books hy Dyer 1. Sanborn,
and theordinary editorials in the regular issues of
newspapers,

In professional ranks and services there have been
adepts and honorable success.  The medieal practi-
tioners have been many, and by no means in dis-
honor, They have been generally trustworthy and efli-
cient, and, insome instances, distinguished. In the first
vears atter thesettlement of this part of the Gilmanton
territory the demand for medical and surgical serviees
was met by the abundant supply of doctors resident
in Old Gilmanton.  Many ot them had a wide prac-
tice, even spanniug Giltord, and extending across the
lake into towns adjacent to the northern shore. Such
men were Dr, William Smith, in 1768 and to 1850
Jonathan Hill, 1778 and onward into the present cen-
tury; Obadiah Puarish, 1790-94; Abraham Silver,
1790=1801; Simon Foster, 1793-1824; Daniel Jacohs,
179-1815; Benjamin Kelley, 1801-39; Asa Croshy,
1816-32; Thomas H. Merrill, 1314=22; William Pres-
cott, 1815-33; Dixie Croshy, 182438, and at Gilford,
1525-35; Ods French, 15323 and onward ; Jacob Wil-
liams, 1816-28; Nathan . Tebbetts, 1825 and on-
ward ; John C. Page, who practiced at Gilford village
in 1826 and Gilmanton, 1832-36, and was afterward a
minister; Nahum Wight, 1832 and onward many
years; Joseph Gonld, 1520 and onward; Edward (5,
Morrill, 1834 and afterward ; and some others for a
short time,

Those who have located and practiced in this town,
more exclusively, were Zadock Bowman, at Mere-
dith Bridge, in early times; J. C. Prescot; Dixie
Croshy, about 1835, and who beeame distinguished as

surgeon and professor in Dartmouth Medieal College;
town early contained circulating libraries, |

Josiash Croshy, suceeeding Dixie ; Andrew McFarland,
1838 and onward; J. L, Peasley, who soon retired
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from practice; Dr. Garland, abont 184560 Dr.
Ayer, 1850 and onward ; Dr, Francis Sleeper, native-
born, and practicing till about 18606; Warren Sleeper
and Warren Leach, homwopathists, or of the Botanic
School; Dr. Knowles, a few years, about 18435 Dr.
Prescot, succeeding Knowles; D, Wilson, about
1875, and again at present; De. Weeks, homaopathist ;
Dr. Foster, to the present time; De. B, Muonsey,
eclectic to the present time at Giltord village and
also Laconia; Dr. Josiah Sawver, at the village for
many years prior to 1845 ; Dr, George W, Munsey, at
the village for some torty vears prior to 856, Dr,
Charles Tehhets, at the village and later at Laconia;
Drr. Dearbon, at the village a short time ; Dr. Devan,
at the village and Lake village; Dr. Moore and Dy,
Goss, homeeopathists at Lake village; Dr. IPrank
Russell and Dr, 1. 8. French, native-horu, and gradu-
ating arg residents; Drs, Frank Stevens and Hosea
Smith and others studied medicine with Drs, Garland
and Ayer, and practiced elsewhere.  There was also
in early times a class who practiced Hmitedly without
protessional education, ax Mrs, Samuel Blaisdell and
Mrs, Frohock, and others; also, Nathaniel Davis,
Sr., . Y. Swith and 1, 8. Gilmao, by patent prep-
aration. M. A . Wiley is sole representative ol
female practice, under & regular diploma, and after a
full course of medical education.  Her location was
first at Gilford village, and atterwards at Luaconia,

The spotted fever epidemic was in 1816, and D,
Asa Crosby discovered an cffectual remedy for it;
other fevers, notably the typhoid, has been at times
epidemic, but this array and torce of medical ability
has proved a defiance to their ravages, and protected
life effectually.

A special instance of surgical operation wus the
case of Malachi Davis, who was opened amd had
gravel extracted, and lived many years afterwards,
The surgery of Dr. Aver was skillful, as was also that
of the Croshys,

The legal profession, though not represented by so
numerous a host as was the medical, was nevertheless
not without distinguished men, The shirctown of
Strafford County, and later of Belknap, would natur-
ally collect into its domwain much legal talent and
furnish mueh practice,

The first court-house and courts were at Fast (iil-
manton, where there is now no village.  Tn 1799 the
courts began to be held at the Academy village, and
the legul men were collected and resident there,
Later stil], the courts and court-honse were located in
what was thereafter Giliord, The several lawyers of
Gilmanton and from other places came here to trans-
act business in the court, and at length the legal
talent was wassed at this point. Timothy Call was
here as carly as, or before, 1801, and ten vears later
Lyman B. Walker, and Stephen C. Lyford in 1%15,
and Benjamin Boardman ten years later. (vilmanton
was thirty-two years without a lawyer, when, in 1793,
Stephen Moody, pioneer of the profession in this part
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of the connty, appeared in that capacity umong the
inhabitants of the Lower Parish. The nore important
matters in- question had heen managed by lawyers ul
Exeter and other plaves of older settlement. il
Joseph Badger, as magistrate, with the justices in
their oflicial administration before him, disposed of the
matters of minor moment.  In the immeeintedy siubse-
quent years the law business of the early settlers of
teilford was done by the lawyers of Gilmanton pro-
per, where fthere were practicing, besides Stephien
Moody, John Ham, atter 1501; Nathanicl Cogswell
after 18055 Benjamin Emerson, after 1822 Nathan
Croshy, after 1824; Jumes Bell, about 1523 (who
afterwards pursued his profession in Giltord); George
Minot, in I881; Arthur Livermore, in 1833 Ira A,
Eastman, in 1831; F. St L, Livermore, in 1825
Willimmn Buttertield, in 1841 George G, Foge, in
[844; and others later.  The courts of Steatford
County being held at two places, Dover and Gilfurd,
the share of litigation in the county was less for the
term sitting at Giltord than that for the term sitting
at Dover; yet some very important wuses were tried
at Gilford, and  “eourt time” especially " great
day,”—ie. the day for eriminal cases, viz.: the first
Thursday—was a season of great concourse une a gals-
day for venders and jockevs and horse-racing, und all
manner of exeitement and exeesses, personal and
social. The effeet of the time was hoth to partially
clear and to replenish the docket, and both to empty
and to fill the pockets, as depended.

Mauny lawvers of Dover and Portsmouth, of Exeter
and Concord and other places, were accustomad to
practice at the Strafford, (later, the Belknap) bar; and
many a powertul plea and weighty charge and able

Copinion or decixive verdiet wits made and heard and

given and rendered in the court-house at this place.
The mighty wmen, Pearce and Tlale, Atherton and
Bellows, Butters and Bell, argued causes wmasterly
here.  Letter and not much lesser advoestes hefore
this har were Whipple und Stevens, Hibhaodand Lov-
ell, HMatehingon and Meleher, Vaughan and Clark
(both Joseph B, and Samuel), Jewel and Jewett, anel
others who follow in the train of Walker and DBoard-
man, and Lyford and Hazeltine,

The common Justices of the town, who Jdid much
of the minor luw business of the town, were headed
by Esq. Benjamin Weeks, who, as mediator between
wan and man, heard and advized in these intermin-
able guestions ol disputed rights of possession, nris-
ing from the imperfectly-defined  boundaries 1o
plants in the wilderness: as alsn in matters of Jues,
not eousidered consistent with ability or determina-
tion ; and in matters of demeanor, private and pub-
lic ; and this, no narrow sphere for the ool esiqnive,

Amaong those thns honorably coustituted and act-
ing were the following: Henjamin Jewett, Jr., Der
nard Morrill, E. %, Hunt, Mesheck Sanborn, Josiah
sawver and Daniel Weeks, for the centre of the
l!‘:“‘l‘l; Joseph 1. ¥mith, Daniel Brown and Danicl
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Faton, tor the east part of the town; John Evans,
Samuel Leavitt, Ebenezer and John Smith, for the
north ; Charles Hibbard, Joseph Libbey, Asron (.
Blaisdell, ¢, Thing, George Naunders, Samuel G,
Sanborn and Aarou Robinson, for the northwest;
Benjamin Sanborn, Joseph Sleeper, Benjumin Cole,
John Blaisdell, V., Barron, for the west part of the
town ; and Morrill Thing, J. James, Ephraim Mal-
lard , Ihenezer Lawrence, Woodbury Melcher, and
many others, in the south part of the town and Mere-
dith Bridge.

The Probate Court was held at Gilford, and alter
“the division of the county Waurren Lovell was many
vears the judge and Esquire Vaughu the clerk.
The successors will be learned from reference to
another chapter, treating of the courts, the bench
and the bar,

The Sherifts of the county have been Asa Eager,
—— Philbrick, Bartlect 111 and others, as will also
be seen from the section appropriated to the bench
and the bar. The deputies have been these, some be-
fore promotion, and as not promoted, Dudley, Smith
and others, as will also be seen from reference to the
same article.  There have been important causes
tried at this bar of the Court of Common Pleas—
e. g, the case of Ilain vs the towu of Alton, to re-
cover dawmages hy reason of imperfect or obstructed
highways; twice tried without agreement and verdict
by the jury, and transferred, The cases of’ land-hold-
ers vs. the Locks and Canal Company, to recover dam-
ages tor unnatoral flowages, The compauy, by Hon,
James Bell, Esi., their agent, assisted by Hon, Charles
<1, Atherton and others, defended themselves vs. many
land-holders and  mill-owners on the Winnesquam
und other bays, who brought suits for damages to
fands and mill privileges. The company lost their
case, and appealed, and alterwards compromised.
The company, to secure greater capacity of reservoir

in the lake and bays, instituted a critical survey of

the lake and its surroundings by a skilled civil
engineer, Daniel K. ®mith, sssisted by others, and
vaused an accurate computation to be made of the
whole basin's increase in capacity, by a definite in-
erease ol height by flowage (above the natural level);
also the amount capable of being drawn by reducing
the natural level to a definite extent.
the litivation in cases on the Winnesquam, and the
uncxpected amount of damages that would result
from raising the surface of the lake, led to the de-
¢ision to attempt only a slight increase ot flowgze,
and an extra dranght by means of a canal, eut in the
Dbed of the river at Aquadocton, which decision was
carried into cileet, and whatever damages were ocea-
sioned, either by draught or flowage, were paid, by
agrcement with the parties sustaining them. The
surveying of Smith & Crocker, of Laconia, was
notable and of fine specimen. The desire of the
company to add height to the dam at the foot of
Winnesquani. aud at Lake Village and Meredith

The result of
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Bridge, and thereby to increase the reservoir capacity
of the lakes and bays, was accomplished in a meas-
ure, but by purchuse, and not by court decisions.

The Jitigation of citizens with one another, or the
town with individuals, or either with corporations,
has not been fo a great extent, and the courts have
been generally good arbiters of jnstice.  Panper
cases aud disputed possession, and building of roads
and bridges, huve constituted the greater part of legal
actions and contentions, Cases of prosecutions for
liquor-selling without license were at one time quite
numierons, CUriminal cases have been few, and the
courts and the legal profession, in such cases, have
honorably dealt with the arraigned, according to the
law and the testimouy.

The Ecclesiastical History of Gilford is of im-
portance and interesting. It will embrace the rela-
tion and development of several denominations; the
annals of the several particular churches organized in
the town; and the biographical sketches of the
ministers raised up and laboring here, with notices of
the leading men in these churches and of special
issues taken and decided. The aims and the pro-
visions of the proprietors of Gilmanton and, more
primarily, of the celonial suthorities, were religious
rather than ecclesiastical.  They did not foresee
or anticipate a heterogencous moral community, and
vet the primal stock and idea was narrow and ex-
clusive, and, to their surprise, was found to be thus
developing itself.  Their religious sentiments mani-
fested & dogmatic nature and tendency. At the first
a man was placed in service by comparatively disin-
terested authorities, the district proprietors, who
labored more for the morael improvement of the
people than for the special ecclesiastical outlook, or
even the spiritual culture.

He, the Rev. William Parsons, was a man of moral
rectitude and devotion, and of great catholicity of
sentiment aud fellowship. He wus sent by the pro-
prietors to fulfill their stipulated engagement as a re-
ligious instructor for the first ten years of the settle-
ment,  This he fulfilled with punctilious exactness
and faithtulness. But the germs of two faiths and
typical life were in this nascent body politic ; and
when the throes were past it was found that twins
were brought forth, and they, like the typical pair,
had been taking each other by the heel in ante-natal
strife,

The people, when they came to exercise their
choice in regard to a settled minister, found a portion
of them united on Rev. Isaac Smith. Without dis-
respect or averting any regard for Mr. Parsons, who
was then nearly sixty years of age and in many ways
still useful, the people attempted to provide for the
tuture spiritual guide to the rapidly-expanding
settlement,  In 1773, when this point in religious
affairs had been reached, the thoughts of many pros-
pectors had been directed to the outlook of the place
at the terminus of the Provinee road, which had now

.
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been built three vears, and the inevitable enlarge-
ment in that quarter expected was taken into ac-
count when they were devising ways and means for
having a settled ministry.  Yet, evidently, some fore-
saw two purishes in their laving ont and defining the
First Parish, but donbtless did not foreeast two faiths,
In deeiding the question of the location of the first
church, as well as in the sclection of the minister,
there was developed a decided opposition ; and this
opposition was found to be not altogether as to the
question of convenience and accommodation, but
involved matters of belief and speeial interest.
Hence, in 1774, about the time Stephen Gale was
locating and building his mille at Meredith Dridge,
the people were building their churches in the Lower
Puarish,  The Buaptist ¢lement proved to be strong
and persistent.  They felt able 1o rival the Congrega-
tionalists, and sneceeded in raising their church
building the same day that the other party did theirs,
Their church was existing, as the first in the State,
on November 16, 1773, The Congregationalists’
interests and affairs were munaged townwise, Ience,
no action chorchwise antedates the Baptist records.
Mr, Smith preached preliminary to a stated engage-
ment in the fall of 1773 and regularly after May 13,
1774, and was inducted nto the pastorate November
A0th of the same vear, at which date the history of
the church, as an organization, may be considered to
begin, prior doings heing not organic action,

The Baptist Charch, though alremly organized,
with maoderator, clerk and deacon, was without a
regular minister installed.  Ministers of that order
trom other places supplied them oceasionally and
administered baptism. Deacon Thomas Edgerly and
Samuel Weeks, as elerk, otliciated in public service
in the interval and a few years later, in 1777, Samuel
Weeks and Edward Locke were licensed to preach in
the church, and go forth on all the field as preachers
of the gospel and hold meetings anywhere.  These
going forth accordingly, aud Mr. =mith as well,
visited places bevond the First Parish Hnes, in what
was beginning to be called the Upper Parish, includ-
ing what was afterwards called the Guustock Parish,
and also what was in later vears denominated the
Upper Parish of Gilmanton. the former being now
Gilford and the latter Bebmont. The sowing of this
seed of dissent and independency vielded its first
harvest in 1779 and 1750, when it was seen to be a
game at which more than one vould play,  Edward
Locke, the licensed preacher. had become tinctured
with Arminiap sentiments, and dissented from the
articles ot faith adopted by that church three years
previous,  Samnel Werks was then ordained, bat
soon took the same course and left the chureh and
town, leaving thus the chureh unsupphied.

Four years later Dudley Young was appointed Lo
officiate in public services; and soon after this Elder
Powers was ealled, who was constituted pastor of the

church by ordination and installation, which took -

Tho

place on the 14th of June, 1776, The town toak ae-
tion, in which the word« * Upper Duarish " are nsed,
ascarly as 1777, In 1730 the twe ministerisl
were designated as No, 13 in the seventh range and
No, 19 in the thirteenth ranpe.  These were situsted
outside of the First Parish, the latter in Gonstock Par-
ish, and which was afterwards known as the minis-
terial 1ot appropriated to the benefit of that parish in
partieular; and the former iu the Tioga Parish, or
Upper Parish, Gilmanton, and henee, presumably,
desiguated for the speeial benefit of that parish, Thus
there was at this early date a reeognition of the pros-
pect of three parishes.  There were issnes made on
the taxation of all citizens to support the Congrega-
tional, or the town's, meeting-house service, and the
decision was that they shonld be exempt who should
file a certificate from the wardens of the Baptist
Chureh that they had paid to the support of preach-
ing at their chureh.  But in regurd to the inhabitants
of the Upper Parish, it was voted by the town in 1787,
that they be taxed to either the Congregational or
the DBaptist support, and that the money so levied
be appropriated to supply preaching in that part of
the town, and given to the two regulur ministers,
Powers and Smith, who should render service thery,
each according to the amount so raized and desig-
nated. The place of holding their services wus left
to the judgment and choice of the adherents, or their
preachers, respectively, as there were na churches yet
huilt in the Upper Parizh, or parishes more properly.
The same action was taken in 1755 also, and thus it
appears that Mr, Smith and Mr, Powers were the first
authorized preachers in this part of the town, orin
Gilford.  The people now began to provide for the
building of another chureh to accommodate that part
of the town, The same rivalry and contention on the
question of location, or of division, took place here as
had been encountered in the Lower Parish, and the
result was the came, viz: two houses bnilt the same

lots

vear, 1792, One was located on the Province road,
two or three miles south of Meredith Bridge, and the
other on Gunstock Hill, now in Giltord: and these
were =ome fonr or five miles apart. These becamne
centres of two distinet parishes, Gunstock and Upper
Urilmanton.  The  Congregationalist intervsts more
largely centred in this lower, or now middie hionse,
and the Baptist influence predominated in the upper,
or Gunstock honse, and in that vicinity ; thongh that
house, being built by the people in common partici-
pation, was open to cach soviety, or to preaschers of
any denomination who might be inviusd by any con-
siderable party of citizens, and 1o these each for a
time in proportion to the nmamber of eitizens inclin-
ing and allying themselves to each such order or
preacher.

In 1792, before the completion of these houses, the
town voted to tax the Congregationalist Sueiety inthe
Upper Purish the same as in the Lower Parish, and
that the society (implying that one had been already
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formod) in the Upper Parish may lay out their mouey
as they see fit.  1n 1704, atter the honses were built,
the town granted leave to Mr, Smith to preach in the
Upper Parish, it an agreement eould be made hetween
him and the people there.  They evidently were sup-
porting a separate interest, and yet not anited nor
strong enough to suppert entirely a scparate minister,
and much less one for each of the two or miore partics,
1t is understood that Mr. Swmith’s preaching in the
Upper Parish wag mainly at the Provinee road house,
and that on that service the Congregationalists resi-
dent in the Gunstock region generally attended.

The Baptists, who had estublished themselves in
Meredith in 1782, controlled aftairs largely in the
north part of the town, and had the princ¢ipal ocen-
paney of the Gunstock meeting-house for several
vears. The defection of Weeks and Locke had
checked their fervor, and put the Baptist canse into a
serious disadvantage, Nor were they aloncin the de-
parture. John Shepard, Esq., afterward most popular
and prominent in public civil affairs, who had been a
member of that church almost from its beginning,
was in sympathy with Locke and in connection with
him, and Elder Tozer Lord, of Barrington, laid the
fonndation of an extensive and orgunized seecssion
trom the Baptist order and denomination, and the
founding of the order of Free-Will Baptists, which
was an anti-Calvinistic movement and successtul in
many parts.  Ie professed alterwards to have re-
ceived these views by nospeeial Divine unfolding or
revelation before they were known to Locke and Lord,
and that he communicated the same to them, and with
them founded the order,

These three men, voluntarily shutting themselves
up in the untenanted house of Esquire 'iper, on
Clough's 111l over the Gilmanton border, in Loudon,
fusted and prayed lor a week, as they said, and then
wrote out their articles of faith, mutually ordained

themselves, Loeke wnid Lord as preaching elders and |
Shepard as ruling elder, and went forth asa new chureh.

The genius of the new order was zealous propagan-
dism, and the immediate action was to go, the Ist
ot April, 1780, to New Durham, and ordain one Ben-
jamin Randall, who became the apostle and reputed
originator of the new faith.  This doetrinal faith
theneeforward was advocated in various places; and
when the Baptists sought & man to ocenpy the Gun-
stock fickd, and had united on Richard Martin, of Lee,
who had been ordained in 1795 and came to laubor
here the ollowing year, they found that he held like
views,

The project to torm a Second Baptist Church at the
Gunstock mecting-house, by a couneil ealled October
12, 1797, was theretore abandoned, and the next
vear a Free-Will Baptist Chureh was organized there,
and Riehard Martin beeame its pastor and continued
such a little more than a quarter ot a century, and
until his death, by apoplexy, October 17, 1824,

The DBaptist eause was thus checked, or super-

seded, and bnt little effort was made to sustain
meetings regularly in Gunstock Parish until 1811,
At this time the Second Baptist Clharch was fornied
by a territorial division of the First Church, and
Elder Uriali Morrison was placed in ecare of it, and
it was convened part of the time at the chureh and
the greatest part of the time at other places, till 1817,
when Mr. Morrison died,  He was succeeded by
Elder Strong, who preached at the school-house and
at various other places.

Soon after this the Baptists built a house of wor-
ship at Lake village and concentrated their interests
and held their mectings there. A large and flourish-
ing chureh has been gathered there under the labhors ot
Elders A, M. Swain, L. Chase, H. D. lHodge, Mr.
Huuntley, J. M. Coburn, A. Brown, W. A, Horn,
King Solomon Hal (who has been twice in the
pastorate und once State commissioner of education )
aml several others, as J. B, Damaon, J. M. Chick and
A. R Wilson.  Kelley Rowe improved his gift as lay
preacher with this church and elsewhere.  Deacon
Eliphlet Blaisdell has been « lite-long, active and de-
voted member.

The church building has been rebuilt and enlarged
and rededicated in 1871, and is an elepant and
spacious edifice.

For a few years after the death of Richard Martin
lhis church continued to occupy the Gnostock meet-
ing-house the major part of the time and was minis-
tered to by various ministers from abroad, one ol
whom was John Rollins. The other denominations
claimed its use their share ot the time, and there
was no little contention for its oceupancy aud com-
plaint for too frequent occupaney by others.  The
Baptists, too, complained of exclusion.  The Univer-
salist« demanded it a part of the time; William
Blaisdell oceupicd it part of the time in the interest
of the Christians, or Christian Baptists, whose tenets
and fuith he indorsed and advocated at that time.
The Congregationalists claimed its use a fourth part
of the time.  Under the force of these existing
cirenmatances and conditions, and these discordant
and jealous sentiments, the several puarties success-
ively relinquished their claims, and, for peace and
prosperity’s sake, located themselves in different
guarters; and o the old church was abandoned.
And for several vears it served only for n place 1o
hold the town-meetings, till the building of the new
town hall, about 1540,

It was finally sold to Captain Benjamin Weeks and
others, and taken down, It was a stately cdifice, two
stories in height, steepleless, with two porehes for
entries to the end-doors and for stairways to the gal-
leries ; a broad door in front, leading to the broad
aisle ; galleries on three sides, the east, west and
sotith ; asounding-hoard suspended over the high and
narrow pulpit, and the singers’ seats opposite, in the
left; square (and a tew oblong) pews, above and be-
low, built in pancl-work, with rail and baunisters; and
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double rows of small and thickly-set windows, thus

making a grand appearance, und commanding wdmi-
ration in the beholder, and wonder and pride to the
townsman. Its timbers were and  frame
strong, and should have endured azes, and vet it
stood scarcely fifty years. It sat on the vory snminit
of a hill, abont six hundred fect above the Inke-leved,
and commanding one of the finest prospects and
scenery of New Englind, and itself a conspicuous
landmark and objeet of veneration and beauty in all
this region; but its glory was despailed by diseord
and strife, alienation and division; its beauty had
departed.  Soon after the close of Elder Martin’s
pasterate, or bishoprie (for he was not confined to
lahior in this church, but superintended, or oversaw,
churches or enterprises in Gilmaunton Upper and
Lower Parishes, and Sanbornton und elsewhere), the
church was reconstrueted, awd they built a house at
the village, This had a larze congroeation in attend-
ance, coming from all parts of the town. The
church has been ministered to Ly Ilders John L. =in-
elair, Abel Glidden, John DL Knowles, John Knowles,
Elbridge Knowles, John Pinkham, Ezckiel True,
Maxy Burlingame, D, C. Frost, Seth Perkins, (i
Sanborn, i, A, Park, 1. C. Kimball, J. W, Rich, I,
. Wiley, Mr. Emery, Mr. Hyatt and some others,
It was reorganized abont 1835,

The Second Free-Will Baptist Church was organ-
sized November 6, 1386, in the southern part of the
town and northern part of Gilmanton. It was not to
be considered as distinetively a chureh of the Upper
Parish of tiilmanton, thongh it used the Provinee
road meeting-house most of the time, The church
at Fellows” Mills, under P'eter Clark, was the regular
chureh of thiz order in Upper Gilmanton, and this
chureh, whose members mostly lived in Gilford, was
eonsidered, as appropriately classed, a chareh of
Gilford, and it wus uuder the care of Elder John
Kuowles, Sr., while sometimes supplicd and superin-
tended by Elder Martin, It had about fifty members,
and coutinuned till the death of Elder Kuowies, in
1837, After that time the major part of the members
joined the First Church, at Gilford village, and u new
church was organized at the Provinee road house,
and beeame distinetively a chureli of Upper Gilman-
ton, and is not, in a proper sense, the successor of the
Second Church, though some of its wembers are res-
idents of Gilford, and a large part of the Second
Church was incorporated intu it.  Elhridge Knowles,
son of Johu, Sr., was its pastor, and it has had a con-
tinued line of succession since then.

A Third Free-Will Baptist ¢'lnech was gathered at
Lake village in 1838, Mecotings were at firsi held
gome four veurs, in i room in the upper story of the
woolen-mill, by I. L. Sinclair and others. Subse-
quently a chapel was built on the main street, north
of the Baptist Church, in 1842, and Elder Waldron
(T. N.11.), Nahum Brooks, John Pettingale, William
Johnsou and Uriah Chase supplied the congregation.

nusgive

At length o commodions house wns built oo the
Commons Hill, in 1852, and has boen occupied sinee,
1. L Sinelwir and Elders 1080 Kimbad, Smith Fair-
ticld, Kinsman R, Dayis, Ezekiel Troe, EN. Knowles,
S D, Church, Hosea Quimby, €. B, Peckham and
others have supplied it also, M. €. Henderson. 1.
W, Seribper, ¢ F Cate, B0 W, Ricker, 1. W
Porter and a tew others more temporarily,

A Fourth Free-Will Baptist Chareh was gatherod
at Meredith Bridge, which worshiped awhile in the
court-honse, and afterwards built a commodious
bouse, which hiss been rebuilt, then burnt and relinilt
again.  The church has prospered, and the eongreca-
tion has beew one of the largest of the place, 1t s
bad for its supply Revs, Nahum Brooks, 1 D, Stewart,
Ebenczer Fisk, A. D. Smith, Elders I Lytord, 1,

Locke, Lewis Malvern, Granville Waterman, F.
Georre and others.  Tts sanetnary is elegant wnd
Spicions,

The Universalists built & chugeh at Gilloed village
at the time of abandining the old trunstock house,
and held services in it a tew years, with intervals of
discontinuance,  Joginh Gilman and Robert Bartlett
supplied the society some years, aud lived on Liberty
Hill, the latter on the Oseood estate and the former
at his father's, Antipas fiilman, and, Inter, at the vil-
lage.  William Blaisdel]l prenched for the Christinns,
Other preschers oceupied the puipit at thnes, and, in
laier years, the Sceond Methodist Chureh have nsed
the building and held service regularly,

The Universalist socicty that was gathered at Mer-
editly Bridge built a1 house and held serviees there
any years, but subsequently sold the house to the
Methodist society, who now occupy it.  The Univer-
galist society was supplied by Elders Atchinson,
Prince anid others. The =ociety was not large, but
was prosperous for a number of yesrs, and then was
given up, and has now no open existence,

The people of Uanitarian seutiments, not
numerons and wealthy enough to maintain asepaeate
church and serviees, and heing well pleased with the
Rev. De. Young and his preaching, united in the
cangregation worshiping in the North Church, and
only in lster years have had a church und supply.
Their church wias loeated on the Lacounin side, but
somie of the prineipal sdherents lived in Giltord,

The Cungregationalists, who at first held services
iu the Guustock and Province rowd meeting-houses,
having but limited privileges in those houses, hy req-
sun of the elaimed rights of other seets, hegan 10 con-
tree their interests at Meredith Bridge, and built o
clreh in the south part of the village, which was
about midway between the Gunstock and Provinee
road nmiceting-houses.  flere a church was arganized
in 1824, the vear in which Elder Martin died, and
the current hesan to run in favor of relinguishing
clnims to, and oceupaney of, the oid chuarch. They
enjoyed the services of Mr. Jotham Sewell Norwoul
for five years, and in 1832 settled Rev. J. K. Young.

heing
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Soon alter the beginning of his pastorate the church,
together with the dwelling-house of Esynire L. B.
Walker, was burnt. It stood south of the Lawrence
tavern (since the Tilton and the Willard). The so-
ciety deeided to rebnild on the Meredith side, and
thenceforward the ebhurch is no fonger called a church
of Gilford, thongh a large part of its communicants
and attendants have belonged to this town; and
they are the only representatives of the orthodox
faith in the town, and are citizens of good standing
and of financial ability. Some of that religious be-
lief mingled in the Free-Will Baptist congregations
at Gilford village and Lake village, as a matter of
convenience, there being no Congregational Church
near in either direction, This church has had pros-
perity, and enjoyed distinetion among other churches,
under the long pastorate and ahle services of Dr.
Yonng and his successors, the Revs. Stone, Bacon,
IFullerton and Thurston; and it supplies an impor-
tant place in the religious interests and moral power
of Giltord society.

The two Methodist Churches, already alluded te,
one located at Gilford village, and the other at La-
conia village, are of recent origin, and yet hold some
prominence in the religions vlements and forces of
society. They are neither of them strong, bat jealous
of their interests and zealous in their work. Their
growth has not heen rapid, nor yet quite limited.
The succession of appointments, by Conference, has
been, to the Gilford Church,—Hev. A, R. Lunt, —
Knott, James Morrison, Hardy, Berry and
—— Tisdale; and in the Laconia Chureh, the ap-
pointments have heen well-chosen and good.

The Catholic portion of the community have had
chureh privileges at Laconia, where a church was
built abont 1850, It was afterwards burned by light-
ning, and vebuilt. It is a large and well-built edi-
fice, and has a numerous constitueney and attendants
from both Gilford and Laconia.

The Adventists have had a ehapel at Lake village,
and for several years maintauined regular serviees
there. Likewise, the same people held services at
Governor's  Island, or vicinity. Nuathaniel Davis
preached that deetrine, and arranged for its procla-
mation by Miller himself and other leading advo-
cates, at the island and vicinity, in camp-meetings
and other assemblies.  The faith was held by many
in the east part of the town, and preached by Stephen
Mooney, Abel Glidden (2d) and others.  Their chapel
i= in Alton. Rev. J. Knowles, Jr., also embraced
and advocated the doctrine.

Nathaniel Davis, in earlier times, embraced and
propagated a peculiar faith of one Osgood, who re-
jected and discountenanced all forms of ehurch gov-
ernment, or covenant, and holding a free religion,

There have been a few inhabitants holding the
tenets of the Friends, Elder Robert Carr heing per-
haps the best known among them. There wus no
regnlar meeting of their adherants maintaiped in

town, and the nearcst Qnaker meeting-houses were
that near Gilmanton Academy and that near Wolf-
borongh Bridge. These were not so distant as to be
inaccessible at the times of their Yearly and Qnarterly
meetings. Their numbers have decreased and their
Meetings are not regularly held at Gilmanton,

A ftew from (iilford have adopted the Shaker faith
and joined the Canterbury Family, or eolony of them,
particularly a Knowles family, in the south part of
the town, and related to the family of Elder John
Knowles, The community at Canterbury was in
good favor in these parts prior to the years 1840 or
1545, and were adjudged to be sincere and upright,
honorably industrious and enviably ingenious, pros-
perous and pure.  Attendance on their public Sab-
bath service, for recreation and curiosity, was one
while guite common by young people ot this and
other towns, Their public services were discon-
tinued and the attendance ceased.

To complete the list of special religionists, which,
as will be seen by a careful observer, has already
reached no inconsiderable breadth, there must be
added the Deist and Atheist, which were not unrep-
resented among onr sober and thoughtful popula-
tion. Dr. Josiah Bawyer secured, from some source,
ordination for the propagation of sentiments which
he professed to hold, and which he represented and
endeavored to inculeate or proclaim, These seemed
to be deistical or, later, atheistical, scemingly in-
cluded a certain type of annihilationism, or, at least,
the non-immortality, and perhaps, more correctly, the
non-existence of thesoul and afuture stute. Hewasnot
without some following, and that on the part of per-
sons in good intelleetual and  social  standing,
who, when elected to positions of publie trust and
responsibility, and consequently were required to take
oath, declined to do so in the usnal form on grounds
of disbelief in cither the Divine interposition or of
the actual Divine existence.

These remarks perhaps sufficiently cover the vari-
ous phases of religious life and sentiment, unless we
inelude witcheraft and necromany, It was onee widely
believed that a Mrs. Roggers and a Mrs, Clark were
vepresentatives of the world of mystery, or witch-
dom. Jugelery, not of the modern spiritnalistic type,
was indeed exercised by some, thongh not claiming
tor it any religions nature or relation, Many mar-
velous facts and peculiar features of ecclesiastieal
history might be added, which have diversified the
fields of ehurch as well as state, without exhausting
the reservoirs of wmemory or the store-honse of the
common annals and tradition, but these may suffice,
A word, however, may be due in regard to Sabbath-
schools.  In the time of Mr. Nathaniel Goodhue's re-
sidenee a school was opened at the Mill-House and
then at the Potter’s shop about the year 1820,  The
Baptists, and potably Miss Sally Sleeper, afterward
missionary to Biam, were enthusiastie in the new type
of Christinn work. During the following half-ceu-
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tury this means of religions instruetion and moral |
culture has been made a prominent featore of chureh |
labor in all of the evangelical churches of the town,

Military History.—The matter and the ficts em-
braced in the military history of the town are worthy
of mention, and no less important and interesting
than those of other departments, ‘The Revolutionary
War bhegan, but was not ended, betore there were
any settlers occupying seats on the soil of the present
town of Gilford, and hence we may not expeet to
find men from this place in the Bevolutionary army.
Yet there were men there who alterwards were some
of our own citizens, as, for example, Thomas Fro-
hoek, one of the men in the battle of Bunker Hill
(one of the three-months’ men, serving trom April 241
to August 1,1775).  He knew no fatigue, and would
accept no relief while the redoubt on Breed’s Hill
was being constructed in the night of preparation
before that eventful dayv, June 17, 1775, TJe was one
of one hundred and fifty-one men in Gilmanton be-
tween the ages of sixteen and filty, aceording to the
military census taken in that year, twelve of whom
went to the front at the first call of the Amwerican
cause.  He also re-enlisted in 1776 and served three
months and eight days nnder Washington at New
York, and was one of the thirty-six men enlisted in
that year; and the fumily name was originally Spur-
Hawk, or Sparrow-Hawk, but to escape British ap-
prehension and execution ior deserting the British
canse before this, the changed name Frohock was
taken and has been ever since refained.  Before the
cloge of the war Gilmanton had furnished one hun-
dred and twenty-five enlisted men, among whom are
other names of Giltord inhabitants, as Major Jabez
James, John Cotton, Benjamin Libbie, Licutenant
Samuel Ladd, David Clovgh, Abel Hunt, Lnoch
Hunt, Mr. Page, Ichabod Buozzell, Jacolb Jlewett,
Jeremiah Bartlett and others. A part of the militia
was called into service in 1781 and ten men went,
The afterwards-organized militia called for two com-
panies of infantry from Gilford proper; also a ritle
company and light intantry eompany and some artil-
lerrmen and eavalrynien.

As the territory was first settled in the time of the
Revolutionary War, so it wax set off and incorporated
into a township in the time of the War of 1512, Born
and reborn amid the throes of civil strife, she would
be expected to inherit a somewhat belligerent nature
and develop into a championship.  Into this war she,
as the youngest municipality, sent her honorable
quota, Nor were her sons wanting in eonrage when
the conflict grew severe. There were three druft=
made for the army and many watehers went to the
Canada line to stand as sentinels and watchers on our
horders. The men were Joseph York, Stephen Langley
{who had settled vear the Benjaumin Libbey place, by
Long Bay), Frank Bowman, who lived near the Weirs
and whodied in the army. He was an Indian doctor
and said to be a Prussian, He was one while loeated at

(Y

the Stone-Dam Island, then previously at or near (he
Weirs; Daniel Foster, Joseph Libbev goinge o e
line; Tran Sealmry 10 go to Portsmonth ; and tram Cay-
tain Bradiord’s company,—Lieutenant Hoenry ,\ln.t-
lard, who was a earpenter; and Mark Chase, who
went as a substitute. Captain Mason led his company
to the line.  Licutenant Samuel Leavitt was afficor in
Mason’s company. The men of 1812 were mainly
sent (o Portsmonth.  The spirit of resistanee ran ]1:'}:!;.
and yet there were oppusers, I

The matter of pension was not hotly handled in those
days. Lieutenant Philbrick Rand was prominent in
military affairs. So was also Lientenant John Gilman,
The distress was considerable, but not extreme. on
aceount of the war.

The organization of the militin and it sunual
muster were continued till about 1835, when the old
organization was abalished und mugter was no lonser
required, and so this gala season was lost sight of, to
a great relief,

Under the old »égime, the Fenth Regiment was

| raised in the original towuns of Gilmanton and Barn-

stead, or, later, of Gilfurd, Gilmanton and Barnstead.
The muster-field, in earlier years, was at Lower (il-
manton ; but in later years it was by eircuit, held, in
turn, at Gilford and Barnstead also,

The law required a company parade and drill in
the month of May annually, and for preparation for
the regimental parade a company drill was practiced,
at the option of the oflicers and company, in Septem-
ber, a short time previous to the annual muster, and
besides these three regnlar parades there were also
oceasionally ofher specinl drills.  The officers in the
regiment, the commissioned ones, also had a regi-
mental drill before the muster, at which arcangements
for muster-day were made between the regimental
and the subordinate company officers and orders
eiven aceordingly.

The men ot Gilford who held regimental and higher
otlicial rank were Peasley Hoit, Ebenezer Stevens,
Benjamin F. Weeks and George W. Weeks, success-
ively, colonels; and John M. Potter, J. (). Morrill
aud Daniel K. Smith, majors; Nathan Weeks, vegi-
mental stati~oflicer; J. J. Morrill, general; Major
Robie, drom-major; J. M. Potter, adjutant,

The independent companies, Riflernen and Light
Infantry, received their arms und equipments from
the State, and they were usually uniformed.  The
Rifle Company was of latcr organization and enlisted
from the north part of the town, The Light Infantry
company was enlisted mainly from Meredith Bridge,

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCILES.

HON, B J, COLE.

Hon. Benjamin James Cole, €on of Isaac and Han-
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nah ( Atwood) Cole, was born in Franconia, N. H.,

September 23, 1814,

James Uole, the first of the name in America, came
to the Plymouth Celony in 1633, and was granted
lunds on Leyvden Street, Plymouth, in 1637,  1lis de-
scendants scattered to various parts of New England,
and we find the name a prominent one in Rowley,
Mass, The family is an old and honored one, and, in
the early part of the eighteenth century, the great-
grandfather of Benjamin James Cole was o man of
solid worth and property in Rowley,  Among his
numerous children was Solomon, born in 1742, The
family was strongly patriotic, and Solomon and his
brothers performed twenty-seven years” service in the
colonial army of the Revolution. Solomon was en-
gaged throughout the war, participated in the battle
ot Bunker Hill and in numerous other engagenents,
and was wounded at Chippewa Plains.  The house in

which he was born is still standing in Rowley, and |
* various demands for his manofacture had steadily de-

occupied by one of the name, Caleb Cole,

Solomon married a Barker, and had eight sons,—
Timothy, John, Isaae, Beujamin, Solomon, Kimball,
Samuel and Asu,—and was one of the stalwart
men to whose patriotic principles, firmness of pur-
pose and religious character so much of our modern
prosperity iz due. He was of medium size, plessantand
social manners and atailor by trade. He lived in Row-
ley and Methnen until 1796, IFrom that time until bis
death, in 1335, at the age of ninety-three, he resided
with his sons, Isaac and Rev. Samuel, in Landaff
and Lisbon, N. H.  (Samuel was a minister of the
wospel for forty years, and his son, Rev. Moores Cole,
hias been in the Christian ministry forty-eight years.)

Isane Cole was born in Rowley, Mass.; became
first @ cooper, then a carpenter; married Hannah At-
wood when lie was about twenty-three, and settled in
Chester, N. 11, (Murs, Cole was a woman of deep re-
ligious principle, who carried her belief into daily
life. She was a native of Atkinson, N. H,, and a
cousin of Harriet Atwood, who married Rev, Mr,
Newell, and was one of the first female missionaries
who went to Iodia from the United States.) Mr.
Cole lived in Chester for a few vears, when, purchas-
ing new lands in Landafl; he removed thither and
gave his name to “ Cole’s HillL”  Tlis nature did not
incline to agriculture, and, about 1813, he went ta
Franconia to assume the superintendence of the
wood-working department of the New Hampshire
Iron Manufacturing Company, located there, and
continued in this position eight vears. In 1821 he
changed his-residence to Salisbury (now Franklin
village), where he constructed one of the first foun-
dries built in New Ilampshire.  This he conducted
six years, when, in 1327, the very great advantage af-
forded at ©“ Batchelder's Mills” (now Lake village), in
Giltord, induced his removal to that place.  IHere he
vstablished the small foundry which was the germ of
the large works of the present Cole Manufacturing
Company, and was earried on by him nine years. He

was an active man, of mechanical aptitude, of great
industry and a worthy member of the Free Baptist
Chureh for many years. He died aged eighty-five,
Benjamin James Cole was seven years old when
his father removed to Salisbury, and had the advan-
tages of education aflorded by the public schools of
that town and Noyes Academy until he was thirteen,
afterwards attending Sanbornton Academy. When
about uineteen he was, for nearly a year and a half,
unable to attend either to study or business, by rea-
son of i1l health,  In December, 1836, in connection
with his older brothers, Isaac and Jobn A., he pur-
chased the foundry of his father at Lake village, and
succeeded to his business, taking the firm-title of
“Cale & Co.”  This firm continued operations, and,
in 1846, it became * Cole, Davis & Co.” This co-
partuership had an existence of ten years, when, in
1857, Mr. Cole became sole proprietor, and conducted
ituntil 18373 under thennme ot “ B, J. Cole & Co,” The

veloped, from the small iron fonndry established by
his father, a diversitied and rapidly-increasing
business, necessitating the erection of new and addi-
tional buildings, the introduction of machinery and a
large increase of the capital invested. In 1873 the
plant was taken by a stock company, incorporated as
the “ Cole Manufacturing Company,” with a capital
of sixty thousand dollars, of which all the stock was
owned by Mr. Cole and family, except about eight
per cent.  This compuny has carried on extensive
operations,  Their annual product has ranged as
bigh as one hundred and twenty-five thousand dollars,
with one hundred and sixty employes, and during the
present depressed times the product is about sixty
thousand dollars, with sixty operatives. They con-
struct machinery for the manufacture of various kinds
of products, such as hosiery, woolen goods, lumber,
paper-pulp and paper. During and after the Civil
War they have made one hundred thousand dollars’
worth of Jooms in one vear. They also make a spe-
cialty of manufacturing water-wheels, In their forge
and foundry they manufacture car-axles, agricultural
implements and stoves, The company has just com-
pleted eight sets of machinery for manufacturing
* excelsior,” which will be placed in the first mill
erected tor that purpese in California. The mun-
agement of this corporation has been under the per-
sonul supervision of Mr. Cole, He was the treasurer
and superintendent of the company until 1883, when
Colonel Henry B, Quimby was elected to the super-
intendency on Mr, Cole’s resignation. This estab-
lishment has doue all the castings for the B, C. and
M. Railroad since the road was built, the business of
this ene production amounting from ten thousand
dollars to thirty thousand dollars per annum. The
power for this large manufuactory is given mostly by
water, of which they have two hundred horse-power.,
They have been necessitated to use steam but a few
mouths in thirty years’ time.
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In 1545, Mr, Cole was an incorporator of the Win-
nipesaukee Steamboat Company, and was eleoted its
first president, which office he still retaine, and, in
1849, with the late Captain William Walker, buile
the steanier “ Eady of the Lake " for this company,
He has built several mills and bridecs on contracet;

was one of the ineorporators ot Lake Village Savings-

- Bank, and for ten years its president ; also, one of the

incorporators of the Laconia National Bank, of which
hie was a director ten years: and an incorporator and
the present president of the Wardwell Needle Com-
pany, of Lake villyre,  In connection with his manu-
facturing Mr. Cole carried on merchandising for over
thirty vears, and for halt a century he has been inti-
mately connected with the growth and prosperity of
Lake village, and one of the vital factors of its flonr-
ishing condition,

He married, June 17, 1535, Mehitable A., daughiter
of Natban and DPeace (Ulifford) Batchelder, of Luke
villuge. She is a descendant, on the one side, trom
the ecelebrated eolonial minister, Rev. Stephen Bach-
tlar; on the other, from the honorable old English
fumily of Clifford. Their children are Ellen A, and
Octavia M., who married Colonel Henry B. Quimby,
and has two children, Harry Cole and Candace B,

Mr. Cole was a Democrat until the breaking ont of
the Rebellion, in 1361 ; since then he has been a Re-
publican, He represented Gilford in the State Legisla-
turcof 1849 and 1850, In 1862, 1863 and 1864 he was s
candidate of the Republican party tor State Senator
in the Sixth Senatorial District ; but as he represented
a4 minority party, he was not elected.  He wis nom-
inated and elected a member of the Governor's Coun-
¢il for the Second Councilor Distriet, and served as
such in the years 1866 and 1867, He was a delegate
to the Constitutional Convention in 1868, IHe was a
delegate to the National Republican Convention
which repominated Lincoln at Baltimore, in 1364
He is a member of the Free-Will Buptist Chureh and
a trustee of New Hampton Institution.

Mr. Cole is a man of influence in his town and
church, and throughout a large business aequiin-
tance, He has a kiud, social and affectionate na-
ture,and cherishes howe and friends. Hehasa winning
personal magnetism, which wmakes for him many
friends. To these he is loyal, and he enjoys, to an
unusual degree, the marked confidence of the beteer
portion of society and leading business men. e is
generous in the highest degree in contributing to
religious and charitable objects, and no case of descry-
ing need or suffering ever appealed unsuccesstully to
him. He isnot only a prominent and leading busi-
ness man, an active temperance worker, but, higher
vet, a consistent Christian, whose active zeal has
done much for the church and socicty of his locality.

CAPTAIN WINBORN A, SANBORN.
In the “ History of Belknap County ™ it is fitting
that there shonld be a record of Captain Sanborn,

who was so widely and pleasantly known, and so
intimately identificd with steamboxt navieation on
Luke Winnipesaukee, and to whese energy und cn-
terprise the development o that beautiful summer
resort, Weirs, i largely due.

WinnorN Avans Sannors, whose lite conmmenced
December 13, 1810, in Gilford, N, 1., was the chlest
of the four sons of Samuel Gilmuan and Satly (Mason)
Sanborn. The Sanborn family is of Fnglish origin,
the name being derived from the parish hearving the
name Sapborn. The emigrant, Jobn (son of John,
who married, in England, the danghter of Rev,
Steplien Bachilor), came to America in 1632, und
to Hampton, N, H., in 1640, lie was & wan ot
note, with the title of licutenant. One of his de-
scemlants in the seventh generation was Samnel Gil-
man Sanborn, a man of marked ability, who was
born March 20, 1787, on the Sanborn homestead, in
tritford, which was the first lund cleired in the
Weirs district, and the home of his ancestors from
the first settlement, When o mere fad, hiz ardent
desire was for an cducation, and, in respons¢ to his
carnest request, he wis permitted to attend the acad-
emy at Sunbornton Square for a few terms. The
sacrifices his parents made in order to pay his ex-
penses were amply rewarded by his progrese. He
was, for many years, a successful teacher, e was a
man of intelligence in public attairs, served his tawn
many vears as selectman and representative, held a
vcommission ax justice of the peave for a long period,
and was universally known as “ Sqoire” Sanborn,
After a useful; honored and respected life, he died at
the age ol cighty-two, upon the farm where he and
his wife had lived for nearly sixty years. sally
(Mason ) Sanborn, his wife. was the daughter of Cap-
tain Lemuel B, and Molly (Chamberlain) Muason, of
Durham, N, H. Captain Mason wis among the carly
settlers of Gilford, He was a Revolutionary soldier,
having joined the Continental army at Portsmouth
when only sixteen vears of age, and remained in con-
stant service titl the elose of the war.  He also on-
listed and took part in the War of 1812, When the
division of Gilmanton took place, according to the
tamily tradition, corroborated by the testimony of
the old inhabitants, he was invited to name the new
town, which he ealled Guiltord, frem the battle of
Ginilford Conrt-ITouse, S €., in which he was an
active participant.

Winborn Adams Sanborn (¥) received his name
remembrance of the gallant Lientenant-Calonel Wine.
born Adams, who bravely fonght and lost his life
during the Revolntion, at Stillwater.  This early lile
was passed upon the farm aiding hix father in his
lubors. His opportunities for learning were extremely
limited, und his only chanee for an education, beyond
a few weeks at the distriet school each year, was vne
term at “‘Master” Leuvitt's select school at Mere-
dith, and two terms at Gilford Academy. IDooks and
newspapers were scaree; but the few that iell ioto
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his hands were cagerly peruscd, and their contents
-arefully stored in his memory. By improving his
leisure moments he became a man of rare incelhi-
To the last of hiz days he vever allowed a
When only
seventeen, he began teaching, and for several win-
ters tanght in Gilford and adjoining towns.  His ile
waus uneventful, and his active and energetie nature
was not content with quietude, and, at the age of
twenty, he left home to carve ont his future alone
and unaided.  With his love of adventure, he went
to Massachusetts and engaged as a common saitor for
a twelve months' vovage on an East India trading-
vessel, bound from Salem to Bombay, India. To a
conntry boy, who had never been beyond the eapital
of his own Mtate, a sea-faring life was particularly
sttractive; but, to gratify his parents, he relingunished
his plan of folowing the sea as a vocation, after this
voyage, His neatly-written log-book is still pre-
gerved. In 1833 he became the first commander of
the * Belkoap,” the first steamboat on Lake Winnipe-
saukee, At the end ot two seasons he gave up his
position, and, with his lave of adventure still una-
bated, started west, He first stopped at Wheeling,
Va., where he at once secured a situation as assistant
teacher in Wheeling Academy; then, allured by the
letters of a friend, be journcyed to St. Louis. He
readily found employment, but was soon compelled

genee,
uewspaper to be carelessly destroved.

to return home on account of ill health., The entire |

jonrney

Mountains.
twenty-five cents a letter.)

Oun arriving in New Hampshire, he resnned the
command of the “Belknap.”  After a few seasons, he
left this position to establish himself as a * country
trader” at Alton Bay. ln this undertaking, he was
financially unsuccessful; but, with unfaltering cour-
age, he tried again,—this time as book-keeper for

“Isaac & Seth Adams,” iron founders, of Sonth Bos-

ton, Mass, Here, by a faithful discharge of his
duties, he won the confidence of his employers, and
the strong {riendship thus formed continued to the
end of their lives, Al his leisure moments were
now given to the study of machinery, and, in a short
time, he became an engineer of one of the harbor
steamers. e soon procured a better sitnation as
engineer of the steamer © Decator,” running between
Boston and Newburyport, and retained this position
till he was altered and accepted a more luerative one
as engineer of the steamer “Ohio,” on the =ame
route,  While here, o long und distressing illness
began, and lie once more returned to his home in
(riltord, where, for two years, he was unable to attend
to any business,

In the winter and spring of 1851 he superintended
the constrnetion of the *Dover” at Alton Bay, and,
on its completion, beeame its eaptain, and continued
in that office for several snmmers, his winters being

going and returning—from New Hamp-
shire to St. Louis was by stage over the Allerheny
(Postage between the twe places was

mainly passed wpon his furnm, in Gilford.,  Tn the fall
of 1852 his friends and old employers, Isaac & Seth
Adaing, needed a man of trust, and secured him to
superintend the erection of machinery in Cienfuegos,
Cuba, where he passed several months,  In 1563, he
beeame a large stockholder in, and the captain of,
the " Lady of the Luke.” In the fall of 1869, Cap-
tain Saunbarn, with his brother, went on a pleasure
trip to Florida, and, while there, found a good open-
ing for the lumber business; and the next spring,
1570, he formed a partnership with Charles L. Hovt,
a fellow-townsman, purchased a saw-nmill and cow-
menced the manufacture of lumber in Fernandina.
When he relinquishied navigation, in 1869, he fully
expected to exclusively devote himself” to his Florida
interests; but his natural liking for a scaman’s life
and the power of habit were too strong for thix, and,
in 1878, he again became captain of the “Lady,”
which position he occupied vntil the time of his
death.  As captain, he came in contact with people
from all parts of the United States, and his courtesy,
combined with his extended knowledge gained by
travel, reading and discriminating powers of observa-
tion, speedily won their friendship. During this
time, however, he continned the southern business,
which had now become extensive, embracing the
manufacture and wholesaling of lnmber, merchan-
dising, ete.  In 1880, in addition to his many other
cares, he conceived the idea of building a hotel at
Weirs,  With him to think wax to aet, and in six
weeks from the time the sills were laid, *Hote)
Weirs” was ready for occupancy, Of all his enter-
prises, this interested and pleased him the most,

Iu 1235, Captain Sanborn married Lavinia Peaslee
Hoyxt, a very fine-looking and intelligent woman,
only danghter of James Hoyt, Jr., and his wife, Ruth
(Ayer) Gordon.  Mrs, Sanborn was born in Gilford,
and died on the home farm, April 20, 1877,  Of their
two children, the son died in infaney; the daughter,
Ellen E., married Captain John =. Wadleigh, the
present commander of the * Lady.”

While in the full possession of all his faculties,
after a brief illness, Captain Sanborn met death as
bravely as he had life, at Fernandina, Fla., February
21, 18s2,  His remains were brought to Gilford, and
deposited, with Masonic rites, in the family burial-
place, March 3, 1882,

Ln politics, Captain Sanborn was one of the “0ld
Guard 7 Abolitionists.  He represented his native
town two years in the Legislature. He was, for
many years, an active member of Mount Horeb
Commandery of Knights Templar, F. and A, M. He
was decided in his views, yet charitable to all; in
religion a ** Liberal;"" sincere in his friendships ; gen-
erous to the needy, yet unostentatious in his manner
of giving, He was courageous, self-reliant, strong in
his convictions, and his keen observation and well-
balanced mind enabled him to decide promptly and
justly in matters of importance, 1le possessed the
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soundest common sense and that practival view of
‘matters that made him eompetent to guide his own
aftairs with discretion and give helpful advice and
conusel to others, The humane side of his being was
qguickly and energetiendly respousive. Al the tivs of
nature and of fricudship roated deeply in his soul,

. and whoever won his confidence found in him a rare

!
[ S

I

‘and valned friend.

#'

¢

REV. K. 8, HALL.!

Rightly to estimate achievement in any depart-

 ment, account must be taken alike of the impelling
~ and repelling forces, the aids and hindrances, the en-

(]
1

- couragements and rebulls, which have combined to
‘make it what it is. Heredity, social position, wealth,
‘poverty, dictate most careers. Social aptitude, wise
training and family influence send countless numbers
of men trinmphantly to their goal; while the want
of these often makes every step wearisome and sue-
cess well-nigh  impossible.  The thoughts of ouve
man move to the musie of rhyme and rhythm,
‘and he cannot but choose to be a poet. Those
of another clothe themselves in the sonorous
language, the felicitons expressions of an orator;
the imagination of a third is an exhaustless foun-
tain, overflowing in pen-pictures which delight
‘the world. We admire the result; yet we remember
‘that the genius of each was givew, not won. An
illustrions pame, an attractive physique, a graceful
address, smooth the way for merit, commend it to
‘notice, make it conspicuous to the common eye, and
this we perceive. It is the battle which is fought
without adventitious aid, but against the odds of
‘hostile circumstances, which excites our deepest
sympathy and our most hearty praise. These ideas
apply with striking force to Rev. King Solomon Hall,
of Lake village, N, H. He was born in Groton,
N. H., October 22,1819, the offspring of Josial and
‘Sarah White Hall. His father died when he was
three years old, leaving a family of six children in
circumstances of indigence, mainly dependent for
‘support on their widowed mother. At the age of
‘seven he went to reside in a farmer’s family, where
:lie remained about seven years. The facilities of-
fered him in childhoad for acquiring an education
were extremely limited. Frem the age of six to
fourteen he attended the district schosl about six
wecks each year in winter, none being held in sum-
mer. These were kept i private houses, na school-
‘house having been built until alter he lett the dis-
trict. The seats and desks were of the rudest pat-
tern, the former being made of slabs, with legs fitted
into the oval sides, In very cold weather it was
necessary for comfort to drvaw the seats around the
open fire. The childhood of Mr. Hull was overcast
‘with many shadows. While kindly eared for, as the

1By S1L Quiney, Lanvast-r, e,
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world goes, his sources of pleasure were wonse o o
mather's companionship cheered him in e dar
tasks, and his father's voice was silent in the grave.
The clasticities of youth were checked and Jett a deep
impression on his tuture character,
of life was hegun,

The stern battle
At the age of fiftcen he fomnd
cmployment in a factory in Lowell, where he re-
mained about four years. In the spring of 15839 he
attended w <elect school, taught by Miss Spaulding,
at Rumney, where, ut the age of nineteen, e com-
menced the study of English grammar.  The writer,
a member of the game school, well remembers how
keenly he felt the loss of early training, and how
deeply he deplored the tact that he was so far behind
niny so much vounger than himself. But a4 new
revelation inspired him with fresh zeal. He clearly
saw the necessity of educational acquisition. A new
life opened before him, which was filled with promise,
thaugh many discouragements darkened his daily
life. He had ne advantages of early study : conse-
quently his abilities for acquisition were not rapid,
But lie was thoroughly in earuest, and he here de-
veloped the earefnl and patient investigation which
were marked eharaeteristics of his after-carecr. In
the autumn of the same yvear he entered the Academi-
cal Department of the New Tlampton Institution and
graduated from the theological department of the
same school in 1843, The writer, a room-mate {for
two vears, clearly recalls his heroie strugeles during
this eritical period of his lite. He was entirely de-
pendent on his own earnings for support.  Not the
gift of a dollar did he ever receive from a relative
after he was seven years of age. But some friends in
Rumney and New Hampton, touched by his manly
efforts to sectre an edncation, rendered him wome as-
sistance, which, although small in amonnt, was most,
gratefully received. He tanght school during the
winters, together with evening schools in singing,
writing and geography ; and during the latter part of
his connection with the institution, hesides oeeasion-
ally preaching elsewhers, e regularty supplied, for
several terms, the pulpit of the Baptist Chureh in
Danbury, freqnently walking fifteen miles to reach
an appointment.

During one term. while other students were en-
gaged in recreation, he ealtivated the soil, giving the
proceeds for a copy of “ The Religious Eneyclopiedia.”
But these strnrzles with adverse clements were not
without reward. e never grew disconrazed, and
these fierce contests were daily developing into a
sturdy manhood, With seh-reliance came finmuess
and moral strength,  Tle was sedate  perhaps o nu-
tive feature of his character, enhanced by the sur-
roundings of his haylood and his carliest re-ollec-
tions, m‘i'n;_rlcd with poverty and the kiborious toil of
his mother’s needle, =till, he was always cheerful,
and had a host of friends.

The frivolities and merry-makings, in which too
many of the young men engaged, had no allurements
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for him, His aims iu life were too serious, his
efforts too arduons, his time too precious to give to
any hours spent in such amusements, the glitter of
even a passiug pleasure,

In the first term of his academic eourse he had be-
come deeply interested in a religious life, and, in
November, 539, lie wax baptized and received into
the Baptist Church in Rumney, and by the same
licensed to preach in September, 1340, During this
period ot his life he had the aid of high religious
convictions, and in his greatest straits found comiort
aud =trength from the Father, who, out of this
severe discipline, was to raise an efticient helper in
his earthly vineyard. The same patient study was
continued, No subject was left until thoroughly
understood ; and what had beeu somewhat slowly
acquired was uot forgotten. He graduated with credit
to himself and with the confidence and well-wishes
of the entire faculty. His after-life belongs to the
Baptist denomination of the State, He was ordained
a pastor of the Baptist Chnrch in Hopkinton, N. Ii.,
April 22, 1846, having supplied them regularly from
the September previous,

On the 30th of July, 1847, at Warner, he was mar-
ried to Ann Elizabeth, daughter of Dr. Caleb and
Liliza Follausbee Buswell, He was dismissed Septem-
her 30, 1851 ; settled with the church at Lake village
October 1, 1851 ; dismissed February, 1859 ; with the
Merrimack Street Church, Manchester, March 30,
1559 ; dismissed October 1, 1862 with the church at
Methuen, Mass.,, October 1, 1862; dismissed April
40, 1867; with the church at Lake village May 1,
1867 ; dismissed Angust 1, 1880; with the church at
Rumney April 17, 1881 ; dismissed October 1, 1883,

[t is safe to say that, during this long period of
thirty-seven yvears of active pastoral work, the minis-
try of Mr. Hall was remarkably successful. e was
thoroughly devoted te his ealling, and his whole
heart was enlisted in the salvation of wmankind. He
was warmly welcomed to the several churches at his
settlements, and when the stern decree of duty
called him away there were very many grieving
friends.

The amount of good that lie accomplished will
never be known until the veil is lifted from the
future.

He will have many stars in the crown of his re-
Joicing.  As an illustration applicable to all his
parishes, 1 quote from the history of the First Bap-
tist Chureh in Methuen, published in the Minutes of
the Association for 1880 after speaking of especial
trials, it says:

“The coming of Mr, Hall at this thoe was very opportune, aml gnve
enconragensent to the church to renew their diligence nod reconsecrats
theelves o the work of Ged,  He was eopecially adupted to the fleld,
amd by his genial wanner, dignifed beawrivg and sympathetic heart won
not Muly the liearts of his chnrch and cougregativn, but the respoct of
g community,  His laboes ave frequently referred o uwow nmong the

wider myenibers of his chorch, and his kindoess {8 cherished with tender
rocollection by Huse who shared It in thnes of teinle and sorrow.
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ig lubors were blessed to the streogtheniog of the church aml a con-
tHunmnee of harieny wd spivitnal netivity.,  In the spring of 1566 there
wig s quickening of the church and many wore added, who becimo use-
ful and efficicnt helpers. . . . Vaving labored earnestly and miccesafully
for abont five yeurs, Mr, Hiull resigoed his pastorm] care March 27, 1867,
The church, being anxions to have him continue his labors, urgently re-
quested him to reconsider his defermination snd remain with them.
Still sdheriog to bis pnrpose, the chureh very rel i lia
resignation.’

ntiy

But the labors of Mr. Hall were not by any means
confined to those pertaining strictly to his profession,
Ilis reputation extended far beyond his pastorates,
and he became a power in the denomination through-
out the State, His advice was widely songht. [Ile
was deeply interested in educational institutions, and
his keen jusight anild patient endeavor fully equipped
him to be of great service iu this direction. All
charitable organizatious of merit found in him an
active helper. His has been truly a busy life. Among
his published works are some twenty or more reports
as school committee of various dates for the towns of
Hopkinton, Meredith and Laconia, N. H., and
Methuen, Mass. ; reports as school commissioner for
Belknap County for 1854, 1855, 1858 and 1839 ; re-
port of the New Hampshire Board of Education to
the Legislature, 1855 ; seventh and eighth annual
reports of the board of trustees of the New Hamp-
shire State Normal School ; seventcen reports as see-
retary of the New Hampshire Baptist Convention ;
disconrse delivered at the funeral of Mrs. Martha R.
ITerrick, wife of Rev. J. 8. Herrick, Rumney, N, I1.;
the first half-century of the First Baptist Church
in Methuen, Mass., 1865. The honorary degree of
A.M, was conferred on him by Dartmouth College in
1860; that of D.D. by Central University, lowa, in
1882, Mr. Hall was @ member of the New Hamp-
shire Board of Education for Belknap County for
four years; secretary of the board in 1853, and chair-
man in 1858, He was for several years a trustee of
New Hampton Academical and Theological Institu-
tion, previous to its removal to Vermont; and for
twenty vears held the same position in regard to the
New London Literary and Scientific Institution (uow
Colby Academy). e was also a trustee of the New
Hampshire State Normal School tor seven years, from
1872, and for two yeavs secretary of the board. lle
was secretary and treasurer of the New Hampshire
Baptist Pastoral Association from 1851 to [861 inclu-
sive.  He was a trustee of the New Hampshire Bap-
tist Convention from 1549 to 1862 and from 1867 10
1578, and scerctary of the same from 1856 to 1862
and from 1867 to I878—in all seventeen years, In
all these various trusts, striet fidelity to duty, an un-
swerving integrity and an unvarying courtesy were
the marked characteristics of his office,

The great measure of success which has attended
his earcer, Mr. ITall cheerfully claims is largely due
to his wife, who, by her ability and liberal eulture,
combined with strict economy, industry and tact, has
proved a helpmate in so many ways for nearly forty
yers,
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Mr. Hall does not pussess the qualities that make
what the world wonld eall a brilliant man.  Conclu-
sions do not come to him as intuitions or startling
revelations,

1lis grasp of mind, always comprehiensive, is too
massive to move by elvetricity.

Results are rather worked out by careful investiga-
tion. Conscientions in every fibre of his being, he
desires clearly to see the right.  Consequently he has
always been a sate counselor, and his judgments
have seldom failed. s a pastor, he has been prudent
and watchful, pure and dignified in his daily life,
always casting oil upon troubled waters, His heart
has always been open to the anguish of suffering or the
wiil of sorrow,

In his religious views, it scems unnccessary to say

that he has always been a Baptist to the core. To
him the doctrines of the Bible are elear and explicit
and a living truth.

Bot he is exceedingly catholic and tolerant of the
views of others, as it would be a part of his nature to
be. Firm and uncompromising in what he belicves
to be the teachings of the Scriptures, and in his
preaching never withholding them, he would not
willingly injure the feelings ot a single hinman being.

Mr. Hall is not a confroversialist tor the sake of |

argument. There is nothing pugnacious in his na-
ture. He loves those things that tend to peace.
Stitl, when principle is involved, he is firm and even
aggressive. An indomitable perseverance is one of
his marked charucteristics.  Without this quality,
Le never would have achieved suceess,  Indeed, his
Dbetter aspirations would have been utterly crushed in
early life; and by this alone be has borne the nost
serions responsibilities and carried through the
greatest enterprises of his lite.

Mr. Hall has, from his earliest boyhood, been a
stanch temperance advocate, having never drunk
a glass of intoxicating liquor as a beverage, nor used
a particle of tobacco in any form.  Besides lecturing
on temperance, he has always sought to persuade
young men to abstain from the use of these stimu-
lants, and he has joytul reason to believe that,
through his earnest efforts, many children and youth
have been saved from the terrible evils of intemper-
ance,

Since his return to Lake village, Mr. Hall has
found recreation and pleasure in fruit-culture, par-
ticularly that of grapes and pears, of which he has
had on his grounds about fifty varieties of each.
Premiums for the best show of these froits have been
repeatedly awarded him by the Grafton and Belknap
Counties Agrienltural Fairs,

Long-continued illness alone compelled him to
relinquish the active work of the minigtry ; with
returning health, many pulpits would be gladly
opened to him. But it is not probable that he will
enter upon another pastorate. Ile and his worthy
wife are living quietly in their pleasant home at Lake
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village, where s0 many hope that the evening of
their duys muy be spanned with the bow of promise,

iie is still trequently ealled to the bridal and the
funeral, 1lis interest is in no manner relaxed in the
suecess of Christian effort; and as the shadows begin
to gather, a long life devotud to the welfure of his
kind grows luminous with a brightocss which merges
into the glories of the hereaiter,  This hastily-
prepared sketeh is the tender testimonial of an old
schoolmate und a life-long friend,  To those, so fow
of wham are living, who konow the privations of his
childhood and youth and the heroic stroggle of his
early maniwod, ont of which came ultimate snceess,
it will not seem hike words of adulation, but a calm
awl dispassionate rebeamsunl of some of the events
and characteristics of a valuable life.

MARTIN ALONZO HAYNES,

Martin Alonzo Havnes comes from old Poritan
stock, being a descendant, in the eighth generation,
from Samuel Haynes, who came over trom England,
in 1635, in the ship “Angel tiabriel ;” was wrecked at
Pemaquid (now Bristol) Me., in the great hurricane
of 15th ot August, same year; finally settled at Ports-
mouth, N. IL,, in the parish of Greenland, in 1650
was one of the nine founders and a deacon of the
First Congregational Church of Portsmouth; was a
selectman from 1653 to 1663, and held muny other
offices of trust.

The snbject of this sketch was born at Springfield,
N. H., July 30, 1842, and four years later his parents
removed to Manchester, N. H.

His father, Elbridge (., was for thirty years a prom-
inent figure in the city’s history, noted for his un-
swerying convictions, his old-fashioned integrity and
sonnd judgment and his interest in publie affuirs.

Ile was anxious that hix children should enjoy
better advantages than had been his in youth, and
the outbrenk of the Civil War found Murtin, his oldust
child, with a good Iligh-School education and the
printer’s trade acquired. But President Lincoln’s
first call for troops found the boy ot eighteen ready,
and he enrolled his name and was mustered into the
¢ Abhott Guard,” the first company to enter the camp
of the First Regiment at Coneord.  Before leaving
the State the company was transferred to the Second
Regiment and re-enlisted for three years.

Shortly after the regiment’s arrival at Washington
hie was appointed clerk to the regimental conmmissary ;
but when the first advauce was made into Virginia,
learning the arrangements contemplated his remain-
ing back in camp, he threw up his clerkship in dis-
sust, demanded his musket and took his place in the
ranks of his company.

[t is his boast that he served as a private soldicr for
three vears, that he participated in every engagement
of the regiment from Bull Run to Cold Tlarbor, that
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he never answered to “ surgeon’s eall” and was never
u day oft duty.

He was three times slightly wounded,—at First
Bull Run, in the neck by a splioter from a fence-rail,
while defending, late in the day, the sunken road,
imniediately in front of the Henry house; at Glen-
dale, receiving o severe contusion in the groin from a
spent ball; at Second Bull Run, in the famous bay-
onct charge of Grover's Brigade, when the Sccond
Regiment pierced two rebel lines of battle, he re-
ceived a savage blow in the face and bled profusely,

but carried ont of the mélée the wounded Lieutenant |

Rogers, who died in his arms,

In this affair the regiment lost 132 ont ot 332 men,
At Gettysburg, where the regiment rendered the
“Peach Orchard” famous and suffered the terrible
loss of 193 out of 354 engaged, the three men nearest
him in line were all wounded by fragments from one
shell, but he escaped unmarked.

Upon his return from the war he resumed news-
paper work at Manchester for a while, serving upon
the editorial staft’ of the Daily Mirror and Daily
Union, until he left to take the position of elerk and
paymaster of the Rockingham Mills, at Portsmonth,
N. H. He remained there until the suspension of
the mills—abont a year.

In January, 1868, in company with Benjamin F.
Stanton, he founded the Lale Filluge Times newspa-
per, and has retained control of the paper ever since,
with the exception of the first three years, as sole
proprietor,

He represented the town of Gilford in the New
Hampshire House of Representatives in 1872 and
1573, in the firt year serving as chairman of the
committee on fisheries, in the latter as chairman of
the military committee. e was an aide-de-camp on
the staff of Governor Prescott, with the rank of colo-
nel. In 1876 he was appointed clerk of the Cireuit
Court and the Superior Court of Judicature for Belk-
nap Connty, retaining the position until 1883, when
he resigned to take aseat in the National Congress,
In 1881 und 1882 he served as president of the New
Hampshire Veteran Association, which he turned
over to his successor not only free from debt, but with
several thousand dollars’ worth of buildings for the
ascecommodation of its annual reunions at Weirs, Tle
was also Commander of the Grand Army of the Re-
public, Departmeunt of New Hampshire, during the
SAMC Yerrs.

Upon the approach of the fall elections of 1852 his
old comrades-in-arms brought his name forward for
the Republican nomination to Congress from the First
New Hampshire District, and after a canvass which
iz memorable in the history of New Hampshire poli-
tics he was nominated in the convention, at Dover,
and elected in November by an unprecedented plu-
rality of nearly thirty-eight hundred, In 1854 he was
renominated by acelamation in the convention held
at Wolfeborough, and received nearly twenty-five
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hundred plurality at the polls, his opponent being
Rev. L. F. MeKinney, of Manchester, one of the ablest
and most popular men of his party in the State.  In
both elections he ran very far ahead of his ticket, re-
ceiving hundreds of Democratic votes,

He was married, in 1863, to Miss Cornelia T, Lane,
of Manchester, ind two daughters survive to bless
their pleaxant honte, which is delightfully sitnated in
Lake village, surronnded with fruit and forest-trees
and looking down upon the waters of Lake Winui-
pesaukee,

He has delivered many addresses and poems at sol-
dicrs’ reunions and gatherings; but his caiefl literary
work was a “ History of the Second Regiment,” copiea
of which are now eagerly songht for by collectors. He
is decidedly a man of the people, makes friends and
keeps them, and delights in the sports of gun and
rod,

JOHN 8, CRANE.

Among the vigorous, active and suecessful men of
Belkuap Connty must be mentioned John Summer~
field Crane, of Lake village. He was born in Spring-
field, Mass,, February 3, 1834, and was son of Luther
and Rebecea (Manter) Crane.

The Crane family has been a representative one in
various spheres, in New England from the days of its
first settlement. Jusper Crayne was one of the
founders of the New Haven colony, signed its
“fundamental agreement” June 4, 1639, and became
one of its leading and influential members. Another
branch of the same family settled in Berkley, Mass,,
at its first settlement, and the descendants of this
pioneer have ever held positions of responsibility,
and been represented in every generation in medicine,
law and theology. Tlenry Crane settled in Dorches-
ter early. His descendants are numerons. One of
them, John, was a pioneer of Tauuton, and he is the
progenitor of the numerous families of that name in
Norton and Canton. Luther Crane was a native of
the latter town, hut, owing to the incompleteness of
the reeords, we find it impossible to give the exact
line from Henry.

John & Crane not only descends from good
paternal stock, but his mother, a native of Plymouth,
Muss., was a lineal descendant of the famous Gover-
nor and writer of ** Plymouth Colony,” Willirm
Bradford. From snch a stock we should expect good
offspring, and when we see the odds against which
Mr. Crane has been compelled to battle, and the
signal success that has attended his carcer from the
hamble condition of his boyhood up to the station he
uow occupies of a leading and wealthy manufaeturer,
we must concede to him his Mmll share of the ability
of his stronw progenitors, and acknowledge him as
one who, in the highest sense of the term, is a “self-
made ” man.

Luther Crane was a hatter, of an ingenious and
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mechanical nature, and was employed by the Tawmil-
ton Cotton Manufacturing Company ss a spinner in
the first cotton-mill in Lowell. 1le then removed to
Ohio, and when John was nine vears old came to
Halmon Falls, N, I1.,, where he became a resident.
John was a lad of quick conception, and made good
progress during his attendunce st the distriet sehool
and South Berwick Academy, 1lis gkill in drawing
was s0 great that a gentleman voluntarily oftered to
educate him as an artist ; but, with the impulsiveness
of youth, he did not avail himself of this offer, and ut
fifteen years of age shipped as a boy before the
mast on a clipper ship bound for India. The voyage
lasted twenty-two monthz, and the vessel circumnavi-
gated the globe. On the return from the Sandwich
Tslands Mr. Crane was the ship-carpenter. The hard
actualities of a sailor’s lite dispelled his romantic
dreams, and, during the long hours in which there
was pothing to do but think, he decided to “make a
man of himself” by honest industry and patient ap-
plication. So, returning to Salmon Falls, he entered
a shop to learn the trade of machinist, which was his
choice from his aptitude for mechanics. Remaining
here one vear, he went to Lawrence for six months’
labor, then to the Lowell Machine-Shop, in Lowell,
conduected by Lucius Cutter. By this time he had
attained proficiency in his calling, and, after six
months’ service here, was engaged by Lucius Waite
to fit up and take charge of a sewing-machine manu-
factory for one vear, This business was then discon-
tinued, and Mr. Crane, after working a short time in
Manchester, concluded to visit the West, and see if he
could find a suitable place to establish himself with
the small capital acquired by his industry and careful

savings. Not finding a situation to his mind, he re- |

turned to Lowell and hecame the snperintendent of a
pattern and model-shop for one year. In 1855 he
removed to Franklin, N. H., to complete and place in
running order some knitting-machines for a Lowell
house. This kept him busy for only a short period,
and, in the spring of 1836, he began the connection
with the munufacturing interests of Lake village,
which has been of such value to hiw, and which links
him with every step in the rise of an important
industry in this place. He was employed by B. .J.
Cole to build knitting-machines for Thomas Apple-
ton, the manufacturer. This was the introduction of
this branch of manufacturing to this vieinity, and
began a new and successful era iu its progress. He
worked for Mr. Cole six months, and then made a
contract with Mr, Appleton to build knitting-ma-
chines at his mill, and, abont the same time (fall of
1857), became his superintendent. These positions
he occupied until the spring of 1362, Designing and
perfeeting, in connection with Jobn Pepper, what
was called the “ Pepper Knitting-Machine,” he then
took the contract to bnild the machines, and, with

William Pepper, formed the firm of Crane & : :
"and to assume enormous business proportions,

Pepper. They hegan work with fifteen operatives,

in a building owned by B, J. Cole, and constroeted
from fifteen to twenty machines per month, They
were burned out about 1862, and Joln Lepper built a
new shop for the firmon the site of the old Small mill,
About this time Mr. Crane, Benjamin F. Peaslee, of
Lake village, and Thomas Joyee, of Boston, furmed
the Winnipesaukee Hosiery Company, purchased
the machinery of the Pulsifer will, and, in 1864,
began the manufucturing of hasiery, employing
thirty hands, with Mr. Peaslee in charge and Mr.
Crane as superintendent.  In December, 1564, Mr,
Crane purchased the interests of his partner, and
after running the works till March, 1865, sold the
whole to R. M. Bailey. The manutacture of knit-
ting-machines continued until about 1869, when Mr,
Crane sold out this business and became connected
with Walter Aikin, of Franklin, in the proprietorship
of the * Gilmore Revolving Diamond Stone-Dressing
Machine,” for dressing mill-stones. Mr, (‘rane spent
most of his time in Franklin, and for two years was
engaged in introducing this invention to the puklic,
Returning to Lake village, he purchased, tor two
thousand dollars, the interest of Charles H. Young
in the firm of Young & Peaslee, engaged in manu-
facturing circular knitting-machines under Young’s
patent, and, in the spring of 1872, the firm of Crane
& Peuslee began its existence with six men, and for
two years made one hundred and fifty hosiery-ma-
chines a year.

In 1873, Mr. C'rane designed and perfected a ma-
chine for making shirts and underwear on the same
principle, which he secured by patents, and in Sep-
tember, 1874, moved his manutactory to its present
location. The new machines became an important
addition to this business, as they were rapidly ealled
for. [u January, 1873, the firm employed ten men,
with a monthly pay-roll of four hundred dollars, and,
in spite of the depressed times, they continued to do
a most prosperons business. In November, 1878, My,
Peaslee sold his half-interest to Mr, Crune for four
thousand dollars. B, F. Drake purchased one-third
interest, and the firm beecame J. 8. Crane & (o,
and they carried on the bnsiness until July, 1884,
employing as high 4s sixteen men, and, from a pro-
duction of five thousand dollars, in 1868, the business
steadily increased until it amounted to tifty thousand
dollars annually. Purchasing Mr. Drake’s interest
ut the above date, Mr. Crane has sinee continned
manufacturing under the sume name, with his son as
partner. They now employ lrom twenty to twenty-
five men, and have a vearly business of seventy-five
thousand dollars,  Their specialties are cireular
knitting-machines, for hosiery, underwear, Jersey
cloth and stoekinet.

About 1883, Mr, Crane became jointly interested
with R. 1. M. Chase in a patent knit fabric,—the
“stockinet,”—which bids fair to become one of the
leading features of this class of goods in the country,
To
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this Mr, Crane has given his whole attention, has in-
vented and improved inventions, patented improve-
ments, and also constructed machines for making
Jersey cloth and stockinet. The machines of his
manufacture are in usce in all parts of the United
Stutes, but to the greatest extent in New England.
He has taken orders for this elass of machinery us
high as fifty thousand dollars’ worth at one time,

Mr. Urane married, in 1836, Clara J. Smith, of
Nashna, a lady well fitted to appreciate and promote
the artistic ideas of Mr. Crane and be an efficient
associate of his life. Their only child is Mazellah L.

In polities, Mr. Crane is a pronounced Republican,
He represented Laconia in the State Legislature of
1875, and Gilford in that of 1878,  He was one of the
incorporaters and is now u director of Lake Village
Savings-Bank, and belongs to the various Masonie
bodies to the commandery.

Mr. Crane can attribute his success to persistent
and indetatigable industry, to the close and eoncen-
trated action of mind and body and his quick and
intelligent appreciation of men and things. His
natural tastes are in harmony with artistic and
cultnred surroundings, and his business has enabled
him to gratify his desires. He has designed and
erected the handsomest residence in the town, a view
of which appears on another page, and bis home
abounds in all the comforts that money will buy.
He is a lover and owner ol fine horses, intelligent
dogs and a fine steam yucht, and is passionately fond
of aquatic and field sports. He is a good citizen, a
social companion, a strong friend, and, with his
positive and energetic nature, mav bhe truthfully
called a good type of the rushing, active, impetuous
and successtul Americans of the nineteenth century.

MOSES SBARGENT,

But little wmore thau a gnarter of a century had

passed after the long and exhausting Revolutionary |

war, when manufictures were few and in their infan-
¢y, and our people were chiefly agriculturists and day
Luborers, compelled to exercise the utmost economy,
anid but a liwited nnmber were able to give their
children the advantages of a liberal edncation, when
Moses Sargent, son of Maoses and Naney (Morrill)
Sargent, first saw the light of day, in the old town of
Amesbury, Mass,, December 16, 1803, 1lis father
was # ship-earpenter, wholly dependent on his daily
Inbor, and when Moses was but o few years old Mr,
Sargent met with an accident, whieh seriously crip-
pled him for life, and incapaeitated him frow longer
attendding upon his vocation; so, at the age of nine
years, the young lad was obliged to go out into the
world of work and struggle for a living, not only for
himself, but for his parents, without any of the ad-
ventitions aids of education or inherited rank, and
with only his brave heart and willing hands.

He commenced work in a factory in Amesbury,

which was the first broadcloth-tactory erected in the
United States,  Being a good, honest, industrious,
hard-working lad, he soon attracted the attention of
his emplovers, and the agent of the fuetory gave him
one term'’s schooling, when he was about thirtecn, and
he also wrote off the mnltiplication table for him to
tearn while at his work. But to the eagerly desirous
and willing searcher for knowledge the way is made,
opened or fonnd in some manner, sooner or later,
and at a school, which was kept on Sunday, by a
Quaker gentleman and philanthropist, for the pnr-
pose of giving the factory operatives an opportunity
to obtain some education, Moses learned the rudi-
ments of mathematies, and took a peep into that
realm of knowledge which he had so longed to enter.
His diligence and rapid progress, and his wish for an
education, so impressed his teacher, that when he was
about sixteen he offered to pay the expenses of Moses’
tuition at some good sehool, but as he was almost the
sole dependence of his parents he wus forced tv de-
cline this kind offer,

He remained for eight years in the broadeloth-tac-
tory, when Amos Lawrence and his brother, with
others, under the firm-title of " A, & A. Lawrence &
Co.,” started a Hannel-factory, where Moses engaged
work and was employed for twelve vears, About
1840 this firm purchased a broadeloth-factory a
short distanee up the river, for the purpose of using it
for making satinets, and Mr. Sargent, who had grown
up almost to manhood in the factories, and had made
capable and good use of his time, and become a skilled
and experienced workman, was given the snper-
intendence of the putting in of the machinery and
getting the manufactory in running order. e held
this position for about three years, when he went to
Byfield, leased a water privilege, and with one set of
cards he sturted the manufacture of yarn in a small
way on his own account. He continued in business
liere for two years, when his health failed and he was
advised by his physician to leave the proximity of
the salt water, and in December 1835, he came to
Batchelder’s Mills, N, H. (now Lake village), and leased
a varn-mill of the Lake Company, and fitted it np to
make woolen yarn for domestic knitting purposes.
Mr. SBargent was the pioneer manufacturer of this yarn
in New Hampshire, Ile commenced with one set of
twenty-four-inch cards and ten operatives, and for
twenty-nine years he was engaged in this industry,
The business steadily augmented, and the one set of
vards was increased to five, and for the last two years
Mr., Sargent himwelf mannfactured the yuarn into
stockings; among his contracts, filling two for the
United States government, amounting to one hundred
and hifty thousand pairs,

Shortly after the elose of the Civil War Mr.
Sargent disposed of  his business interests to the
Belknap Company, of Laconia, and for about a year
wits not in uetive business,  He then went to Upper
Gilmuanton, bought a cotton-mill, fitting it up for
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making cotton stockings, and carried on this manu- |

facture for six years, employing two hundred opera-
tives. His factory was then purchased by “A.
Lawrence & Co.,” who after a fow years formed a
stock company; fifty shares of the stock were given to
Mr, Sargent, in consideration of friendship, long
acquaintanee and the pleasant bosiness relations
which had always existed between them,

During his residence in Upper Gilmanton e took
an interest in the affairs of the town, and it was
through his influence that the name was changed to
Belmont. Politically, he was a Whig, and is now a
Republiean, and represented Belmont in the State
Legislatnre in 1872, and its prosperity and growth is
dne, in a large measure, to Mr. Sargent’s enterprise,
He relinquished business after the sale of his interests
in Belmont, and returned to Lake village, which hus
since been his home.

Mr. Sargent married, first, October 27, 1824, Judith,
daughter of Stephen and Esther (Revnolds) Hoyt.
Their children were Mary (married H. O, Heywoar,
has two snrviving children, and resides in Lake vil-
lage.}; Stephen H., who now lives in Salem, Mass,;
Moses, who is agent of the Gilmanton Mills, Belmont;
John, deceased ; David, deceased; and Frank 8., now
an overseer under Moses. Mrs, Judith Sargent died
July 26, 1348; and Mr, Sargent married, second,
Mrs. Mary Huntington (born Reavey), in February,
1850. She died December 2, 1854, and he then
married, Sarall, danghter of Gilman and Sally
Thyng.

Mr. Sargent has been a resident of Lake village
for many years, but his devotion to business has pre-
vented him from being especially active in its public
aflairs or taking official position; yet he has always
vontributed generously to every worthy object, public
or private. He was one of the incorporators of the

Lake Village Savings-Dank, and director and viee-
"section, and involved long hours aud much arduous

president from its establishment until the present
time. For forty yvears he has been a member of the
Baptist Church, and conscientionsly acted aecording
to the truths and doctrines of the same. For forty
years, also, he had been a member of the Independent
Order of Odd-Fellows, and has taken an active part
and taken all the degrees, His attention has been
drawn somewhat in the direction of military organi-
zations and at one time he was a lieutenaut in the
wilitia,

Mr, Sargent for more than three-score years has
been a producer, and not a mere constuer, earning
his own bread, and assisting his parents while yet a
mere lad, and before attaining his majority he had
provided a comfortable home for them. The patient
industry that characterized his early vears, when his
daily bread and that of others was earned by the toil
of his hands and the sweat of his brow; the perse-
vering energy which he manifested when, starting
from an humble beginning, he entered upon the special
line of manufacturing through which he gained suc-

w3

tess.—all these are worthy ol record; for, * nien may
conte and men may go, but the work they do lives
after them, and the industries they plant or aid in
advancing go on after they are pathered to their
futhers.”

Mer. Sargent, mindful of carly struggles, has assisted
many young men to start in life, both with his coun-
sel and meuans, Sociad, kind-hearted and c¢heerful,
he is n pleasant friend; of sterling integrity and an
enterprising man he has made a deep impress upon
the industrial development of this section, and gow,
in his eighty-second year, honored aml esteemed by a
large number of acquaintances, there witl be nowhere
fourd a tongue to whisper aught against his integrity
or his brond Christian charity.

JOSEPH CLIFFORD MOORE,

Hon. Joseph Clitford Moore, editor of the Manches-
ter Lndon and the financial head of the Union Pub-
lishing Company, is a thorough representative of thut
valuable elass known as self-made men. He is the
second son of Dr. D. F, and Irances =, Moore, and
wis born in Loudon, N. H., August 22, 1845 Ilis
early education was limited to the common schools,
and more or less shared with labor. Later in life,
having made the best of snch advantages as eame
within his reach, he pnrsued with success a course of
medical training at New York Medical Colege,
From this training he returned to Lake village, the
business centre of the town of Gilford, which las
heen his home since he was ten years of age, and
entered upon the practice of medicine in partnership
with his father, Dr, D, I, Moore. This was in 1866,
and from that timenp to his joining in the newspaper
enterprise at Manchester, in November, 1879, he tol-
towed his profession with untiring industry and grati-
fying success. His practice extended over a wide

travel, During this time he was also active in gen-
eral business enterprises,

Mr. Moore began his journalistic carcer without
the benefit of any special training whuatever, but
hrought to the work a elear, cool heud, ripe judgment
and honest purpose; bnt it was carly apparent that
he possessed that rare quality, * the newspaper fac-
ulty.”  Careful, prudent, cautious and conservative
by nature, he applicd that faculty with constantly
inereasing shrewdness and wisdom ; =o that the en-
terprise not only developed a remarkably rapid, but
a sound and healthy, growth. Exercising good
business judgment and methods, he suecesstully main-
tained the financial stunding of the paper, notwith-
standing the exeessive demands of a rapidly-growing
plant. In shaping the tone and conduct of The
Union, he has mniformly aimed to give it a character
for independence, integrity and respectability, ad-
vancing it on the true line of progressive modern
journalism, He i3 2 ready editorial writer on
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political and general topies, esehews the ornamental |

and descriptive, and goes straight at the meat of a
matter in a plain and dircet style.  His methods are
convineing as well as terse and vigarous,

Mr. Moore has always taken a warm and active
interest in politics, not from the selfish motives of
the oflice-sceker, but as an ardent believer in and
stanch supporter of’ a sound, sterling and progressive
Democraey, At the State election of 1850 he was
elected o member of the State Senate from the Sixth
Senatorial District, and filled the seat with credit to
himself and his constitueney, He introduced and
was chiefly instrumental in securing the passage of
the measure which created the present Staie Board
of Health, Always under self-command, easy and
agreeable in manner, he proved to be valuable in
legislative work, and was invariably relied upon to
velease the Senatorial body when sharp contlict of
opinion led it into a jangle. Sinee the expiration of
this official trust his time has been given exclusively
to business matters and the conduct of the Inion.

In January, 1885, he was nnanimously chosen
president of the New Hampshire Club, an organi-
zation comprising the leading business and profes-
sional men of the State, and shortly after aceom-
panied it on a suecessful excursion South. As
president of thix body lie is broad and liberal, secking
only to develop its interests and extend its in-
fluence, .

Dartmouth College, at the June commencement,
1834, conferred upon him the degrec of’ A,

Mr. Moore retains his residence at Lake village,
with his aged parents. HMe is married, but has no
children. In manner heis casy and agreeable, and
is favored with an excellent address and attractive
personal presence. In business affairs he is carcful
and conservative, and at the same time enterprising.
Honorable and just in his trapsactions, he enjoys the
confidence and respect of business men. At this
writing he is in the full vigor of his powers, with
the promise of a useful and successful future before
him,




